
AGENDA
Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date and Time 
of Meeting

WEDNESDAY, 12 AUGUST 2015, 2.30 PM

Venue COMMITTEE ROOM 4 - COUNTY HALL

Membership Councillor Michael (Chair)
Councillors Lomax (Deputy Chair), Ali Ahmed, Manzoor Ahmed, Burfoot, 
Gordon, Hudson, Hunt, Phillips, Robson and Lynda Thorne

1  APOLOGIES  

2  MINUTES  

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2015.

3  DECLARATION OF INTEREST  

To be made at the commencement of the agenda item in question, in 
accordance with the Members Code of Conduct 

4  PETITIONS  

Petitions have been received in relation to the following applications in 
accordance with Committee Meeting Procedural Rule 14.2.  The petitioners have 
been advised of their right to speak and the applicants/agents of their right to 
reply:

Application 14/01659/DCI, 97-103 Newport Road, Plasnewydd – Page 1
Application 15/00867/MJR, 149 Heathwood Road, Heath          - Page 25

5  DEVELOPMENT CONTROL APPLICATIONS  

The schedule of development control applications has been circulated separately 

6  APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY DELEGATED POWERS  

July 2015 



7  DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

9 September 2015 

Marie Rosenthal
Director Governance and Legal Services
Date:  Thursday, 6 August 2015
Contact:  Kate Rees, 029 2087 2427, kate.rees@cardiff.gov.uk



PLANNING COMMITTEE

22 JULY 2015

Present: County Councillor Michael(Chairperson)
County Councillors Lomax, Ali Ahmed, Manzoor Ahmed, 
Burfoot, Gordon, Hudson, Hunt, Phillips, Robson and 
Lynda Thorne

117 :   APOLOGIES 

118 :   MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 June 2015 and 1 July 2015 were approved as 
a correct record.

119 :   DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

The Chairperson reminded Members of their responsibilities under the Members 
Code of Conduct to declare interests and complete ‘personal interest’ forms at the 
commencement of the item in question.

120 :   RECORDING OF THE COMMITTEE 

Members of the public were made aware that no recordings shall be made of 
proceedings of meetings of the committee whether audio or visual and by whatever 
method except with express authorisation of the meeting.  If a person records the 
proceedings of any meeting (or causes such recordings to be affected) without 
authorisation then the Chairperson will order their removal from the meeting room 
and shall not permit them to be admitted to a further meeting of the committee except 
on a written undertaking to desist from such recordings as may have been made and 
anything derived from them.

121 :   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL APPLICATIONS 

The Committee considered the schedule of development control applications 
submitted in accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 
RESOLVED: That pursuant to this Committee’s delegated powers, the following 
development control applications be determined in accordance with the 
recommendations as set out in the reports of the Director of Strategic Planning, 
Highways, Traffic & Transportation, subject to any further amendments as detailed 
below and notification be given of the decision in accordance with Section 70 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or Section 16 or Section 74 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990:

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



(A) APPLICATIONS GRANTED ON EXECUTION OF A 
PLANNING OBLIGATION UNDER SECTION 106 OF 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990: 

15/00417/MJR – PLASNEWYDD

11-13 CITY ROAD
Redevelopment of site to provide commercial uses on ground floor (A1, A2, A3) with 
residential units above.

15/00787/MJR – BUTETOWN 

PLOT L PORTH TEIGR 
Reserved matters (siting design and external appearance of the building (s) and 
landscaping) for the erection of 104 residential homes at Plot L, Porth Teigr.

15/00956/MJR – BUTETOWN

HAMADRYAD CENTRE, HAMADRYAD ROAD
The construction of an apartment block for 55 affordable residential units and 
associated works 

Subject to an amendment to condition 19 to read:

‘No development shall take place until details of facilities for the storage of refuse 
containers and point of collection have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The facilities approved shall be provided before the 
development is brought into beneficial use and shall be thereafter retained for future 
use’

Subject to an additional condition 28 to read:

‘No development shall take place until an indicative landscaping scheme for a 2FE 
primary school with associated access and parking on the adjacent site outlined in 
blue on Location Plan L (90)001A has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority’

Subject to an additional condition 29 to read:

‘Prior to commencement of development a scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that all habitable rooms 
exposed to external road traffic noise in excess of 63 dBA Leq 16 hour (free field) 
during the day (07:00 to 23:00 hours) or 57 dBA Leq 8 hour (free field) at night (23:00 
to 07:00 hours) shall be subject to sound insulation measures to ensure that all such 
rooms achieve an internal noise level of 40 dBA Leq 16 hour during the day and 35 
dBA Leq 8 hour at night.  The submitted scheme shall ensure that habitable rooms 
subject to sound insulation measures shall be provided with acoustically treated 
active ventilation units.  Each ventilation unit (with air filter in position) by itself or with 

Page 2



an integral air supply duct and cowl (or grille) shall be capable of giving variable 
ventilation rates ranging from – 
1) an upper rate of not less than 37 litres per second against a back pressure of 10 
newtons per square metre and not less than 31 litres per second against a back 
pressure of 30 newtons per square metre to,
2) a lower rate of between 10 and 17 litres per second against zero back pressure,
No habitable room shall be occupied until the approved sound insulation and 
ventilation measures have been installed in that room.  Any private open space 
(excepting terraces or balconies to any apartment) shall be designed to provide an 
area which is at least 50% of the area for sitting out where the maximum day time 
noise level does not exceed 55 dBA Leq 16 hour (free field)

15/01036/MJR – PLASNEWYDD

COLEG GLAN HAFREN, 35 THE PARADE
Refurbishment and change of use of 35 The Parade from D1 education use to SUI 
generis student accommodation (79 Units) with 136SQM of ground floor A1/A3 
commercial uses along with associated works.

Subject to the following amendment:

‘Condition 15 (R1 Construction site noise, should be Recommendation 2’

(B) APPLICATIONS REFUSED 

13/00944/DCO – LLANDAFF

16 THE AVENUE
Demolition of the existing two storey dwelling and garage to provide a three storey 
residential development comprising of 5no self-contained two bedroomed units and 
associated car parking. 

‘It has not been demonstrated that the development would have no adverse impact 
on the Magnolia Tree at the front of the site which is subject of a Tree Preservation 
Order, and the development would also result in pressure from future residents to 
carry out works to another protected tree at the rear of the site in order to address 
issues of overshadowing, damage to property and lack of usable outdoor amenity 
space, to the detriment of the future health and continued survival of the trees and 
contrary to policy 11 of the Cardiff Local Plan, policy 2.45 of the deposit Cardiff 
Unitary Development Plan, Cardiff Supplementary Planning Guidance “Trees and 
Development” (March 2007), paragraph 3.35 of Cardiff Supplementary Planning 
Guidance “Infill Sites (2011) and paragraph 5.2.9 of Planning Policy Wales (July 
2014).

RESOLVED: That the Planning Inspectorate be informed that had the Council 
determined this application, the decision would have been to REFUSE planning 
permission.

122 :   APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY DELEGATED POWERS 

Page 3



June 2015 

123 :   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

12 August 2015 

Page 4



5th August 2015 
 
22330800  
 
To: Members of the Council  
 
Dear Councillor  
 
Planning Committee  
Wednesday 12th August 2015 in Committee Room 4, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf,  
Cardiff (meeting starts at 2.30.p.m.) 
 
I attach a copy of the schedule of Development Control Applications which will be 
considered at this meeting of the Planning Committee. 
 
The plans relating to the applications will be available for inspection at the County Hall, 
during the whole of Tuesday and Wednesday morning preceding the Committee. 
 
Unless otherwise stated in the report, Planning Committee has delegated powers to 
determine the applications in the schedule. Planning Committee (but not an individual 
member) can also refer a matter to another committee or to the Council for a resolution.  
However, Council cannot move an amendment to a recommendation relating to a 
planning application or make a recommendation relating to a planning application and 
can only refer a matter back to Planning Committee on one occasion, after which 
Planning Committee shall decide the matter. 
 
Please now note that if any requests for site visits are acceded to by the meeting, such site visits 
will take place during the afternoon of Wednesday 2nd September 2015.  If you submit a 
request for a site visit, you must include in your submission - 
 
(a) a choice of at least two starting times for the site visit that you are requesting, each of 
which must be at least 45 minutes apart; and (b) the reasons why you believe that such a site 
visit is necessary. 
 
If you fail to provide any choices of starting times for the site visit that you've requested, it will 
be assumed that you will be available to attend such a site visit at any time of the day, 
regardless of what time it starts. 
 
The Clerk to the Council will circulate the Agenda for the meeting to the Members of the 
Planning Committee separately. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Head of Planning   
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
 

CARDIFF COUNTY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
THE REPORTS OF THE CHIEF STRATEGIC PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT 

OFFICER 
 
 
 
 
 
                                       

LIST OF DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE 
                     PLANNING COMMITTEE ON 12th AUGUST 2015 AT 2.30PM  
 
 
                       

AREA   PAGES 
                         
 
 STRATEGIC   1 - 66   
    

NON STRATEGIC THERE ARE NO NON 
STRATEGIC 
APPLICATIONS ON THE 
AUGUST AGENDA    

   
     HOUSEHOLDER  THERE ARE NO   
        HOUSEHOLDER   
        APPLICATIONS ON  
        THE AUGUST AGENDA   
   
 
                                 

Page 6



                                                                                                                                        
 
CARDIFF LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
When regard is to be had to the Development Plan the Council’s decision must be made 
in accordance with the Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
The Development Plan for the administrative area of Cardiff remains the City of Cardiff 
Local Plan (1996), the South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) Replacement Structure Plan 
(1997) and the South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) Minerals Local Plan together with the 
approved Mid Glamorgan County structure Plan incorporating Proposed Alterations 
No.1 (September 1989) 
 
In accordance with statutory procedures, the Council prepared and placed on deposit a 
Unitary Development Plan (to 2016) in October 2003.  It has never been formally 
abandoned but agreement was reached with the Welsh Assembly Government in May 
2005 to cease work on the UDP and commence work on a new Local Development Plan 
prepared under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
On the 28 April 2009 Cardiff Council placed the Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-
2021 on deposit for public consultation.  On the 30th November 2009, following 
consideration of the responses to consultation, the submission draft was submitted to 
the Welsh Assembly Government for examination. 
 
However, in the light of the significant reservations expressed at an Exploratory Meeting 
by the Inspectors appointed to carry out the examination and their recommendation that 
the Local Development Plan be with drawn from the examination, the Council duly 
withdrew the LDP on the 12 April 2010. 
  
Cardiff Council is currently preparing a new Local Development Plan.  The Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 2006 -2026 was placed on deposit for public consultation on 15 
October 2013.  Policy on the weight to be attached to policies in emerging plans is 
contained in paragraph 2.6.2 of Planning Policy Wales Edition 5 November 2012 as 
follows: 
  
'In development management decisions the weight to be attached to an emerging 
draft LDP will in general depend on the stage it has reached, but does not simply 
increase as the plan progresses towards adoption. When conducting the 
examination, the appointed Inspector is required to consider the soundness of the 
whole plan in the context of national policy and all other matters which are 
material to it. Consequently, policies could ultimately be amended or deleted from 
the plan even though they may not have been the subject of a representation at 

Page 7



deposit stage (or be retained despite generating substantial objection). Certainty 
regarding the content of the plan will only be achieved when the Inspector 
publishes the binding report. Thus in considering what weight to give to the 
specific policies in an emerging LDP that apply to a particular proposal, local 
planning authorities will need to consider carefully the underlying evidence and 
background to the policies. National planning policy can also be a material 
consideration in these circumstances..'  
 
Unless a draft policy or proposal is a material consideration it should not be taken into 
account when making decisions:  it is strictly irrelevant and if it is given weight in 
reaching a decision, that decision may be successfully quashed in the High Court. 
  
Since the deposited UDP has not been abandoned, its policies and proposals may be a 
material consideration in a given case, but the weight which can be attached to the 
UDP, and any statement of policy including the statutory Development Plan should be 
determined in the light of the following principal considerations:-      
  
• The degree to which later statements of national planning policy and the Wales 

Spatial Plan make the policy out of   date and suggest a decision should be taken 
otherwise than in accordance with it; 

• The degree to which the policy is out of date or has been superseded by other 
material considerations; 

• The level and nature of any objection to a UDP or other draft policy. 
 

 

Page 8



 
Table 1.1: Existing Development Plans covering the Cardiff County Area 
 
Cardiff County Area 
Cardiff Deposit Unitary Development 
Plan (to 2016) 
 
 

The Plan was placed on deposit in 
October 2003 and agreement was 
reached with Welsh Assembly 
Government in May 2005 to cease 
work on the plan and commence work 
on a new Local Development Plan. 
 

City of Cardiff Area (part of the County of South Glamorgan until April 
1996) 
South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) 
Replacement Structure plan 1991- 
2011 
 

Adopted April 1997 
 

City of Cardiff Local Plan (including 
Waste Policies) 
 

Adopted January 1996 
 

South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) 
Minerals 
Local Plan 

Adopted June 1997 
 

Pentyrch Community Area (part of the County of Mid Glamorgan and 
Borough of Taff Ely until April 1996) 
Mid Glamorgan County Structure Plan 
incorporating Proposed Alterations No. 
1  

Approved September 1989 
 

Mid Glamorgan Replacement Structure 
Plan 
 

Modifications to the Plan including 
recommendations of the EIP Panel 
approved by Mid Glamorgan County 
Council in January 1996 but not 
adopted in respect of the Pentyrch 
Community Area. 
 

Glamorgan County Development Plan 
(Area No. 2) 
 

Approved March 1963 
 

Mid Glamorgan Minerals Local Plan for 
Limestone Quarrying 
 

In June 1996 Cardiff County Council 
resolved to approve the Plan as 
modified by the Inspector’s Report, for 
development control and other 
planning purposes, but the Plan 
was not adopted in respect of the 
Pentyrch Community Area. 
 

 
 

Page 9



 
PLANNING COMMITTEE     -   12th AUGUST 2015 

 
Page No. 

 
App No. Location Description Decision Officer 

1 14/01659/DCI 97-103 NEWPORT ROAD, ROATH, 
CARDIFF, CF24 0AG 

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND 
REDEVELOPMENT TO PROVIDE 40 FLATS WITH 
ASSOCIATED AMENITY SPACE, PARKING AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE. 

106 LAD 

25 15/00867/MJR 149 HEATHWOOD ROAD, HEATH, 
CARDIFF, CF14 4BL 

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING HOUSE CONSTRUCTION OF 9 NO 
SELF CONTAINED FLATS, WITH PARKING AND LANDSCAPED 
AREAS 

REF CJE 

50 15/01303/MJR NEW DEVELOPMENT AT, ST ANDREW'S 
LANE, CITY CENTRE 

STUDENT ACCOMMODATION COMPRISING 84 APARTMENTS 
AND ASSOCIATED COMMUNAL FACILITIES 

106 LAD 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 10



COMMITTEE DATE: 12/08/2015 
 
APPLICATION No.  14/01659/DCI APPLICATION DATE:  10/07/2014 
 
ED:   PLASNEWYDD 
 
APP: TYPE:  Full Planning Permission 
 
APPLICANT:   Sammi Developments Ltd 
LOCATION:  97-103 NEWPORT ROAD, ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 0AG 
PROPOSAL:  DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND   
   REDEVELOPMENT TO PROVIDE 40 FLATS WITH   
   ASSOCIATED AMENITY SPACE, PARKING AND   
   INFRASTRUCTURE      
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDATION 1 :  That, subject to relevant parties entering into a 
binding planning obligation in agreement with the Council under SECTION 106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, within 6 months of the date of this 
resolution unless otherwise agreed by the Council in writing, in respect of 
matters detailed in paragraph 9.2 of this report, planning permission be 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. C01 Statutory Time Limit 
 
2. The consent relates to the application plans numbered:  

• 274.200.01 Proposed site and roof plan 
• 274.201.01 Proposed site and ground floor plans 
• 274.202.01 Proposed first and second floor plans 
• 274.203.01 Proposed third and fourth floor plans 
• 274.204.01 Proposed street scenes 
• 274.205.01 Proposed elevations 
• 274.207.01 Proposed block plan 

 Reason: the plans form part of the application. 
 
3. No development shall take place until samples of the external finishing 

materials have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory finished appearance to the 
development. 

 
4. No development shall take place until details of the boundary treatment 

have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
The boundary treatment shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the development being put into beneficial use.  

 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of the area are protected. 
 
5. No development shall take place until details showing the provision of 

40no. cycle parking spaces have been submitted to and approved in 

1
Page 11



writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be 
implemented prior to the development being put into beneficial use. 
Thereafter the cycle parking spaces shall be maintained and shall not be 
used for any other purpose.  

 Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the secure 
parking of cycles. 

 
6. E3D Retain Parking Within Site 
 
7. C3F Details of Access Road Junction 
 
8. No development shall take place until a scheme of construction 

management has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, to include details of site hoardings, site access and 
wheel washing facilities. Construction of the development shall be 
managed strictly in accordance with the scheme so approved.  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and public amenity. 
 
9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until 

a scheme of environmental improvements to the footways on Newport 
Road and Wordsworth Avenue adjacent to the site has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall include, but not be limited to the resurfacing of the footways, 
including as required the renewal or resetting of sunken or damaged 
kerbs, channels and edging as may be required. The agreed scheme to 
be implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior 
to beneficial occupation of the site.  

 Reason: To ensure the reinstatement of the adjacent public highway in 
the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and to facilitate access to 
the proposed development. 

 
10. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until 

details of how the available car park spaces will be allocated to incoming 
residents has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure the residents are aware/informed of their parking 
allocation, to avoid conflict/confusion. 

 
11. No development shall take place until an air quality assessment, 

including any mitigation measures that may be necessary, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The agreed mitigation measures shall be implemented to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to beneficial 
occupation.  

 Reason: In the interests of the health of future occupiers. 
 
12. Prior to commencement of development a scheme shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that 
all habitable rooms exposed to external road traffic noise in excess of 63 
dBA Leq 16 hour [free field] during the day [07.00 to 23.00 hours] or 57 

2
Page 12



dBA Leq 8 hour [free field] at night [23.00 to 07.00 hours] shall be subject 
to sound insulation measures to ensure that all such rooms achieve an 
internal noise level of 40 dBA Leq 16 hour during the day and 35 dBA 
Leq 8 hour at night.  The submitted scheme shall ensure that habitable 
rooms subject to sound insulation measures shall be provided with 
acoustically treated active ventilation units. Each ventilation unit (with air 
filter in position), by itself or with an integral air supply duct and cowl (or 
grille), shall be capable of giving variable ventilation rates ranging from –  
1)  an upper rate of not less than 37 litres per second against a back 

pressure of 10 newtons per square metre and not less than 31 
litres per second against a back pressure of 30 newtons per 
square metre, to 

2)  a lower rate of between 10 and 17 litres per second against zero 
back pressure. 

 No habitable room shall be occupied until the approved sound insulation 
and ventilation measures have been installed in that room. Any private 
open space (excepting terraces or balconies to any apartment) shall be 
designed to provide an area which is at least 50% of the area for sitting 
out where the maximum day time noise level does not exceed 55 dBA 
Leq 16 hour [free field].  

 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected. 
 
13. Prior to the commencement of the development an assessment of the 

nature and extent of contamination shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be 
carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent 
person * in accordance with BS10175 (2011) Code of Practice for the 
Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites and shall assess any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  

 The report of the findings shall include:  
(i)  a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and 

potential contaminants  associated with those uses and the 
impacts from those contaminants on land and controlled waters. 
The desk study shall establish a ‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) 
which identifies and assesses all identified potential source, 
pathway, and receptor linkages;  

(ii)  an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature 
of contamination which may be present, if identified as required 
by the desk top study; 

(iii)  an assessment of the potential risks to: 
-  human health,  
-  groundwaters and surface waters 
-  adjoining land, 
-  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
-  ecological systems,  
-  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
-  any other receptors identified at (i) 

(iv)  an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred 
remedial option(s).  

3
Page 13



 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition 
must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’ (September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA 
guidance document ‘ Land Contamination: A guide for Developers’ 
(2012), unless the Local Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 

 * A ‘suitably qualified competent person’ would normally be expected to 
be a chartered member of an appropriate professional body (such as the 
Institution of Civil Engineers, Geological Society of London, Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Institution of Environmental 
Management) and also have relevant experience of investigating 
contaminated sites. 

 Reason: To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the 
risks from land contamination to the future users of the land, 
neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems is 
sufficient to enable a proper assessment in accordance with policy 2.63 
of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan.  

 
14. Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed remediation 

scheme and verification plan to bring the site to a condition suitable for 
the intended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters, buildings, other property and the natural and historical 
environment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a 
timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must 
ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use 
of the land after remediation. 

 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition 
must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’ (September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA 
guidance document ‘ Land Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 
2006), unless the Local Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 

 Reason : To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination 
to the future users of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan 

 
15. The remediation scheme approved by condition x (2 above) must be 

fully undertaken in accordance with its terms prior to the occupation of 
any part of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given 
two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation 
scheme works.  

 Within 6 months of the completion of the measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates 

4
Page 14



the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition 
must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’ (September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA 
guidance document ‘ Land Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 
2006), unless the Local Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 

 Reason :To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination 
to the future users of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan 

 
16. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 

the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported in writing within 2 days to the Local Planning Authority, all 
associated works must stop, and no further development shall take 
place unless otherwise agreed in writing until a scheme to deal with the 
contamination found has been approved. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 1 (above), and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme and verification plan must be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of condition 2 (above) and submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
condition 3 (above). 

 Reason :To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination 
to the future users of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan 

 
17. D7Z Contaminated materials 
 
18. E7Z Imported Aggregates 
 
19. Any site won material including soils, aggregates, recycled materials 

shall be assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in 
accordance with a sampling scheme which shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in advance of the 
reuse of site won materials. Only material which meets site specific 
target values approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be reused.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan. 

 

5
Page 15



20. C2N Drainage details 
 
21. C7S Details of Refuse Storage 
 
22. C4P Landscaping Design & Implementation Pro 
 
23. C4R Landscaping Implementation 
 
24. No demolition, site preparation or development shall take place until the 

following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) in accordance with the current British Standard 
5837: 
• An Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) detailing the methods 

to be used to prevent loss of or damage to retained street trees 
bounding the site, and existing structural planting or areas 
designated for new structural planting. The AMS shall include 
details of site monitoring of tree protection and tree condition by a 
qualified arboriculturist, undertaken throughout the development 
and after its completion, to monitor tree condition. This shall 
include the preparation of a chronological programme for site 
monitoring and production of site reports, to be sent to the LPA 
during the different phases of development and demonstrating 
compliance with the approved tree protection measures. 

• A Tree Protection Plan (TPP) in the form of a scale drawing 
showing the finalised layout and the tree and landscaping 
protection methods detailed in the AMS that can be shown 
graphically.  

 Unless written consent is obtained from the LPA, the development 
shall be carried out in full conformity with the approved AMS and 
TPP. Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess 
the effects of the proposals on existing trees and landscape; the 
measures for their protection; to monitor compliance and to make 
good losses. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2: The highway works condition and any other works to 
existing or proposed adopted public highway are to be subject to an agreement 
under Section 38 and/or Section 278 Highways Act 1980 between the 
developer and Local Highway Authority. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 3 : The contamination assessments and the affects of 
unstable land are considered on the basis of the best information available to 
the Planning Authority and are not necessarily exhaustive.  The Authority 
takes due diligence when assessing these impacts, however you are minded 
that the responsibility for  
 
(i)  determining the extent and effects of such constraints and; 
(ii)  ensuring that any imported materials (including, topsoils, subsoils, 

aggregates and recycled or manufactured aggregates / soils) are 
chemically suitable for the proposed end use.  Under no circumstances 
should controlled waste be imported.  It is an offence under section 33 

6
Page 16



of the environmental Protection Act 1990 to deposit controlled waste on 
a site which does not benefit from an appropriate waste management 
license.  The following must not be imported to a development site: 
• Unprocessed / unsorted demolition wastes. 
• Any materials originating from a site confirmed as being 

contaminated or potentially contaminated by chemical or radioactive 
substances. 

• Japanese Knotweed stems, leaves and rhizome infested soils.  In 
addition to section 33 above, it is also an offence under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 to spread this invasive weed; and 

(iii)  the safe development and secure occupancy of the site rests with the 
developer. 

 
Proposals for areas of possible land instability should take due account of the 
physical and chemical constraints and may include action on land reclamation 
or other remedial action to enable beneficial use of unstable land. 
 
The Local Planning Authority has determined the application on the basis of the 
information available to it, but this does not mean that the land can be 
considered free from contamination. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 4: To protect the amenities of occupiers of other 
premises in the vicinity attention is drawn to the provisions of Section 60 of the 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in relation to the control of noise from demolition 
and construction activities. Further to this the applicant is advised that no noise 
audible outside the site boundary adjacent to the curtilage of residential 
property shall be created by construction activities in respect of the 
implementation of this consent outside the hours of 0800-1800 hours Mondays 
to Fridays and 0800 - 1300 hours on Saturdays or at any time on Sunday or 
public holidays. The applicant is also advised to seek approval for any 
proposed piling operations. 
 

1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 The detailed application is for the demolition of existing buildings and the 

construction of 40 apartments in an L-shaped block fronting Newport Road and 
Wordsworth Avenue.  

 
1.2 The wing facing Newport Road is 4 storeys in height, the wing facing Wordsworth 

Avenue is staggered to respect the Wordsworth Avenue building line and steps 
down to 3 storeys in height. Both wings are traditional design in render and brick 
with bay windows and pitched roofs with accommodation to the roof space. 

 
1.3 There are front gardens to both wings of the block and an area of communal open 

space to the rear. 
 
1.4 The access makes use of the existing access from Wordsworth Avenue and there 

are 20 on-site parking spaces.  
  

1.5 The application is supported by the following additional information: 

7
Page 17



• Planning Statement, April 2015 
• Design and Access Statement, April 2015 
• Affordable Housing and Economic Viability Assessment 
• Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-Assessment 
• Transport Statement 
• Drainage Statement 
• Protected species surveys – Bats 
• Pre-Development Tree Survey 
• CG Image showing the development in context 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
2.1 The application site is 0.20 hectares in area and located on the corner of Newport 

Road and Wordsworth Avenue. The site is occupied by a number of vacant 
buildings, some trees and an area of hardstanding for parking. Access is from 
Wordsworth Avenue.  

 
2.2 Previous uses on the site were the former Cardiff Sixth Form College building at 

97-99 Newport Road, and the Four Elms Medical Centre and adjacent residential 
unit at 101-103 Newport Road. The surgery has relocated to the renovated Cardiff 
Royal Infirmary building. 

 
2.3 The site is bounded to the east by the grounds of St. Peters Primary School and to 

the north by a lane serving the school and the former Doctor’s Surgery, and by 
traditional 2 storey housing. To the west on the other side of Wordsworth Avenue is 
Stephenson Court, a 4 and 3 storey traditional brick residential block with pitched 
roof. 

 
2.4 The Wordsworth Avenue Conservation Area lies immediately to the north of the 

site. 
 
3. PLANNING HISTORY 

• 10/1271/DCI  PP granted Aug 2010 at 97-99 Newport Road for erection of 
additional classrooms 

• 03/2523/C  Application at 101-103 Newport Road for 10 apartments in 2 
blocks, subsequently withdrawn. 

 
4. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
4.1 Adopted City of Cardiff Local Plan 
 Policy 11 Design and Aesthetic Quality 
 Policy 17 Parking and Servicing Facilities 
 Policy 31 Residential Open Space Requirements 
 
4.2 Deposit Cardiff Unitary Development Plan (2003) 
 Policy 2.20 Good Design 
 Policy 2.24 Residential Amenity 
 
  

8
Page 18



4.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 Open Space Supplementary Planning Guidance (2008) 
 Affordable Housing (2007) 
 Affordable Housing Delivery Statement (2010) 
 Community Facilities and Residential Development (2007) 
 Access, Circulation & Parking Standards (2010) 
 Developer Contributions for School Facilities (2007) 
 Trees and Development (2007) 
 Residential Design Guide (2008) 
 Wordsworth Ave Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 
 
4.4 TAN 12 Design 
 
5. INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
5.1 Transportation: The Council’s Transportation Officer confirms that the application 

is considered acceptable in principle subject to standard cycle parking, retention 
and allocation of parking, and access junction and highway works conditions, and 
a 106 contribution to junction improvements, and makes the following 
observations:  

 
5.2 The proposed access from Wordsworth Avenue is to be designed and constructed 

as a residential crossover, rather than kerbed entrance as currently shown in the 
submission, and be a minimum width of 4.5m for a minimum of 5m from the back 
edge of the footway. 

 
5.3 The Access, Circulation and Parking Standards SPG identifies a car parking 

requirement of half to one or two spaces per dwelling for one and two bedroom 
units, and one to three spaces per three bedroom dwelling, a cycle parking 
requirement of one space per unit also applies in this instance. In accordance with 
the SPG the proposed development should provide a minimum of 22 car parking 
and 40 cycle parking spaces. 

 
5.4 The submission makes provision for some 20 parking spaces in the proposed 

courtyard car park and may therefore be considered substandard by two car 
parking spaces. However in considering the matter I must take into account that 
the former uses as a Sixth Form College, dwelling hose and Doctors Surgery also 
had a car parking requirement that was similarly below standard. The combined 
on-plot parking for the former Sixth Form College, dwelling house and Doctors 
Surgery appears to have amounted to circa 26 spaces. 

 
5.5 As identified in the submitted Transport Statement, it must also be noted that the 

proposed wholly residential development is calculated to generate significantly 
fewer vehicle trips that the former uses. The Doctors Surgery in particular, is 
calculated to generate in excess of four times the number of AM and PM peak trips 
when compared to the proposed residential use. The proposed development may 
therefore be considered to generate less comparative parking demand than the 
proposed use, along with significantly fewer trips, and consequently a reduced 
overall impact on the highway network. 

 

9
Page 19



5.6 The proposed 40 cycle parking spaces are considered to be in accordance with 
applicable standards and therefore acceptable subject to details of the proposed 
cycle store to be submitted in accordance with the requested condition. 

 
5.7 There are a number of objections to the application that mention traffic and car 

parking as a concern/reason for objection. However as noted the proposals are 
considered to be acceptable in parking terms, subject to the requested conditions, 
and are calculated to result in reduced vehicle trips. I must also take into account 
that the site is within an easy, level walking distance of shops and services locally; 
less than 100m from inbound and outbound bus stops/shelters, served by high 
frequency services; and is easily accessible by bicycle. The site is therefore 
considered to be in an extremely sustainable location in transport terms and given 
its nature (predominantly one and two bed apartments) is more likely to attract 
residents who economically or consciously choose not to own a car than would be 
the case for traditional dwelling houses. 

 
5.8 I would further confirm that incoming residents of the development will not be 

eligible for resident parking permits and as such not add to parking pressure on the 
existing bays. Therefore while acknowledging that parking demand may well 
exceed existing uncontrolled on-street provision at certain times of the day/week, 
as is the case in the majority of areas where traditional terraced housing 
predominates, a positive determination of this application will not itself add to 
pressure on existing resident permit bays. 

 
5.9 I must therefore conclude that an objection on parking grounds would be 

unsustainable and that any reason for refusal on this basis would not withstand 
challenge. 

 
5.10 It is also noted that there are a number of representations that make reference to 

illegal turns, contravention of one-way orders and accidents/traffic safety at the 
Newport Road/Wordsworth Avenue junction. In respect of the first two points I 
would confirm that the enforcement of moving traffic offences, such as those 
mentioned, is a matter for the Police and in this case not material in terms of the 
proposed development. I relation to the reported safety concerns, I would reiterate 
that the calculated moving traffic associated with the site will be reduced as a result 
of the proposed development and should therefore result in a corresponding 
reduction in the likely incidence of collisions. Notwithstanding, a contribution is 
sought towards the implementation of improvements to the traffic management 
signing and lining at the Newport Road/Wordsworth Avenue junction. 

 
5.11 In conclusion and while acknowledging that there may well be times when parking 

demand exceeds supply in the area, the site is considered to be policy compliant, 
is in an extremely sustainable location in transport terms and given its nature likely 
to attract residents who are more likely not to own/use a car than otherwise might 
be the case. I must therefore reiterate that I consider an objection on traffic or 
parking grounds would be unsustainable and that any reason for refusal on this 
basis would not withstand challenge. 

 
5.12 Parks Services: Under current policy the proposed development is subject to 

Policy 31 of the Local Plan (Provision of open space on new residential 

10
Page 20



developments), which requires the provision of open space for recreational 
activity.   

 
5.13 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance - Open Space requires provision 

of a satisfactory level and standard of open space on all new housing 
developments (2.43 hectares per 1000 projected population), or an off-site 
contribution towards existing open space for smaller scale developments where 
new on-site provision is not applicable. 

 
5.14 As no public open space is being provided on-site, the developers will be required 

to make a financial contribution towards the provision of open space off-site, or the 
improvement (including design and maintenance) of existing open space in the 
locality. 

 
5.15 Based on the information given the contribution will be £55,875. Contributions 

towards open space provision are derived using a formula-based calculation which 
takes into account, amongst other things, the size of the residential development 
and the projected increase in population. 

 
5.16 Demand for usage of the existing open spaces would increase in the locality as a 

result of the development and therefore the Council considers it appropriate that 
an off-site contribution is made, calculated in accordance with the guidelines set 
out in the SPG.  

 
5.17 The Public Open Space Contribution shall be used by the Council towards the 

design, improvement and/or maintenance of public open space within the locality 
of the development site. The closest recreational open spaces are Shelley 
Gardens, Roath Pleasure Gardens and Roath Recreation Ground. 

 
5.18 Based on the 2009 Cardiff Council Open Space Survey the Plasnewydd Ward, in 

which the development is situated, is deficient in opens space provision by 32.93 
hectares (measured by the Fields in Trust recommended standard of 2.43 
hectares per 1000 population). The quality and facilities of existing open spaces 
also require improvement, with additional capacity to take into account the 
increased residential population resulting from the development. 

 
5.19 The final decision on expenditure of the contribution at the time of receipt would be 

determined by the requirements for improving any individual open space in the 
locality at that time. This would involve local consultation with various parties and 
be subject to Member approval. 

 
5.20 The Parks Officer makes the following additional design comments: Overall I 

welcome the presence of a reasonable sized community space on site, although 
currently this has little detail as to design. A detailed upfront landscape scheme 
including a scaled planting plan, plant schedule, aftercare methodology and 
detailed hard landscape scheme prepared by a landscape architect is required in 
order to comment further. Parks seek to encourage high quality provision on site 
as this provides significant amenity for residents.  

 

11
Page 21



5.21 I welcome the tree survey, arboricultural method statement and tree protection 
plan submitted with the application. I share Ed Bakers comments regarding the 
potential effect on the five street trees. There is potential for root damage but I 
agree that this could be managed if sufficient grass areas are provided in front of 
the buildings and paths are of no dig construction.  

 
5.22 The potential crown spread is I agree  more of an issue with the limes and 

particularly maples having the potential to reach a large size, which will conflict 
with the building, leading to a requirement for major pruning and causing shading 
of the windows & rooflights. Setting the building line slightly further back into the 
site, with larger front gardens (to follow the lines of the existing buildings) would 
reduce some of this conflict with street trees, reduce the impact the development 
has on the surrounding properties, and provide a greater buffer for residents from 
the adjacent busy roads. I’ve asked Parks tree officers if further details of the 
highway trees are available and likely crown spread. 

 
5.23 If building work proceeds protection of the trees during construction should be in 

line with that used on Marlborough Road with plywood boxing placed around the 
trunks. 

 
5.24 Trees: The Tree Officer makes the following comments: The loss of trees within 

this site is not a concern, but I am concerned about the potential for harm to x5 ‘B’ 
(moderate quality) street trees in the short and long term. I agree with the 
arboricultural report in that roots from T1 and T2 are likely to extend into the site 
from the highway verge. Case experience suggests that both limes and larger 
maple species are capable of extending roots beneath wall foundations. The roots 
then typically divert upwards where they proliferate if conditions are suitable (or 
they find a route into drains). One would expect existing tarmac or concrete slabs 
to restrict the extent of rooting, but I have observed lime roots proliferating directly 
beneath a continuous concrete slab over 6 inches in depth. A thin strip of grass 
appears to be present opposite T2 before the existing building is encountered, and 
although the Root Protection Area is not shown to extend into this area, conditions 
could be ideal for tree roots.  

 
5.25 Subject to the precautions detailed in the submitted Arboricultural Method 

Statement, root damage to street trees within the site should be negligible, but I 
note the presence of paved pathways proposed to cut through the narrow soft 
landscape strips where roots may be present. The construction of these paths 
must not require excavation or compaction in areas where tree roots are identified, 
and they must allow for free water percolation and gaseous diffusion. 

 
5.26 Of perhaps greater concern than root damage is conflict between the current and 

likely future branch spreads of the street trees and the proposed building line. T1 
and T2 will require pruning simply to accommodate development, but given their 
40+ life expectancy, I foresee significant future conflict between the trees and 
building resulting in repeated requests and a regular requirement for unsuitable 
pruning. Whilst trees T3-T5 are not currently a concern in this respect, their likely 
future crown spread will be similar to T1 and T2, leading to conflicts of the same 
nature. Given this and the probability of conflict with roots, I would like to see a 
significant increase in the set-back from the highway to provide improved above 

12
Page 22



and below ground growing space for the street trees. It is reasonable to suggest 
that these street trees could attain 10m radial branch spreads, and therefore a 
minimum 10m set-back should be provided for. The frontage area should be given 
over to soft landscape and minimal hard landscaping constructed to minimise root 
damage and maximise water percolation and gaseous diffusion. 

 
5.27 A detailed upfront landscaping scheme incorporating appropriate tree planting, 

preferably within soft landscape, should be submitted. The scheme should 
comprise a scaled planting plan, plant schedule and planting and aftercare 
methodology (including tree pit sections) prepared by a qualified Landscape 
Architect.  

 
5.28 Neighbourhood Regeneration: The officer makes the following observations: 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on Community Facilities and 
Residential Development states that ‘the Council will seek a financial contribution 
for improvements to existing community facilities or the provision of additional 
community facilities on all significant developments because the increased 
population will result in increased demand for local community facilities’. If no 
onsite provision is proposed, a financial contribution is sought on residential 
developments containing 25 or more new dwellings where it has been identified 
that investment in community facilities will be required to meet the needs of the 
new population. The formula in the SPG is based on the number of habitable 
rooms per dwellings. In summary a contribution of £24,807 is requested. 

 
5.29 The SPG for ‘Community Facilities and Residential Development’ was formally 

adopted by Council on 22nd March 2007. The SPG was adopted to provide 
guidance on national and local planning policy which highlights the importance of 
the planning system in ensuring that the infrastructure on which communities 
depend is adequate to accommodate proposed development. Policy 21 of the City 
of Cardiff Local Plan (adopted January 1996) supports the provision of community 
facilities as part of new residential developments.  

 
5.30 It is also in accord with Planning Policy Wales which supports the negotiation of 

planning obligations and states “Contributions from developers may be used to 
offset negative consequences of development, to help meet local needs, or to 
secure benefits which will make development more sustainable”. A development 
proposing a significant increase in population, such as this, would create 
pressures on existing local facilities that need to be offset via a financial 
contribution. It would be unacceptable to grant planning consent in the absence of 
such provision.  

 
5.31 Several community facilities are located within proximity to the site and are likely to 

experience an added pressure as a result of the new population. It is envisaged 
that a forthcoming community facilities contribution would be directed towards 
these facilities. While the Community Hall in Shakespeare St is currently the 
subject of a Community Asset Transfer any funding could continue to be utilised at 
this facility in order to comply with Community requirements as agreed by the 
Council who will retain the freehold. 

 

13
Page 23



5.32 In addition, enhancements to City Road shopping area may be appropriate 
depending on determined need at the time of the development. 

 
5.33 Education: The Education Officer confirms that there is sufficient capacity in local 

schools and does not seek a Section 106 financial contribution. 
 
5.34 Housing Strategy: Robust negotiations have now taken place around this scheme 

application, as the applicant informed the Council that in their opinion, the scheme 
was unable to provide an affordable housing contribution on the basis of the 
economic viability of the overall scheme. 

 
5.35 The economic viability of this proposed scheme was considered fully by the 

Council’s Valuation Department. The Council’s Valuer advised that in the current 
market conditions it is not viable for the scheme to provide the full policy affordable 
housing contribution, and that a financial contribution of £274,656 is the viable 
amount that can be provided. This amount calculates out at c. 12.5% affordable 
housing contribution.  

 
5.36 On that basis we accept the financial contribution of £274,656 as advised by our 

Valuation Department. 
 

5.37 Drainage Management: No comments have been received. 
 
5.38 Waste Management: The Waste Strategy Officer has no objection in principle to 

the application plans subject to details. Consultation response on the amended 
plans will be reported to committee. 

 
5.39 Pollution Control (Contaminated Land):  The Contaminated Land Officer makes 

the following observations: In reviewing available records and the application for 
the proposed development, the site has been identified as formerly a college, 
residential house, and doctors’ surgery with car parking areas to the rear of the 
main buildings.  Formerly, there were minor outbuildings/ domestic garage(s) in 
the car parking area. In addition there is a history of localised fly-tipping on site.  

 
5.40 Activities associated with the above may have caused the land to become 

contaminated and therefore may give rise to potential risks to human health and 
the environment for the proposed end use. Pollution Control therefore requests 
standard contamination, remediation, and imported soils and aggregates 
conditions.   

 
5.41 Pollution Control (Noise & Air): The Pollution Control Officer makes the following 

comments and recommendations:  
 
5.42 I note the submission of a noise report with the application documentation and 

agree with the conclusions as to the ambient noise levels at the site.  I note that, 
according to Planning Guidance (Wales) TAN 11, ambient noise levels place the 
site in “Category C” for the Newport Road façade and “Category B” for the 
Wordsworth Avenue façade. 

 

14
Page 24



5.43 TAN11 states that for sites falling into Exposure Category C planning consent 
should not normally be granted.  However, I am mindful that this applies only to 
proposed dwellings on the Newport Road façade.  I am also mindful that there is 
existing residential accommodation on the opposite side of Wordsworth Avenue.  

 
5.44 Accordingly a standard road traffic noise condition and construction site noise 

advisory is recommended. 
 
5.45 In relation to air quality the site of the proposed development is immediately 

adjacent to the Stephenson Court Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).  The 
AQMA was declared due to concentrations of nitrogen dioxide in the area 
exceeding the National Air Quality Standard (NAQS) set for the protection of 
human health. 

 
5.46 The development site is not included within the AQMA solely because of the 

current lack of relevant exposure at the site, i.e. no one currently lives there.  It is 
very likely that the NAQS is being exceeded at the site and I am therefore 
concerned to note the plan to introduce relevant exposure to the site and the risks 
to human health that this introduces.  I am also concerned because, should 
consent be granted, the development will place additional burdens and costs upon 
the Council should consent be granted as a result of the Council’s statutory 
obligations in respect of air quality. 

 
5.47 I note that there is no air quality assessment submitted with the application 

documentation.  I therefore recommend that an air quality assessment be 
submitted before consent is granted to allow an informed consideration of the 
application and any remedial measures that the assessment may identify as being 
needed to ensure the protection of future residents. 

 
5.48 Ecology: No comments have been received. 
  
6. EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
6.1 DCWW: No objection subject to standard conditions on separation of foul and 

surface water, and discharge of surface and land drainage run-off to the public 
sewer, and submission of a comprehensive drainage scheme for approval by the 
LPA. 

 
7.  REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The application was advertised on site and in the press as a major application. 

Neighbours and local members were notified.  A valid petition of objection from 
the Wordsworth Avenue Residents Association with 65 signatures has been 
received. Letters of objection have been received from local members Cllrs. 
McGarry, Lent, Javed, & De’Ath, former MP Jenny Willott, AM Jenny Rathbone, 
and 10 local residents. 

 
7.2 The petition objects on the following grounds: 

• There is insufficient parking proposed, which will result in additional parking 
on adjoining streets which are already parked to capacity. 

15
Page 25



• The scale and bulk of the building is over-dominant and will have an 
adverse effect on properties in the immediate vicinity and the wider 
Wordsworth Ave. Conservation Area. 

• The development does not address the effect of development of an 
additional 40 households at the dangerous Wordsworth Ave/ Newport Road 
junction. 

 
7.3 Cllrs. McGarry, Lent, Javed, & De’Ath object on the following grounds: 

• Scale of the building out of keeping with the conservation area.  
• Building overshadows and blocks light to the elderly persons’ flats in 

Stephenson Court and the neighbouring property at 1A Wordsworth 
Avenue. 

• Increased traffic and impact on Oxford lane/ Wordsworth Ave/ Newport road 
junction which is already has safety issues arising from vehicles turning 
right from Newport Road into Wordsworth Ave and traffic using Oxford 
Street and Wordsworth Ave as a short cut into and out of City Road. These 
safety issues are heightened because Wordsworth Ave serves St Peters 
School (pick-up and drop-off). Also parking provision is inadequate. 

 
7.4 The Cllrs will be requesting a site visit. 
 
7.5 On behalf of local residents former MP Jenny Willott objects on the following 

grounds: 
• Impact of increased traffic on motorist and pedestrian safety 
• Insufficient parking 
• Detrimental effect on daylighting for neighbouring properties arising from 

height of proposals 
• Nosie and disruption during construction 
• Not in keeping with the conservation area 
• More flats not needed in the area 
• Those affected by the development, particularly residents of Stephenson 

Court not notified of the application 
 
7.6 AM Jenny Rathbone raises concerns regarding traffic issues that will be 

exacerbated by the development, and by the impact of the scale of the building on 
neighbours and the conservation area. The concerns are: 
• Increased parking pressures 
• Local one way streets (Clifton Street and Oxford Lane) cause drivers to 

make illegal U-turns on Newport Road outside the application site and to 
travel the wrong way down Oxford Lane to bypass the Newport Road traffic 
lights. Additional traffic movements generated by the development will 
increase the potential for more accidents at the Wordsworth Ave/ Newport 
Road junction. She requests the Council to review the one way system on 
Clifton Street. 

• Increased height impacting adversely on the amenity of residents of 
Stephenson Court and 1A Wordsworth Ave. 

• Scale not appropriate for its location on the edge of a conservation area 
• She supports the local Cllrs. intention to request a site visit. 

 

16
Page 26



7.7 Local residents object on the following grounds 
• Inadequate on-site parking provision resulting in increased pressure on 

limited uncontrolled on-street parking which is already heavily parked 
during the day by commuters.  

• Increased traffic and impact on Oxford lane/ Wordsworth Ave/ Newport road 
junction which is already has safety issues arising from vehicles turning 
right from Newport Road into Wordsworth Ave and traffic using Oxford 
Street and Wordsworth Ave as a short cut into and out of City Road. These 
safety issues heightened because Wordsworth Ave serves St Peters 
School (pick-up and drop-off), elderly persons’ flats and a nursing home. 

• Design not in keeping with conservation area. Scale of development has 
negative impact on setting of con area. 

• Overdevelopment of site 
• Too big in relation to neighbouring 2 storey terrace on Wordsworth Ave. 

Should be max 3 storeys – overbearing impact 
• Reduction in daylighting and overshadowing of neighbouring properties on 

Wordsworth Ave 
• Additional waste generated by development and not collected by Council 
• Possible antisocial behaviour 
• Negative impact on market values/ compensation for reduction in 

daylighting 
• Misleading information on plans 
• Noise and disruption during construction period. 

 
7.8 In summary, the main grounds for objection relate to inadequate levels of parking 

provision, traffic safety concerns at the Wordsworth Ave/ Newport Road junction, 
negative impact of the height and bulk of the building on daylighting levels enjoyed 
by neighbouring residents in Stephenson Court and 1A Wordsworth Ave., and 
scale out of keeping with the adjacent conservation area.  

 
8. ANALYSIS 
 
8.1 The application site falls within an existing residential area, as defined by the Local 

Plan Proposals Map.  The former sixth form college and health centre on the site 
are given no specific protection in land use policy terms.  Given the site’s location 
in a residential area the proposed redevelopment of the site for residential 
purposes is considered acceptable. The application raises no land use policy 
concerns. 

 
8.2 The main issues to assess are scale and design, impact on amenity of neighbours, 

and parking provision and access arrangements. 
 
Scale and Design 
 
8.3 The 4 storey wing is lower than Stephenson Court and is an appropriate height for 

a corner building on this section of Newport Road. After turning the corner on to 
Wordsworth Ave the block steps down to 3 storeys to acknowledge to the scale of 
residential development on Wordsworth Avenue. The footprint also steps back to 

17
Page 27



follow the building line of Wordsworth Avenue. The scale and footprint is 
acceptable. 

 
8.4 The design is traditional and has proper regard to the scale and character of the 

surrounding environment, in this case adjacent to a conservation area, and is 
acceptable. 

 
Parking provision and access arrangements 
 
8.5 The adopted Access, Circulation and Parking Standards SPG identifies a parking 

requirement of 0.5 to one/two car spaces per residential unit. In accordance with 
SPG the development requires a minimum of 22 car parking spaces and 40 cycle 
spaces and is therefore substandard by two car parking spaces. However the site 
is on the edge of the city centre in a highly sustainable location close to public 
transport shops and community facilities. If the development was sited on the other 
side of Newport Road it would be in the Central Area as defined by the Parking 
SPG with a minimum requirement of zero parking spaces. 

 
8.6 It is also noted that the proposed use will result in significantly fewer vehicle trips 

than the former uses. The proposed development may therefore be considered to 
generate less comparative parking demand than the proposed use, along with 
fewer trips, and consequently a reduced overall impact on the highway network. 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable.  

 
8.7 The number of secure covered cycle spaces proposed is policy compliant. A 

standard cycle parking condition is attached. 
 
8.8 The proposed access makes use of the existing access and is acceptable subject 

to details required by condition. In relation to the Wordsworth Avenue/ Newport 
Road junction a 106 financial contribution is secured towards improving the 
signing and lining at the junction.  

 
Amenity of neighbours 
 
8.9 Overshadowing and daylighting: The residential block is 14m away from the 4 

storey gable wall of Stephenson Court at its closest point. Windows to this gable 
are secondary windows. The separation distance from the habitable room 
windows of the 3 storey wing of Stephenson Court is 16.5m at the closest point.  

 
8.10 The Stephenson Court habitable room windows facing Wordsworth Avenue are 

the sole source of daylighting for those flats. The agent has provided additional 
information in the form of shadowing diagrams and a section across Wordsworth 
Avenue to assess the impact of the development on the daylighting received by 
the ground floor flats of Stephenson Court.  

 
 
8.11 Applying the Building Research Establishment 25o rule of thumb for assessing the 

impact of new buildings on existing daylighting levels demonstrates that the 
Wordsworth Avenue 3 storey element passes the test but the 4 storey element 
fails, however, the degree of failure is marginal. 

18
Page 28



8.12 Council guidance on this matter is clear that in urban situations, where infill sites 
are being developed in a high density inner urban context, daylighting and privacy 
guidance can be interpreted flexibily. 

 
8.13 While it is acknowledged that the development will result in a reduction in 

daylighting levels for the ground floor residents of Stephenson Court whose 
principal habitable room windows are directly opposite the 4 storey element of the 
proposed development, it is concluded that the reduction in daylighting would not 
cause unacceptable harm to the residents affected. 

 
8.14 In relation to the neighbouring property at 1A Wordsworth Avenue it is the case 

that there will be some loss of daylighting resulting from the development. The 
separation distance is 5.3m and the loss of daylighting will be greater than for 
Stephenson Court. However the windows affected, although habitable room 
windows, are secondary windows located in the gable wall (subject to 
confirmation) and are not the only source of daylighting for the rooms in question, 
which have large windows to the front and to the rear. 

 
8.15 Given the above, and the fact that the development at this point is 3 storeys high 

with a pitched roof and does not therefore block out an unacceptable amount of 
visible sky, it  is considered that the development will not cause unacceptable 
harm to the residential amenity of the occupants of 1A Wordsworth Avenue. 

 
8.16 Overlooking and privacy: The Council’s privacy standards require a minimum 

separation distance of 21m between windows of habitable rooms. In this case the 
separation distance (habitable room to habitable room) between the development 
and Stephenson Court is 16.5m (14.5m for Stephenson Court gable secondary 
windows). 

 
8.17 The guidance recognises there is flexibility to relax this 21m distance in tighter 

grain urban situations and there is precedence for relaxing the recommended 
separation distances on urban infill schemes of this nature. It should also be noted 
that habitable room windows of terraced streets in the inner city typically overlook 
each other at a separation distance of between 12 and 15m. Privacy distances in 
relation to Stephenson Court are considered acceptable. 

 
8.18 In the case of 1A Wordsworth Avenue the gable elevation of the proposed 

development is blank (with the exception of obscure glazed bathroom windows) 
and there is therefore no overlooking. 

 
Issues raised through representations 
 
8.19 Local residents’ objections on the grounds of scale and design, parking provision 

and access, and residential amenity of neighbours are addressed above. 
 
8.20 The increase in traffic will be marginal given that the site was previously used as a 

Doctor’s surgery and sixth form college. Safety of motorists and pedestrians will 
not therefore be made any worse as a result of this development. 

 

19
Page 29



8.21 Reference in the representations to moving traffic offences (illegal turns, 
contraventions of one way orders) arising from the highway configuration are not 
material planning considerations. 

 
8.22 Inadequate consultation process: The application is a major development and the 

statutory publicity requirements are for a newspaper advert and either site notice 
or neighbour notification. A notice was put in the press and site notices put up 
around the site. Neighbours (including residents of Stephenson Court) were 
notified. The Council has therefore publicised this application using all 3 methods. 
This is normal practice where it is considered that development affects more than 
just immediate neighbours. 

 
8.23 The information provided on the application drawings in relation to the width of the 

Lane to the rear of the site is accurate.  
 
8.24 Noise and disruption during construction period: Noise is addressed through an 

additional construction site noise recommendation. A certain degree of disruption 
is inevitable however a standard construction management plan condition is 
added to minimise disruption caused by the works to the amenity of neighbours, 
and to the movement of traffic and pedestrians.  

 
8.25 Possible antisocial behaviour and the potential for negative impact on market 

values of neighbouring properties, and compensation for properties that enjoy a 
reduced level of daylighting, are not planning issues. 

 
8.26 The issue of frequency of waste collection in the neighbourhood is not a planning 

matter. Waste storage and collection for the development is acceptable subject to 
a standard waste storage details condition. 

 
S106 Matters 
 
8.27 Service areas have requested the following financial contributions: £274,656 

financial contribution for off-site affordable housing; £55,875 towards public open 
space improvements in the vicinity; £24,807 towards community facilities 
improvements in the vicinity, and £2,080 towards transport and highways related 
improvements. The total amount requested by service areas totals £357,418. 

 
8.28 The applicant provided a viability assessment report offering £115,000. The 

Council’s Valuation Department has appraised the applicant’s report and 
concluded that the scheme was able to support the financial contributions 
requested by the different service areas. After lengthy negotiations the developer 
has subsequently confirmed that the 106 planning obligations outlined above are 
acceptable. 

 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 In conclusion the proposals redevelop a vacant plot and provide 40 dwellings. The 

principle of residential development on this site is acceptable. The design has 
proper regard for the scale and character of Newport road and the Wordsworth 
Conservation Area to the north. The proposals do not cause unacceptable harm to 

20
Page 30



the residential amenity of neighbours. Parking provision in such a highly 
sustainable location is acceptable. The scheme delivers a financial contribution 
equivalent to 12.5% affordable housing, and contributions in accordance with 
Council SPG towards the improvement of open space, community facilities and 
public transport in the vicinity.  

 
9.2 The granting of planning permission is recommended subject to conditions being 

imposed and a legal agreement (Section 106) being signed to secure the following  
financial contributions: 
• £274,656 for off-site affordable housing provision 
• £55,875 for improvements to public open space 
• £24,807 for improvements to community facilities, and 
• £2,080 for transport and highway-related improvements. 
 

21
Page 31



NEWPORT ROAD, CARDIFF.
RESIDENTIAL SCHEME: 40 NO. APARTMENTS

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT NAME AND ADDRESS.

PROJECT TITLE.

RESIDENTIAL SCHEME

97-103 Newport Road
Cardiff, Glamorgan
CF24 0AF

As Proposed: Application Drawings
Site Layout & Roof Plan.apd

architecture +
interior design

(0844) 854 9007
studio@dpa.uk.net
www.dpa.uk.net

Majesty House
200 Avenue West
Great Not ley
Essex, CM77 7AA
20 Tenby Street
North
Birmingham
B3 3EN

t.
e.
w.

SCALE BAR 1:200

0m 4m2m 6m 8m 12m 18m

NOR
TH

 1

 2

 S
IT
E 

AC
CE

SS

PEDESTRIAN ACCESS

 3

ENT.

4

5 6

CAR PARKING
20NO. SPACES

N E W P O R T  R O A D

W
O

R
D

S
W

O
R

T
H

 
A

V
E

N
U

E

LAND AFFECTED BY 
COVENANT

COMMUNAL AMENITY 
SPACE (453 SQ.M)

AS PROPOSED: SITE LAYOUT & ROOF PLAN
DATE.SCALE.DWG. NO.

274.200e 1:200 @ A2 05.06.2014
DWN.

GF
CHK.

JB

© This drawing is the copyright of David Plant Architecture 
+ Interior Design Ltd and should not be copied without prior 
written consent. 

EN
T.

CY
CL

E 
ST

OR
E

EN
T.

BI
NS

22

P
age 32



NEWPORT ROAD, CARDIFF.
RESIDENTIAL SCHEME: 40 NO. APARTMENTS

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT NAME AND ADDRESS.

PROJECT TITLE.

RESIDENTIAL SCHEME

97-103 Newport Road
Cardiff, Glamorgan
CF24 0AF

As Proposed: Application Drawings
Site & Ground Floor Planapd

architecture +
interior design

(0844) 854 9007
studio@dpa.uk.net
www.dpa.uk.net

Majesty House
200 Avenue West
Great Not ley
Essex, CM77 7AA
20 Tenby Street
North
Birmingham
B3 3EN

t.
e.
w.AS PROPOSED: SITE & GROUND FLOOR PLAN

N E W P O R T  R O A D

W
O

R
D

S
W

O
R

T
H

 
A

V
E

N
U

E

DATE.SCALE.DWG. NO.

274.201e 1:200 @ A2 05.06.2014
DWN.

GF
CHK.

JB

BIN STORE

PEDESTRIAN ACCESS

LAND AFFECTED BY 
COVENANT

COMMUNAL AMENITY 
SPACE (453 SQ.M)

EN
T.

EN
T.

BI
NS

EN
T.

ENT.

 S
IT
E 

AC
CE

SS

SCALE BAR 1:200

0m 4m2m 6m 8m 12m 18m

LIVING ROOM

 1

 2

 3

ENT.

4

5 6

CAR PARKING
20NO. SPACES

BED 1

BED 2
BATH.

BED 1

BATH.

LIVING ROOM

LIVING ROOM

K.

K.

LIVING RM

BED 2

K.

BED 2

BED 1

BATH.

BATH.BED 2

BED 1 BED 1 BED 2

BATH.
K.

LIVING RM

BED 1

LIVING RM

K.BATH.

CYCLE STORE

NOR
TH

(40NO. SPACES)

23

P
age 33



GENERAL NOTES: 

THE COPYRIGHT IN ALL DESIGNS, DRAWINGS, SCHEDULES, SPECIFICATIONS 
AND ANY OTHER DOCUMENTATION PREPARED BY DAVID PLANT 
ARCHITECTURE LTD IN RELATION TO THIS PROJECT SHALL REMAIN THE 
PROPERTY OF DAVID PLANT ARCHITECTURE LTD AND MUST NOT BE 
REISSUED, LOANED OR COPIED WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT. 

RESIDENTIAL SCHEME: 40NO. APARTMENTS. 

NEWPORT ROAD, CARDIFF.

LONDON BIRMINGHAM ESSEX

e   studio@daparchitecture.co.uk          t   (0844) 854 9007

w w w . d a p a r c h i t e c t u r e . c o . u k

PLANNING

ISSUE STATUS

PROJECT NO. DWG NO. REVISION. 

274.210.01

27.07.2015 NTS @ A3 RP JB

DATE: SCALE: DRAWN: CHECK:

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT

AS EXISTING
SITE LOCATION PLAN

ONE PROPERTY GROUP

97-103 NEWPORT ROAD
GLAMORGAN

CARDIFF
CF24 0AF

ADDRESS 

CLIENT 

DRAWING

PROJECT 

AS PROPOSED: ILLUSTRATIVE VISUAL Along Newport Road. 24

P
age 34



COMMITTEE DATE: 12/08/2015 
 
APPLICATION No.  15/00867/MJR APPLICATION DATE:  30/04/2015 
 
ED:   HEATH 
 
APP: TYPE:  Outline Planning Permission 
 
APPLICANT:   Lakeside Properties Ltd 
LOCATION:  149 HEATHWOOD ROAD, HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 4BL 
   PROPOSAL: DEMOLITION OF EXISTING HOUSE   
   CONSTRUCTION OF 9 NO SELF CONTAINED FLATS, WITH 
   PARKING AND LANDSCAPED AREAS  
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 RECOMMENDATION:  That, subject to no adverse representations being 

received within the stated period as a result of the advertisement of the 
amendments to the application that raise issues not already addressed in the 
report to the Planning Committee, the application be delegated to the Chief City 
Operations Officer to be REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 
1. The proposals, by reason of the layout and scale of the indicated buildings fail 

to respect the context and character of the site surroundings, causing harm to 
visual amenity of the area contrary to policy 11 of the City of Cardiff Local Plan 
1996, policy 2.20 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan Deposit Written 
Statement 2003 and Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Infill Sites’ 2011. 

 
2. The siting and massing of the proposed flats close to the side boundaries of the 

site with the adjacent properties results in overbearing form of development 
having a detrimental impact on the residential amenity of the adjacent 
occupiers contrary to policy 11 of the City of Cardiff Local Plan 1996, policy 2.20 
and 2.24 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan Deposit Written Statement 
2003 and Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Infill Sites’ 2011. 

 
3. The density of the proposed scheme fails to respect the character, context and 

urban grain of the site surroundings, causing harm to the visual amenity of the 
area and the residential amenity of future and existing occupiers, contrary to 
policy 11 of the City of Cardiff Local Plan 1996, policy 2.20 and 2.24 of the 
Cardiff Unitary Development Plan Deposit Written Statement 2003 and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Infill Sites’ 2011. 

 
4. The proposed layout by reason of being vehicle dominant, fails to provide future 

occupiers with an appropriate standard of external amenity space which 
respects the urban grain of the area, and also fails to prevent undue 
disturbance to existing adjacent occupiers, causing harm to residential amenity 
contrary to policy 11 of the City of Cardiff Local Plan 1996, policy 2.20 and 2.24 
of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan Deposit Written Statement 2003 and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Infill Sites’ 2011. 

 
  

25
Page 35



1.  DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 An amended application for the demolition of an existing two storey detached 

dwelling, to be replaced with a two storey structure accommodating 9no. 
self-contained flats (4no. 2 bed and 5no. one bed). The application is in outline, 
with access, layout and scale to be considered. Although indicative plans have 
been submitted, detailed appearance and landscaping are reserved. 

 
1.2 The proposed flats occupy a single building set across the site frontage, which is 

indicated as being two storey, with a pitched roof and a centrally located access 
arch. The proposed building occupies practically the full width of the application 
site, and is set approx. 9.5m from the back of pavement at the closest point (flat 
no. 2 as indicated).  

 
 The proposed building has an attached rear annexe of two storey scale, with 

indicative plans showing a pitched roof design, with differing eaves heights. 
 
 The proposed building has a main ridge height of approx. 7.7m, reducing to 

approx. 5.2m at eaves. The annexe has a ridge height of approx. 6.1m, reducing 
to approx. 5.0m, with elements at approx. 4.6m (adjacent to the Heathwood 
Court boundary), and 4.2m (to the ‘garden’ elevation).  

 
The proposed building extends for approx. 27m along the boundary to 
Heathwood Court, and approx. 11.5m along the boundary to no. 151 Heathwood 
Road. The rear elevation of the annexe is set approx. 12m off the rear boundary 
to the dwellings fronting St Cadoc Road. 

 
1.3 A parking area for 6 vehicles is set at the rear of the site, accessed via the central 

archway, a further three parking spaces are shown at the front between the flats 
and the front enclosure. A single point of access off Heathwood Road is 
proposed, with an indicated width of approx. 4.5m. The submitted plans indicate 
space for a refuse storage facility (under the access arch) 

 
1.5 The proposals have been amended as follows: 
 

• The 7no. ‘cottages’ to the rear of the site have been removed; 
• A second floor element to the flats has been removed; 
• The enlarged building now accommodates 9no. flats (7 originally); 
• Three parking spaces have been removed from the front garden area, and 

two spaces have been removed from the rear; 
• The point of access off Heathwood Road has been moved in a north-east 

direction to avoid conflict with a street tree and lamp. 
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
2.1 The site is approx. 0.10Ha in area, set on the northern side of Heathwood Road, 

approx. 40m from the junction with King George V Drive to the south-west and 
approx. 87m from the junction with St Gildas Road to the north-east.  

 
 The site is currently occupied by a large detached dwelling. The dwelling is 

26
Page 36



predominantly two storey, flanked by large single storey extensions.  
 

There are currently two points of access/egress, with a curved driveway 
between. To the rear is a substantial garden area, with mature trees to the 
boundaries with no. 151 Heathwood Road and the properties fronting St Cadoc 
Road. The boundary to Heathwood Court is relatively open. 

 
2.2 The dwellings in the surrounding area are of mixed, two storey design, being 

semi-detached or detached. There are 12no. flats at Heathwood Court 
(consented approx. 1962) set over the space of approx. 2no. plots, with a parking 
area to the rear accommodating 13no. flat roofed garages. 

 
3. SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 Nil. 
 

4. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
4.1 The site is located within an area of existing residential use as identified in the 

adopted City of Cardiff Local Plan 1996.  
 
4.2 The relevant Local Plan Policies are: 
 
 Policy 11 (Design and Aesthetic Quality) 
 Policy 17 (Parking and Servicing Facilities) 
 Policy 18 (Provision for Cyclists) 
 
4.3 The relevant Deposit Unitary Development Plan Policies are: 
 
 Policy 2.20 (Good Design) 
 Policy 2.24 (Residential Amenity) 
 Policy 2.57 (Access, Circulation and Parking Requirements) 
 Policy 2.74 (Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development) 
 
4.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance; 
 

‘Infill Sites’ 2011 
‘Access, Circulation and Parking Standards’ 2010 
‘Affordable Housing’ 2007 
‘Waste Collection and Storage Facilities’ 2007 

 

5. INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
5.1 The Transportation Manager has no objection to the amended proposal, making 

the following comments: 
 
 “Further to my original comments I note that the scale of the proposed 

development has been reduced and now relates to 9 one flats together with the 
provision of 9 off-street parking spaces. The parking ration therefore remains 

27
Page 37



unchanged and complies with the most onerous end of the range stipulated in 
the SPG. My original comments therefore still apply – with the exception that the 
generic e-mail address with regards to works within the adopted highway has 
been changed to ‘Highwaypermits@cardiff.gov.uk’.” 

 
 For clarity, the comments in respect of the original submission are: 
 
 “While I note the numerous letters of objection which make reference to 

highways/parking concerns the requirement of the SPG (Access, Circulation & 
Parking) with respect to 1 bed flats is ‘between 0.5 and 1 space per flat’ i.e. the 
provision of 14 off-street spaces in association with 14 one bed flats complies 
with the even the most onerous end of that range – and an objection on parking 
grounds would therefore not be sustainable.  A condition relating to provision 
and retention of parking (E3D) would be required. 

 
A new central access is proposed which should be at least 4.5 metres wide to 
enable vehicles to pass each other and a further condition is required in this 
respect. This would make the 2 individual accesses which serve the existing 
premises redundant – and they should therefore be re-instated as footway – and 
a condition relating to the re-instatement as footway to adoption standard of the 2 
redundant existing access prior to beneficial use would also be required. This 
would the effect of creating additional kerbside parking space on Heathwood 
Road, and from this point of view the proposal could even be seen as presenting 
a nett gain in terms of general parking availability.  

 
However, I note that the location of the proposed new access appears to conflict 
directly with an existing highway tree. I’ve therefore copied in Kevin Matthews 
(Parks) who’ll no doubt wish to comment on this aspect. 

 
In the event that the application is recommended for approval I’d also suggest a 
second recommendation advising the applicant of the need to secure the 
consent of the Operational Manager, Street Operations (via 
‘Highwaysnetworkmanagement@cardiff.gov.uk’) prior to undertaking any works 
in the adopted highway in relation to the construction of the new access and the 
re-instatement of the two redundant accesses. Subject to Kevin’s comments it 
could also be worded to include reference to Parks. 

 
The standard Construction Management Plan condition should also be imposed. 

 
The drawings indicate that cycle stores are to be provided and a condition 
covering this is also required (C3S). 

 
Mindful of the intensification of use compared to existing, a S106 contribution 
towards public transport enhancement may also be appropriate in order to 
promote non-car borne travel in line with current policy. I’ve therefore also copied 
in my colleagues who will be able to advise as to what improvement are 
necessary/appropriate in this vicinity.”  

 
5.2 The Highways Drainage Manager has no objection on the basis of the 

information submitted, but recommends the imposition of a drainage condition 

28
Page 38



should consent be granted. 
 
5.3 The Waste Manager notes the indicated refuse storage facilities, but would seek 

further information regarding capacities. Further comments are offered in respect 
of the requirements for collection and the movement of bins to the point of 
collection. 

 
5.4 The Pollution Control Manager (Contaminated Land) has no objection, subject to 

conditions in respect of contamination, along with contaminated land advice. 
 
5.5 The Pollution Control Manager (Noise & Air) has no objection subject to the 

imposition of a condition in respect of plant noise, with further advice in respect of 
construction site noise. 

 
5.6 The Parks Street Trees Officer comments that there would be questions around 

the protection of the existing street tree and lamppost as a result of the proposed 
new point of access (as originally submitted).  

 
In light of the relocated point of access under the amended proposals, there is no 
objection, subject to ongoing monitoring during any future development. 

 
5.7 The Parks Manager has no objection to the proposal as amended, subject to the 

developer agreeing to a financial contribution of £9,651 towards the provision of 
or maintenance of existing open space in the vicinity of the site. 

 
5.8 The Council’s Urban Design/Placemaking team object to the proposals, making 

the following comments (amended 9 unit submission and original 14 unit 
submission): 

 
 These comments relate to Placemaking  
 

SUMMARY and CONCLUSION 
 

The proposal would represent an over development of the site contrary to the 
guidance contained in the Infill Sites SPG.  

 
Built Form and Density 
The replacement a single detached dwelling, within a street characterised by the 
presence of detached and semi-detached properties, with a development 
consisting of 9 flats would represent a departure from the local urban form, 
predominant housing layout and character. The Infill Sites SPG states that; 

 
‘Proposals must respect the urban grain and consider locally distinct patterns of 
streets and spaces including; 

 
• Elements of the form of the street (organic or regular), 
• Predominant housing layouts (terraced, semi-detached or detached), 
• Garden sizes 

(Para 3.15, p.14) 
 

29
Page 39



While the demolition of the existing detached dwelling and introduction of flats on 
this site would be regrettable, the provision of 9 flats in its place would form a 
significant over intensification of the site.    

 
Frontage Building 
While aspects of the frontage element of the proposed development are 
considered to be appropriate, others remain of concern. The Infill Sites SPG 
states that; 

 
‘Infill development needs to be sensitive to its immediate surroundings and 
respond well to the built context. It is important that in residential areas where 
there is a clear existing pattern and form of development, that new buildings, 
landscaping and boundary treatments complement the character of the 
surroundings.’ (Para, 3.12, p.14) 

 
The staggered frontage of the proposed building would ensure that it would 
conform to the building line created by the neighbouring buildings either side and 
is therefore welcomed. The height and general scale of the frontage element of 
the building is also considered to be generally acceptable.  

 
The duel hipped roof features proposed to the front of the building would ensure 
that the building would sit relatively comfortably between the neighbouring 
buildings and are therefore considered acceptable.   

 
It is however considered that further improvements could be made to the 
principal element of the proposed building, particularly the middle section. The 
carport access tunnel/feature proposed here would represent an uncharacteristic 
addition within the street scene. The middle section of the building in general 
would form a poorly detailed element of the overall design. Further consideration 
should therefore be given to how this element of the proposal could be made to 
recede (aesthetically and potentially in terms of being set back) within the context 
of the overall frontage.  

 
The contemporary approach to the architecture of the building proposed, while 
acceptable in principle, could also better reflect the positive architectural 
characteristics which are evident within the locality, in line with the guidance 
contained in the Infill Sites SPG.   

 
Rear Annexe  
Strong concerns are had with regard to the rear annexe element of the proposed 
scheme. The Infill Sites SPG states that; 

 
‘Plot ratios should reflect those prevailing in adjacent properties. The amount of 
development which projects back into a site should echo the rhythm of the street 
and respect the existing neighbouring buildings in order to reduce the 
overbearing impact of any development.’ (Para 3.19, p.18) 

 
While the rear annexe element of the proposal would be located to the western 
side of the site thereby running parallel to the car park associated with the 
neighbouring flats, the principle of the addition of this aspect of the proposed 

30
Page 40



scheme is of concern given its uncharacteristic positioning, scale and form within 
the context of the locality. 

 
No other buildings along this part of the street project back into their respective 
sites by anywhere near the distance proposed and certainly not at two stories in 
height. As such, the annexe would form a departure from the characteristic form 
and layout of development within the locality, and through containing two flats, 
would represent an overdevelopment of the site, contrary to the Infill Sites SPG.       

 
Car Parking 
Concerns would be had with regard to the impact the parking provision proposed 
at the rear of the site would have on the amenity of the neighbouring residents 
given the increased activity (noise and light) this would bring. The Infill Sites SPG 
states that;   

 
‘Where car parking is necessary, provision should be effectively incorporated into 
the design of the development as a whole and should not be superimposed later. 
The effect of intensifying a site means that additional car parking may need to be 
accommodated within a confined site boundary. Innovative design solutions that 
minimise impact on the street scene and on the amenity of neighbouring 
properties are encouraged.’ (Para 3.44, p.26)  

 
It further adds that; 

 
‘Any infill, backland or site redevelopment must consider both the new and future 
occupiers amenity, as well as neighbouring amenity of nearby dwellings.’ (Para 
4.1, p.27) 

 
While it is noted that a car parking area is located to the rear of the block of flats to 
the southwest of the application site, this does not represent a characteristic 
feature of the area as a whole or one which is desirable to replicate in design 
terms.  Further consideration would be expected to be given to the parking 
provision in order to reduce the impact the access road and car parking would 
have on the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers. 

 
Amenity Space 
Strong concerns are had with regard to the amount and usability of the amenity 
space provision within the submitted scheme. The Infill Sites SPG states that;    

 
‘All new residential dwellings, as well as existing dwellings affected by the 
development, should maintain useable and appropriate external amenity space. 
This space should be integrated within the design proposals and not just be ‘left 
over space’ after planning.’ (Para 4.2, p.27) 

 
‘It should be demonstrated that the size and type of external amenity space is 
appropriate to the type of development and to the urban grain of the area.’ (Para, 
4.3, p.27) 

 
‘Houses and ground floor flats that will serve as family accommodation should 
include enclosed and secure private amenity areas. Depending on context, such 

31
Page 41



amenity areas should measure at least 10.5m in depth or 50m2 overall.’ (Para, 
4.5, p.27) 

 
While the application site is located within relatively close proximity of Heath 
Park, the provision of an appropriate level of usable amenity space would be 
expected as part of the proposed development. As proposed, only small pockets 
of amenity area would be provided and the size and location of these have clearly 
been driven by the parking provision and access road. Significant improvements 
would subsequently be expected to the amenity space provision in order to bring 
it in line with the SPG. 

 
Internal Environment  
Some concern would be had with regard to the light provision in some of the 
rooms proposed. For instance a single window is proposed in the northern 
elevation of Bedroom 1, Flat 3. The quality of light this would allow to enter the 
room, given its positioning and northern orientation, would subsequently be of 
concern.    
 
Original Submission - Design Comments  

 
The existing dwelling is a hipped roof detached property of a scale and form such 
that it sits comfortably within the street scene. The application site is located in an 
area characterised by semi-detached and detached dwellings set within 
generous plots. A development of maisonettes is located west of the application 
site though this departs form the local character and urban grain and therefore 
forms an anomaly within the street scene. 

 
Strong concerns are had with regard to numerous aspects of the proposed 
development given the intensified use of the site and layout of the proposed 
scheme. Any development on this site would be expected to respond to the 
positive characteristics of the area, in line with the guidance contained in the Infill 
Sites SPG. This states that;  

 
‘It is important to strike a balance between maintaining the established positive 
character of a residential street and introducing additional housing. To avoid a 
‘town cramming’ effect, any proposals must;   

 
• Maintain a useable amenity space or garden for new as well as any existing 

dwellings/occupiers; 
• Maintain an established spacing between buildings that respects the pattern 

of layout in the vicinity of the site; 
• Maintain appropriate scale and massing which respects buildings in the 

vicinity of the site; 
• Respect the frontage building line and respond to the existing street scene.’  

(Para 2.14, p.11) 
 

It further states that; 
 

‘Infill development needs to be sensitive to its immediate surroundings and 
respond well to the built context. It is important that in residential areas where 

32
Page 42



there is a clear existing pattern and form of development, that new buildings, 
landscaping and boundary treatments complement the character of the 
surroundings.’ (Para, 3.12, p.14) 

   
Layout 
No other development has been constructed within a backland type arrangement 
to the rear of the properties along this part of Heathwood Road and therefore the 
principle of such a development in the area has not been established. The Infill 
Sites SPG states that; 

 
‘Plot ratios should reflect those prevailing in adjacent properties. The amount of 
development which projects back into a site should echo the rhythm of the street 
and respect the existing neighbouring buildings in order to reduce the 
overbearing impact of any development.’ (Para 3.19, p.18) 

 
The introduction of 7 one bed houses and 7 one bed flats within the site would 
subsequently represent a significant intensification of the site in a layout which is 
out of character with the form and layout of development in the locality.  

 
Unless it can be demonstrated that the form, layout, scale and massing of the 
development responds to the urban grain and character of development within 
the locality, it would be difficult to support any development proposal for a 
backland type arrangement here given the surrounding context    

 
Frontage Building  
While the existing dwelling has a pitched roof garage to one side and sloping wall 
running parallel to the front elevation to the other, these read as subservient 
additions to the main body of the dwelling which sits comfortably within the plot.  

 
The replacement frontage building proposed would fill almost the entire width of 
the application site adding a significant bulk within the street scene, while 
reducing the evident spacing with neighbouring buildings either side. The Infill 
Sites SPG states that; 

 
‘The spaces between adjacent buildings often have as much impact on the 
character of the area as the form of the buildings themselves. Plots must be of 
sufficient width to accommodate buildings that fit well into the street scene and 
provide adequate visual separation where appropriate.’ (Para 3.20, p.18) 

  
A more in keeping frontage building would be expected within the proposed 
scheme which better responds to the characteristic scale, form, spacing and 
detailing of the dwellings along the street.    

  
The addition of flats identified as no’s 6 and 7 within the frontage building, while 
being set back from the front elevation, would form an particularly incongruous 
and uncharacteristic addition to the building from the street and would not be 
supported. The carport style access to the rear of the site would form an 
uncharacteristic addition within the street scene and would neither be supported.       

 
Internal Environment  

33
Page 43



Concerns are also had with regard to the close proximity the dwellings proposed 
towards the rear of the site would have with the boundaries of the plot and 
therefore the quality light provision the dwellings would receive. No’s 8 and 9 are 
of particular concern in this sense.  

 
The quality of outlook which dwellings 8 -14 within the proposed scheme would 
have would also be of concern given the poor quality outlook they would have 
through either fronting onto an area of courtyard parking or the side elevation of 
other dwellings.  

 
Amenity Space 
Strong concerns are had with regard to the amount and usability of the amenity 
space provision which would be afforded to the cottages and flats with the 
submitted scheme. The Infill Sites SPG states that;    

 
‘It should be demonstrated that the size and type of external amenity space is 
appropriate to the type of development and to the urban grain of the area.’ (Para, 
4.3, p.27) 

 
‘Houses and ground floor flats that will serve as family accommodation should 
include enclosed and secure private amenity areas. Depending on context, such 
amenity areas should measure at least 10.5m in depth or 50m2 overall.’ (Para, 
4.5, p.27) 

 
While it is noted that the application site is located within close proximity of Heath 
Park, this is not considered sufficient justification for the lack of amenity space 
provision proposed, or for allowing a departure from the localised urban grain / 
provision.  Significant improvements would subsequently be expected to the 
amenity space provision for both the flats and dwellings. Amenity space provision 
should be of an appropriate size within the context of the surrounding area and 
for the scale of development proposed and be useable.     

 
Car Parking 
Concerns are had with regard to the car parking provision proposed at the front of 
the dwelling creating a vehicular dominated development. A reduction in the 
parking space provision here and addition of further soft landscaping, in line with 
the guidance contained in the Infill Sites SPG, would subsequently be welcomed. 
The states that; 

 
‘Proposals which create car-dominated frontages that harm the street scene 
and/or create blank frontages at ground floor will not be accepted. ‘ (Para 3.44, 
p.26) 

 
Concerns would also be had with regard to the impact the parking provision 
associated with the dwellings located towards the rear of the site would have on 
the amenity of the neighbouring residents, particularly those to the east and the 
outlook it would provide for dwellings  8 – 14. The Infill Sites SPG states that;   

 
‘Any infill, backland or site redevelopment must consider both the new and future 
occupiers amenity, as well as neighbouring amenity of nearby dwellings.’ (Para 

34
Page 44



4.1, p.27) 
 

Further consideration would be expected to be given to the parking provision 
within any subsequent scheme. 
 

5.9 The Housing Strategy Manager advises that as the proposals are now below 
both the site area and density thresholds, no affordable housing contribution is 
required. 

 
5.10 The Councils Tree Protection Officer makes the following comments in light of 

the submitted Tree Survey Report: 
 
 “The report shows that the only trees that should be considered a significant 

constraint to development comprise the three street trees bounding the site 
frontage and that attain ‘B’ (moderate quality and value) categorisation. Of these, 
only T4, a semi-mature ash, is likely to be harmed by development due to the 
construction of a crossover within part of its Root Protection Area (RPA). RPAs 
are depicted nominally as circles, but for the street trees, a polygonal depiction 
would be more accurate since roots will not have developed into the highway and 
will be concentrated in the verge and under the footway. As such, the extent of 
the incursion into the RPA of T4 is greater than shown by comparison of the Tree 
Constraints Plan and proposed site layout plan and amounts to unacceptable 
harm. Compounding this is the lack of provision for the planting of large, 
long-lived tree species. No space is available to accommodate a tree with the 
equivalent growth potential of T4 for example.”    
 

6. EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
6.1 Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water have no objection subject to conditions in respect of site 

drainage. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 Adjacent occupiers have been consulted and the application has been advertised 

on site and in the press in accordance with adopted procedures. Approx. 140 
individual letters/emails in objection to the proposals (as originally submitted) 
have been received from residents in the immediate and wider area, and the 
Heath Residents Association. Objections and concerns raised include: 

 
• The proposals are out of character with the surrounding area, in terms of 

the physical form of development and the nature of the occupancy; 
• The lack of sufficient off-street parking provision will exacerbate the 

existing parking congestion in the area and subsequently pose a risk to 
highway safety; 

• The increased density of occupation will result in an increase in vehicular 
traffic exacerbating the existing problem with traffic congestion and 
highway safety; 

• The existing house sits well within the street and should not be 
demolished; 

35
Page 45



• The short term occupancy of flats will erode the existing strong sense of 
community; 

• The proposed development, if granted, will set an unwelcome precedent 
for further similar developments in the area; 

• The proposals represent an insensitive and overbearing  
overdevelopment of the site, having an adverse impact on adjacent 
occupiers, causing harm in respect of loss of privacy and amenity to 
adjacent occupiers; 

• The proposals will result in increased service vehicle parking/movements 
(refuse collection, deliveries etc.), impacting on highway safety; 

• Loss of the existing garden space is out of character with the area; 
• Noise from future occupiers will have an adverse impact on the amenities 

of adjacent occupiers; 
• The proposed development will put too much additional strain on the 

already strained service infrastructure (drains/water supply etc.); 
• The loss of trees caused by the proposed development will have an 

adverse impact on visual amenity and wildlife habitats; 
• The proposals represent a commercial development in a wholly 

owner/occupier residential setting; 
• The proposals will result in increased costs to the Council (waste 

collection etc.); 
• The proposals will have an adverse impact on the ‘historic’ front boundary 

wall enclosure; 
• The proposed development, if consented will be in contravention of Article 

8 of the European Convention on Human Rights and the Human Rights 
Act 1998 (Article 8(1)) ‘Everyone has the right to respect for his private 
and family life, his home and correspondence’; 

• The stated comparison to the existing flats at Heathwood Court is false; 
• There is already a surplus of one bedroom accommodation in the wider 

area. There is no need for any more; 
• The proposed development, if granted, will reduce surrounding property 

values. 
 
7.2 Local Members have been consulted and Councillors Hinchey, Hudson and 

Bowden object to the proposals (as originally submitted) on the following 
grounds: 

 
  

36
Page 46



 Councillor Hinchey: 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

37
Page 47



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

38
Page 48



 
 
 Councillor Hudson: 
 
 I refer to the above Application and wish to object to this development. 
 

By virtue of its massing, it would be out of keeping with the scale and pattern of 
development in the surrounding area, and would constitute a cramped and 
insensitive form of development detrimental to visual amenity and the character 
of the area and contrary to policy 11 of the Cardiff Local Plan policy 2.20 of the 
deposit Cardiff Unitary Development Plan and paragraph 9.3.3 of Planning Policy 
Wales(July 2014). 

 
Residents of the houses adjacent to the site would be subject to unacceptable 
level of noise to the detriment of residential amenity and contrary to paragraph 
13.15.1 of Planning Policy Wales (July 2014) and Planning Policy Wales 
Technical Advice Note 11 Noise (1997).  Such development should not normally 
be permitted in areas which are, or are expected to become, subject to 
unacceptably high levels of noise and should not normally be permitted where 
high levels of noise will continue throughout the night. 

 
The development would not provide an acceptable amount of useable outdoor 
amenity space for residents of the flats which, together with the small size of the 
flats, would result in a poor standard of amenity for occupiers, contrary to Policies 
2.21 and 2.24 of the deposit Cardiff Unitary Development Plan, objective 2.2 of 
supplementary Planning Guidance “Cardiff Residential Design Guide” (March 
2008) and paragraphs 9.1.1 and 9.3.4 of Planning Policy Wales (July 2014). 

 
Noise, disturbance and light from vehicles using the parking spaces both inside 
and outside of the site would have an adverse impact on the amenity of residents, 
contrary to policy 2.24 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan. This street and 
the surrounding streets suffer from persistent and recurring parking problems 
which would be exacerbated by further developments of this nature in this 
area.  It would also set a dangerous precedent of over development in the street. 

 
As the site is currently occupied by a large house, the development would be out 
of character with the houses to one side, and those in the vicinity and 
immediately opposite.  This street is dominated by large and small family houses 
with some bungalows set in gardens and with trees along the main stretch of 
road.  It is therefore contrary to Planning Policy Wales (July 2014) 4.11.9 with 
regard to the scale and relationship to surroundings, 9.1.1 which states that 
residential developments are well designed and make a significant contribution to 

39
Page 49



improving the quality of life and 9.3.3 with regard to insensitive infilling or the 
cumulative effects of development or redevelopment including conversion and 
adaptation and should not be allowed to damage an area’s character or 
amenity.  This includes any such impact on neighbouring dwellings, such as 
serious loss of privacy or overshadowing.  What must be remembered is that this 
property has no access to any rear exit as it backs on to and affects the quality of 
life and amenity of residents in St Cadoc Road.  Whilst it is acknowledged that 
there are some individually owned residential flats nearby, these sit on a far 
larger double plot and are only twelve in number.  I further note that there is a 
courtyard and archway layout which is not in keeping with the character of the 
houses in the neighbourhood. 

 
The road is also liable to flooding in several places and as drainage is already 
compromised, this cumulative effect would place an intolerable strain on the 
drains.   

 
It is for these reasons that I oppose the outline planning permission for the above 
site and hope that permission for the development will be refused. 

 
 Councillor Bowden: 
 
 I have canvassed among residents to establish their views on this planning 

application.  I note the comments that residents have made and support their 
objections to this proposed development.  Here are my additional comments: 

 
1. The scale and massing of the proposed development fails to respond to the 

character of the surrounding area in Heathwood Road and adjoining streets.   
2. The backland development is too intense and is not playing a subservient role 

to that of the front development.  Planning guidance suggests that this should 
be lower than the front facing properties, should be less conspicuous to 
minimise the overbearing impact on residential amenity, and should reflect 
the character of neighbouring rear buildings. This plan fails to echo the rhythm 
of the street and respect the neighbouring buildings; 

3. The loss of privacy, spaciousness, and light for neighbouring residents both to 
the sides and behind the development is not acceptable.  The outlook for 
residents of the new properties will be an overlooking of others’ gardens; 

4. There is inadequate attention to the need for green space within the 
development, given the street context.  The loss of a front garden will be out 
of keeping within the street scene and there is a lack of quality, and innovative 
use, within the proposed amenity space for such a large development; 

5. Given that this is a tandem development, both parts of the development will 
be sharing the same vehicular access which will have a detrimental impact on 
residential amenity and will increase considerably the traffic movements in 
this difficult road.  Immediately outside of the property there is a yellow bus 
stop box and a traffic island; both will impact on the egress from the 
development and may also increase the on-street parking problems; 

6. The details of the building profile and the materials to be used fail to 
complement the character of the surroundings within which this development 
is to be set, and the plot ratios do not reflect those prevailing in adjacent 
properties. 

40
Page 50



 
I cannot support this application. 

 
7.3 Craig Williams MP objects to the proposals (as originally submitted), making the 

following comments: 
 
 I write to you regarding the aforementioned planning application at 149 

Heathwood Road having received a number of strong objections from local 
residents. I attach copies of correspondence I have received and would be 
grateful if these could be given full consideration, as well as my own observations 
and objections. 

 
To summarise: 
• It is clear from the correspondence I have received that the surrounding 

community, residents’ association, and local representatives, are firmly 
against the proposal. 

• The proposals would have a detrimental effect on the privacy of neighbouring 
properties, including the garden at the rear of 149 Heathwood Road – Mr & 
Mrs Smith, 44 St Cadoc Road, CF14 4NE, who currently enjoy privacy in their 
back garden and now face the prospect of being looked over by the proposed 
cottage developments.  

• There is currently a big problem with parking in the area. I appreciate that 
parking spaces have been made available, but it is inevitable that some flats 
may have two cars and visitors, which would only add to the parking problem 
on Heathwood Road. 

• Heathwood road is already very busy and has received attention in the past to 
tackle congestion and speeding. A new entrance on to the road to be used by 
potentially over a dozen cars, could not be achieved safely. 

• The proposals are not in-keeping with the style and architecture associated 
with the Heath area. 

• The felling of trees and loss of green space would destroy habitats for local 
wildlife. 

• Granting permission to this application could set a dangerous precedent and 
attract future developments of Heathwood Road – an iconic road in Cardiff 
with traditional bay-fronted properties – destroying the look of the area. 

 
I intend to meet with local residents who are affected to discuss their objections 
further and bring forward a community view on this. I also understand a petition 
against the proposals has been circulated, which has attracted significant 
support, and will be submitted to the planning committee. In the meantime would 
be grateful if the objections I have raised, and those of my constituents, could be 
presented to the committee. 
 
In addition to the above, Mr Williams has submitted the following additional 
comments (relating to the original submission): 
 
Following my email below, I met with a number of local residents at one of the 
affected properties – 44 St Cadoc Road – to see first-hand the effect this 
development would have on their own property and discuss further objections 
with residents. 

41
Page 51



 
Further to this meeting, I would like to raise the following points that were 
discussed: 
• The rear garden of 44 St Cadoc Road (see attached photo) would be 

completely overlooked by the proposed cottages, the closest being only 1.3 
metres from the boundary. This would be made worse in winter when there 
are no leaves on the trees and foliage. 

• 151 and 153 Heathwood Road would also be overlooked from the upstairs of 
the proposed properties and would have little privacy. 

• I would like to once again stress how much these proposals do not follow the 
local architecture. The council has set a clear precedent in the traditional 
areas of Cardiff, such as Pontcanna and Roath, that new builds should follow 
the local architecture.  

• Cllr Hinchey raised a very valid point in his own objections that the plans 
propose connecting the surface water drainage to the main sewer. This goes 
completely against modern precedent and guidelines by Natural Resources 
Wales. It is common knowledge that Heathwood Road has a drainage 
problems, particularly at times of heavy rain, and plans to add further 
pressure to this system cannot be allowed to go ahead. 

• Residents also stressed to me the parking and traffic problems on Heathwood 
Road, particularly the dangers of the numerous junctions off it. An additional 
entrance, used by potentially over a dozen cars, could not safely achieved. 

 
I would be grateful if my additional points could be added to my initial objections 
and brought to the attention of the planning committee. 

 
7.4 Julie Morgan AM objects to the proposal (as originally submitted), making the 

following comments: 
 
 

 

42
Page 52



 

 
 
7.5 Councillor Hinchey has also submitted a petition against the proposals (as 

originally submitted). The petition contains 475 valid signatures and cites the 
following as grounds for objection: 

 
1. Density of development – the development proposes the construction of 14 

units on a site which currently provides space for only one dwelling. 
2. Design – the design of the proposed building introduces a large mass of built 

development along an elongated frontage and does not sit well within the 
street scene. 

3. Car parking – there will be inadequate provision for car parking, with no 
provision for visitors and does not take into account commuter parking 
connected with hospital staff. 

4. Residential amenity – the new building would have an overbearing effect on 
adjoining properties causing loss of privacy and light. 

5. Trees – several mature trees would be lost or damaged by site works as part 
of the development’s construction. 

6. Drainage – the application confirms there is no connection to the existing 
drainage system and surface water would be channelled to the main sewer, 
contrary to good practice and may result in an overflow in times of heavy rain. 

7. Ecology – there is no indication that a bat survey has been conducted on the 
existing house and they are known to be present in this area. 

8. Landscaping – the number, type, size and nature of planting of shrubs and 
trees is no confirmed, nor is any future maintenance programme for such. 

 
7.6 Further to the above, a re-consultation process has been undertaken in light of 

43
Page 53



the amended submission. 18 letters have been received from neighbouring 
occupiers, all of which seek to reiterate previous concerns raised, indicating that 
the amended proposals are still unacceptable. 

In addition to the neighbouring occupier responses above, Councillor Hinchey 
has also advised that his previous objections remain unchanged. 

7.7 A representation in support of the proposals has been received, commenting: 

• The proposed development, adjacent to existing flats, is not out of keeping
with the area;

• The increased residential density will assist the current housing shortage;
• The development will bring benefits to the local economy.

8. ANALYSIS

8.1 An amended outline application for the demolition of an existing two storey 
detached dwelling, to be replaced by a two storey building accommodating 9 
self-contained flats. Matters under consideration are access, layout and scale. 
Detailed appearance and landscaping are reserved. 

8.2 The application site is within an area identified in the adopted City of Cardiff Local 
Plan as existing residential use. As such, the proposed use as residential 
accommodation in self-contained flat form is acceptable in principle.  

Access 

8.2 Access to the site would be directly off Heathwood Road and the amended 
scheme indicates the replacement of two existing points of access (to the east 
and west ends of the frontage), with a new single point of access to the eastern 
end of the frontage. The submitted plans indicate an access width of approx. 
4.5m, which is in accordance with the requirements of the Operational Manager, 
Transportation, to allow simultaneous vehicular access and egress.  

8.3 It is noted that concerns are raised in respect of the impact of the proposal on the 
existing front boundary wall enclosure, which is described in representations as 
having historical local importance. It should be noted that this wall has no 
statutory or non-statutory protection, and could be removed completely under 
permitted development rights.  

Having regard for the comments of the OM Transportation, it is considered that 
access to the site is acceptable. 

Scale and Layout 

8.4 In general terms, a two storey scale of development on this site would likely be 
considered acceptable, having regard for the extant on site situation and the 
scale of the surrounding built form. In addition to the comments made by the 
Council’s Urban Design Officers above, the following comments are offered. 

44
Page 54



The scale of the two storey development along the boundary to Heathwood Court 
(approx. 27m long at a minimum (varied) height of approx. 4.6m) is such that it 
would clearly have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers of 
those flats that have windows facing this shared boundary, placing then into near 
constant shadow, contrary to the requirements of paragraph 4.11 of the Infill 
Sites SPG. 

 
 It is also worthy of note that, were the dwelling to remain as is, any application to 

construct an annexe extension to the degree proposed here would also fail, due 
to the requirements of the Councils adopted SPG ‘Householder Design Guide’ 
2007, which indicates that two storey extensions should not be sited close to the 
boundary. 

 
 In addition, it is considered that this substantial annexe has no relationship to any 

characteristic of the surrounding urban grain, contrary to the requirements of the 
Infill Sites SPG. 

 
8.5 The scale of the proposed development has a direct influence on its layout. 

Whilst there may be scope for redevelopment of this site for flat accommodation, 
the layout of the current proposal is such that the whole site is dominated by the 
car. The central ‘spine’ driveway cuts the site in two, with the incongruous annexe 
to one side and a relatively narrow area of open space to the other. It is 
considered that this relationship would prevent future occupiers from having any 
significant amenity benefit from the area of open space. This sense of vehicle 
dominance is emphasised by the siting of the 6 bay parking area to the larger 
area at the rear of the proposed building. 

 
8.6 The layout of the site and the vehicular dominance of the land with no built form 

also results in loss of amenity for existing adjacent and potential future occupiers 
in that the passage of vehicles, particularly late at night, with headlights on, is 
likely to cause undue noise and light disturbance. Whilst the issue of light 
disturbance could possibly be overcome with the use of an enclosure to the 
parking area, this would only result in the value of the already constrained 
amenity space being further eroded. 

 
 In this case, it is considered that the proposals fail to provide an acceptable form 

of residential development in respect of the proposed scale and layout. 
 
8.7 With regard to the comments received that are not addressed above, the 

following comments are made: 
 

• Whilst the objections in terms of off street parking provision are noted, the 
Transportation Manager is unable to justify refusal of consent as the 
parking provision is policy compliant. No concerns are raised in terms of 
highway safety; 

• The existing dwelling has no statutory or non-statutory protection. As 
such, planning permission could not justifiable be refused if all other 
matters relating to a proposed development were acceptable; 

• The nature of residential occupancy is not a material planning 
consideration; 

45
Page 55



• The Transportation Manager has not raised any concerns in respect of 
highway safety in respect of vehicles servicing the site; 

• The application has been considered by Welsh Water and the Council’s 
Highways Drainage Officer. No objections are raised in terms of water 
supply or site drainage, subject to the submission and approval of a 
comprehensive drainage scheme, should consent be granted; 

• Whilst the impact of developments upon tress is a material consideration, 
the trees/bushes within the application site have no statutory protection 
and could be removed at any time. The amended application includes the 
relocation of the originally proposed point of access in order to overcome 
concerns relating to an existing street tree. The Council’s Highways Trees 
Officer has confirmed that his original objection is therefore withdrawn, 
subject to ongoing observation of the site, should consent be granted. 
Landscaping, including plans and details of any subsequent 
compensatory planting is a matter reserved for future consideration, 
should outline consent be granted; 

• The application under consideration is not for ‘commercial’ development. 
The proposals are for an alternative residential use of the site. As 
indicated above, the nature of any occupancy, including any 
ownership/tenancy arrangements are not material to the consideration of 
the application; 

• The matter of any potential increase in cost to the Council in the provision 
of its public services is not material to the consideration of this application; 

• With regard to development proposals and the provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights, the advice obtained from the Council’s 
Legal Services is that - The established planning decision-making process 
assesses the impact which a proposal will have on individuals and weighs 
that against the wider public interest when determining whether 
development should be permitted. That is consistent with the 
requirements of the European Convention on Human Rights; 

• Whilst it is noted that the application makes reference to the adjacent 
Heathwood Court flats, this application has been considered on its own 
merits, with the recommendation being to refuse consent as indicated 
above; 

• The ‘need’ for a particular development is not a material planning 
consideration; 

• The issue of property values is not a material planning consideration. 
 
8.8 S106 matters – The following contribution requests have been made, with 

reference made to the Community Infrastructure Levy tests: 
 
 Parks – £9,615 – Towards the improvement of open space in the vicinity. Details 

to be agreed in line with the CIL tests. 
 
 The agent has indicated that the requested Open Space contribution is 

acceptable. 
 
8.9 In light of the above, and having regard for adopted planning policy guidance it is 

recommended that outline planning permission be refused 

46
Page 56



47
Page 57



48
Page 58



49
Page 59



COMMITTEE DATE: 12/08/2015 

APPLICATION No.  15/01303/MJR APPLICATION DATE:  02/06/2015 

ED: CATHAYS 

APP: TYPE: Full Planning Permission 

APPLICANT:  TVE Ltd 
LOCATION:  NEW DEVELOPMENT AT, ST ANDREW'S LANE, CITY 

CENTREPROPOSAL: STUDENT ACCOMMODATION 
COMPRISING 84 APARTMENTS AND ASSOCIATED 
COMMUNAL FACILITIES  

___________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 1 :  That, subject to relevant parties entering into a binding 
planning obligation in agreement with the Council under SECTION 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, within 6 months of the date of this resolution 
unless otherwise agreed by the Council in writing, in respect of matters detailed in 
paragraph 9.2 of this report, planning permission be GRANTED subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. C01 Statutory Time Limit

2. The consent relates to the application plans numbered :
• PS00B Proposed site plan
• PL100B Ground floor plan
• PL101B Mezzanine floor
• PL102A First to fifth floor
• PL103A Sixth floor
• PE101 West elevation
• PE102  South elevation
• PE103  East elevation
• PE104 North elevation
Reason: The plans form part of the application. 

3. Samples of Materials: No development shall take place until samples of the
external finishing materials have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory finished appearance to the
development.

4. No development shall take place until a scheme showing the architectural
detailing of the principal elevations of the building has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the
development shall not be brought into beneficial use until the approved
scheme is implemented.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory finished appearance to the building.

50
Page 60



5. The rating level of the noise emitted from fixed plant and equipment on the 
site shall not exceed the existing background noise level at any time by 
more than 5dB(A) at any residential property when measured and corrected 
in accordance with BS 4142: 1997(or any Britsh Standard amending or 
superseding that standard).  

 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the 
vicinity are protected, in accordance with policy 2.24 of the deposit Unitary 
Development Plan and guidance contained within the adopted SPG 
Restaurants, Takeaways and other Food and Drink Uses (1996). 

 
6. D7G Road Traffic Noise 

 
7. E7G Railway Noise 
 
8. F7G Railway Vibration 
 
9. No development shall take place until details showing the provision of 36 

cycle spaces under cover and secure for residential use and 6 cycle spaces 
for visitors have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented prior to the 
development being put into beneficial use. Thereafter the cycle spaces 
shall be maintained and shall not be used for any other purpose.  

 Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the secure parking 
of bicycles. 

 
10. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a 

travel/parking/traffic/resident/letting management plan to include the 
promotion of public transport and other alternatives to the private car; the 
management of traffic at the start and end of term; the control of vehicular 
access to the site; the exclusion and control of student resident car parking 
within the site and surrounding area, has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved management plan shall 
thereafter be implemented throughout the duration of the development.  

 Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to regulate the impact of the 
development on use of the adjacent highway. 
 

11. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a 
scheme of construction management has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority, including details of site hoardings, site 
access and wheel washing facilities. Construction of the development shall 
be managed strictly in accordance with the scheme so approved.  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and public amenity. 
 
12. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a 

scheme of environmental improvements to the full width of St. Andrew’s 
Lane between the two car park entrances adjacent to the site and shown on 
the submitted plans, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include, but not be limited to the 
resurfacing of the carriageway and footway and installation of pedestrian 
crossings adjacent to the site; to include the provision of kerbs and edging, 

51
Page 61



lining and signing, and renewal of street lighting and street furniture as may 
be required as a consequence of the development. The agreed scheme to 
be implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to 
beneficial occupation of the site.  

 Reason: To ensure the reinstatement of the adjacent public highway in 
the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and to facilitate access to 
the proposed development 
 

13. Prior to the commencement of the development an assessment of the 
nature and extent of contamination shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The report of the findings shall 
include a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 
contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from those 
contaminants on land and controlled waters; an intrusive investigation to 
assess the extent, scale and nature of contamination which may be 
present; an assessment of the potential risks, and an appraisal of remedial 
options and justification for the preferred remedial option(s).  

 Reason: To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks 
from land contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a 
proper assessment in accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary 
Development Plan.  
 

14. Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed remediation 
scheme and verification plan to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters, buildings, other property and the natural and historical 
environment, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of 
works and site management procedures. Reason: To ensure that any 
unacceptable risks from land contamination to the future users of the land, 
neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems are 
minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors in accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development 
Plan. 
 

15. The remediation scheme as approved by the Local Planning Authority must 
be fully undertaken in accordance with its terms prior to the occupation of 
any part of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
Within 6 months of the completion of the measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 

52
Page 62



can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff 
Unitary Development Plan. 

 
16. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing within 2 days to the Local Planning Authority, all associated works 
must stop, and no further development shall take place unless otherwise 
agreed in writing until a scheme to deal with the contamination found has 
been approved.  An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme and verification 
plan must be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The timescale for 
the above actions shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority within 2 
weeks of the discovery of any unsuspected contamination.  

 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff 
Unitary Development Plan. 
 

17. Any topsoil [natural or manufactured], or subsoil, to be imported shall be 
assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance with a 
scheme of investigation which shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in advance of its importation. Only material 
approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be imported. All measures 
specified in the approved scheme shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the relevant Code of Practice and Guidance Notes. Subject to approval of 
the above, sampling of the material received at the development site to 
verify that the imported soil is free from contamination shall be undertaken 
in accordance with a scheme and timescale to be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan. 
 

18. Any aggregate  (other than virgin quarry stone) or recycled aggregate 
material to be imported shall be assessed for chemical or other potential 
contaminants in accordance with a scheme of investigation which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of its importation. Only material approved by the Local Planning 
Authority shall be imported. All measures specified in the approved scheme 
shall be undertaken in accordance with Pollution Control’s Imported 
Materials Guidance Notes. Subject to approval of the above, sampling of 
the material received at the development site to verify that the imported soil 
is free from contamination shall be undertaken in accordance with a 
scheme and timescale to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

53
Page 63



 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan. 
 

19. Any site won recycled aggregate materials shall be assessed for chemical 
or other potential contaminants in accordance with a scheme of 
investigation which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in advance of its reuse. Only material approved by 
the Local Planning Authority shall be reused.   

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with policy 2.63 of the Cardiff Unitary Development Plan. 

 
20. C7S Details of Refuse Storage 

 
21. C2N Drainage details 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2: The highway works condition and any other works to the 
existing public highway (to be undertaken by the developer) are to be subject to an 
agreement under Section 278 Highways Act 1980 between the developer and 
Local Highway Authority. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 3: To protect the amenities of occupiers of other premises 
in the vicinity attention is drawn to the provisions of Section 60 of the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 in relation to the control of noise from demolition and 
construction activities. Further to this the applicant is advised that no noise audible 
outside the site boundary adjacent to the curtilage of residential property shall be 
created by construction activities in respect of the implementation of this consent 
outside the hours of 0800-1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 - 1300 hours 
on Saturdays or at any time on Sunday or public holidays. The applicant is also 
advised to seek approval for any proposed piling operations. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 4: The contamination assessments and the affects of 
unstable land are considered on the basis of the best information available to the 
Planning Authority and are not necessarily exhaustive. The Authority takes due 
diligence when assessing these impacts, however you are minded that the 
responsibility for: 
(i)  determining the extent and effects of such constraints; 
(ii)  ensuring that any imported materials (including, topsoils, subsoils, 

aggregrates and recycled or manufactured aggregrates/ soils) are 
chemically suitable for the proposed end use.  Under no circumstances 
should controlled waste be imported. It is an offence under Section 33 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 to deposit controlled waste on a site 
which does not benefit from an appropriate waste management license.  
The following must not be imported to a development site: 
Unprocessed / unsorted demolition wastes. 
• Any materials originating from a site confirmed as being 

contaminated or potentially contaminated by chemical or radioactive 
substances.   

• Japanese Knotweed stems, leaves and rhizome infested soils.  In 
addition to section 33 above, it is also an offence under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 to spread this invasive weed; and  

54
Page 64



(iii)  the safe development and secure occupancy of the site rests with the 
developer. 

Proposals for areas of possible land instability should take due account of the 
physical and chemical constraints and may include action on land reclamation or 
other remedial action to enable beneficial use of unstable land.The Local Planning 
Authority has determined the application on the basis of the information available 
to it, but this does not mean that the land can be considered free from 
contamination. 

 
1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 The proposal is for the construction of an 84 bed student accommodation block on 

a private car park at the rear of Dumfries House.  
 
1.2 Amended drawings have been received addressing provision of community 

facilities and location of bike store.  
 
1.3 The trapezoidal shaped building fully occupies the site and has a ground and 

mezzanine floor with entrance and communal facilities, and five storeys of 
accommodation over, each containing 15 rooms, and a sixth half storey set back 
from the St Andrews Lane containing 9 rooms.  

 
1.4 The core with entrance stairs and lift is located at the southern end of the building 

fronted by a generous area of realigned pavement, and the ground floor presents a 
glazed active frontage to the Lane along most of its length. The ground floor 
comprises reception and foyer, common room, gym and media room. Access to 
the bins and bike store is to the rear of the building 

 
1.5 The main elevation to the building faces St Andrew’s Place to the north and is 

located at the top of a slight rise. The elevation is vertically split by a full height 
copper-clad element into the lower 6 storey stone clad element fronting St 
Andrew’s Lane and the higher 7 storey element facing on to the railway. The 
breaking up of the building’s mass in this view is further emphasised by the vertical 
stack of bathroom pods expressed in a contrasting material. 

 
1.6 The greater part of the elevation to the south is masked by Dumfries House and is 

essentially a blank gable. The SW corner of the building is however prominent in 
views from Windsor Place and contains the entrance and full height glazed corner 
to the stair and lift core. 

 
1.7 The top storey or so of the building will be seen in views from the conservation area 

and the top floor has therefore been set back from the St Andrew’s Lane frontage 
(essentially occupying only half of the floorplate) and is glazed. 

 
1.8 Materials are predominantly reconstituted stone and metal cladding with extensive 

areas of glazing to the top storey and the ground floor. 
 
1.9 The lane adjacent to the site and footpath extensions will be resurfaced as part of a 

package of public realm improvements to upgrade access for pedestrians and 
cyclists. 

55
Page 65



  
1.10 The following additional information is submitted: 

• Design and Access Statement. 
• Noise & Vibration Assessment 
• Rendered images of the proposals illustrating the impact on the 

conservation area. 
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
2.1 The site is on the east side of St. Andrew’s Lane. It is currently a private car park 

primarily for the use of the tenants of Marchmount House. The site is bounded to 
the west by St Andrew’s Lane and the Windsor Place Conservation Area and to the 
north and north east by the access road to the Dumfries Place NCP multi-storey 
car park and the Valleys railway line to Cardiff Central.  

 
2.2 To the north of the NCP access road is a triangular area of landscaping and to the 

other side of the railway line is the Senghennyd Court Halls of Residence – a 
predominantly 4 storey 1970s development. The site is bounded to the south by 
the access to the Dumfries House undercroft car park and by Marchmount and 
Dumfries House, a substantial brick built 4/5 storey high 1990s office block with 
pitched roof on Dumfries Place.   

 
2.3 An electricity substation is located on the site.  
 
2.4 The site is within the Central Business District and on the edge of the Windsor 

Place Conservation Area (CA). The buildings to the west of St Andrew’s Lane are 
within the CA and form part of the imposing crescent of Victorian villas on St 
Andrew’s Crescent. The rears of these buildings have been altered considerably 
over time and in general present a poor quality frontage to the Lane. However it 
should be noted that some of the rear extensions such as the Martin Tinney 
Gallery and no. 14 St Andrew’s Crescent are of such a scale as to create more of a 
feel of a primary frontage to a street  rather than a rear service lane.  

 
2.5 The public realm is generally in poor condition with an irregular and discontinuous 

pavement and unnecessary traffic island at the entrance to the Marchmount/ 
Dumfries House car park. 

 
2.6 The northern part of St Andrew’s Place is a two-way road used primarily for 

vehicular and pedestrian access to the NCP and Dumfries/ Marchmount House car 
parks. To the south of the site the road is one way leading to the junction with 
Dumfries Place. The Lane is quite heavily used by pedestrians accessing the city 
centre via the Windsor Place crossing.  

 
2.7 The site is a short walk from Cathays and Queen Street railway stations, close to 

several bus stops and within easy reach of the University and the City Centre.  
 
  

56
Page 66



3. PLANNING HISTORY 
• 12/165/DCI PP granted in November 2012 for 84 student beds with 

associated community facilities and relocation of a substation 
 
 Related planning history 

• 08/2189/DCI Planning permission granted in November 2008 for 3 storey 
rear extension to 14 St. Andrew’s Crescent 

 
4. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
4.1 The policy framework for this advice is as follows: 

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 6, February 2014) 
• City of Cardiff Local Plan (Adopted January 1996) 
• Deposit Cardiff Unitary Development Plan (2003) 

 
4.2  The following Local Plan policies are considered to be of particular relevance: 

• Policy 11  Design and Aesthetic Quality 
 
4.3 The following deposit Cardiff Unitary Development Plan policies are of particular 

relevance: 
• Policy 2.20 Good Design  
• Policy 2.24 Residential amenity 
• Policy 2.55 Public Realm Improvements 
• Policy 2.57 Access, Circulation and Parking 

 
4.4  The following Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) is relevant:  

• Windsor Place Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
• Open Space (2008) 
• Access, Circulation and Parking Standards (2010)  
• Cardiff Residential Design guide (2008) 
• City Centre Strategy (2007-2010) 

 
4.5  Relevant National Policy Guidance 

• TAN 12: Design 
 
5. INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
5.1 Land use policy: The Strategic Planning Officer has no objection to student 

housing on this site and makes the following observations: 
 
5.2 The proposal is for the redevelopment of a surface car park to create a seven 

storey student halls of residence comprising of 84 apartments. The site is located 
within the City Centre Principal Business Area (PBA), of the adopted City of Cardiff 
Local Plan and within the Northern Professional Office Area (NPOA). As such, the 
main land use planning policy issues relate to: 

 
5.3 The acceptability of Student Accommodation at this location: Whilst student 

accommodation is a ‘sui generis’ use, the nature of such a use exhibits many 
characteristics of a typical high density city centre residential scheme, particularly 

57
Page 67



in terms of impact on its surroundings / environs and the need to protect the 
amenity of future residents and adjoining businesses. It is acknowledged that 
student / residential uses can be appropriate within city centre locations, as 
evidenced by similar recent developments at Summit House and Shand House. 

 
5.4 Strategic Planning (Regeneration) Considerations: Located between St Andrews 

Place in the North and Dumfries Place in the South, St Andrews Lane primarily 
provides vehicle access to the Dumfries Place multi-storey car park and to the rear 
of the properties fronting St Andrews Crescent. The introduction of student 
accommodation along what is predominantly a ‘rear lane’ will impact on the use of 
the public realm in the vicinity of the site, particularly through the increase in 
pedestrian activity associated with residents arriving / leaving the property 
throughout the day and evening. This therefore requires the interface between the 
premises and its environment to be a material consideration in determining the 
acceptability of this proposal. 

 
5.5 Planning Policy Wales, Paragraph 3.4.3 states that ‘When a new building is 

proposed, an existing building is being extended or altered, or a change of use is 
proposed, developers should consider the need to make it accessible for all those 
who might use the building. The appropriate design and layout of spaces in, 
between and around buildings, including parking provision and movement routes, 
is particularly important in ensuring good accessibility’. As this proposal is for 
student accommodation, where movements to and from the building will 
predominantly take place on foot, the public realm in the immediate vicinity of the 
site should be considered in this context.  

 
5.6 The applicant has identified in their Design and Access Statement that public 

realm improvements will be undertaken as part of the proposed development (as 
identified in Proposed Site Plan P399 PS00B). With regard to the extent of the 
proposed works, it is requested that the footway resurfacing (400x400 silver grey 
flag paving) be extended as indicated on the site plan in order to provide a 
consistent surface treatment and to help improve the quality of the pedestrian 
route leading to the site.  

 
5.7 For the above reasons and subject to detailed design, amenity and public realm 

considerations, the proposed student accommodation use is considered 
acceptable in land use policy terms. 

 
5.8 Neighbourhood Regeneration: The Regeneration Officer notes that as there are 

adequate on-site communal facilities provided there is no requirement for an 
off-site contribution towards the improvement of community facilities in the vicinity.  

 
5.9 Transportation: The Council’s Transportation Officer raises no objection subject to 

conditions relating to cycle provision, a combined traffic management plan and 
travel plan, a construction management plan and highway improvement works. He 
makes the following comments: 

 
5.10 The adopted Access, Circulation and Parking Standards SPG confirms that up to 

one parking space per 25 beds may be provided for operational use, amounting to 
a maximum of three spaces for the proposed development, there is no 

58
Page 68



requirement for on-site residential or visitor car parking. I am therefore satisfied 
that subject to the cycle parking condition, the application is compliant with 
adopted parking policy as submitted. It should be noted that the incoming 
residents would not qualify for Resident Parking Permits (should such a scheme 
be introduced in the vicinity of the site). 

 
5.11 As identified in relation to 12/00165/DCI, the footways and public realm in the 

vicinity of the site and connecting with adjacent streets is generally of a poor 
quality. The footways are surfaced with large concrete paving slabs that are worn 
and broken, dropped crossing points do not include tactile paving and the 
north-south pedestrian route crosses a vehicle dominated highway layout, all of 
which impacts on pedestrian use, permeability and legibility.  

 
5.12 Given the nature of the development and the introduction of residential 

accommodation where none previously existed, for residents that will not have 
access to car parking and are reliant upon walking, cycling and public transport; a 
condition is therefore sought to ensure the implementation of the public realm 
improvements identified in application, along with a S106 contribution request for 
further pedestrian and sustainable transport improvements in the adjacent streets. 

 
5.13 A corner of the building at the upper floors overhangs the adopted public highway 

of St. Andrew’s Lane at the site entrance and will need to be subject to a licence 
under Section 117 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
5.14 Section 106: A financial contribution of £15,600 towards the provision of dropped 

tactile crossings on St. Andrew’s Land and St. Andrew’s Place; and the provision 
of boarder kerbs at the two bus stops on St. Andrew’s Place in the vicinity of the 
development. 

 
5.15 Parks Services: The Parks Officer notes that under current policy the proposed 

development is subject to Policy 31 of the Local Plan (Provision of Open Space on 
New Residential Developments).  As no recreation space is being provided 
on-site the developers will be required to make a financial contribution towards the 
provision of open space off-site or the improvement (including design and 
maintenance) of existing open space in the locality. Utilising the residential 
information he calculates the contribution to be in the sum of £45,359. This is in 
accordance with the Open Space SPG and is based on 84 student bedrooms.  

 
5.16 The Public Open Space Contribution shall be used by the Council towards the 

design, improvement and/or maintenance of public open space within the locality 
of the development site. The closest areas of recreational open space are Bute 
Park, Gorsedd Gardens and Alexandra Gardens, a number of which are likely to 
be used by the student population for formal and informal recreation. 

 
5.17 Based on the 2009 Cardiff Council Open Space Survey the Cathays ward, in 

which the development is situated, is deficient in opens space provision by 24.68 
hectares (Measured by the Fields in Trust recommended standard of 2.43 
hectares per 1000 population). The quality and facilities of existing open spaces 
also require improvement, with additional capacity to take into account the 
increased residential population resulting from the development. 

59
Page 69



 
5.18 The final decision on expenditure of the contribution at the time of receipt would be 

determined by the requirements for improving any individual open space in the 
locality at that time. This would involve local consultation with various parties and 
be subject to Member approval. 

 
5.19 The use of the contribution will be determined in accordance with the approved 

procedure which requires consultation with Members. The baseline figure for open 
space provision for student accommodation excludes the playground element of 
typical public open space provision. 

 
5.20 Drainage Management: The Drainage engineer has no objection subject to a 

condition requiring the submission of a drainage scheme.  
 
5.21 Pollution Control (Noise & Air): Requested a noise report which has been 

submitted. Any response will be reported to cttee. 
 
5.22 Pollution Control (Contaminated Land): In reviewing available records and the 

application for the proposed development the site has been identified as formerly 
commercial/industrial with uses including vehicle parking and gun store.  Activities 
associated with this use may have caused the land to become contaminated and 
therefore may give rise to potential risks to human health and the environment for 
the proposed end use. 

 
5.23 No objections subject to standard conditions on remediation of contaminated land 

and imported soil and aggregates, and a contamination and unstable land 
advisory. 

 
5.24 Waste Management: The Sustainable Planning Officer has no objection subject to 

a standard waste storage details condition.  
 
6. EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES  
  
6.1 Welsh Water: Welsh Water has no objection subject to their standard conditions.  
 
6.2 Western Power Distribution: No response received. 
 
6.3 Police Architectural Liaison: The Crime Prevention Design Advisor has no 

objection and makes a number of recommendations relating to security. The 
advice has been forwarded to the agent. 

 
6.4 Network Rail: No objection in principle subject to a number of comments and 

requirements for the safe operation of the railway and the protection of Network 
rail’s adjoining land. 

 
6.5 Central Area Conservation Group:  No comments received. 
 
  

60
Page 70



7.  REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The proposals were advertised as a major application affecting a conservation 

area in the press and on site, and neighbours were consulted. 
  
7.2 Letters have been received from the landlords of 14 St Andrew’s Crescent, the 

office occupiers of 14 St. Andrew’s Crescent, and the co-owners of 10 St. Andrews 
Lane objecting on grounds of loss of daylighting, privacy, overbearing design out 
of keeping with its neighbours, and increased vehicular traffic on the Lane, 
particularly at the start and end of term.  

 
8. ANALYSIS 
 
8.1 The main issues to be considered are the acceptability of the proposed student 

use in this location, the design of the building, impact on the character and 
appearance of the adjacent CA, and impact on the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring office development, and on the residential amenity of future 
occupants. 

 
 Land Use 
8.2 The principle of student housing on this site has been established by planning 

permission 12/165/DCI 
  
 Design and Impact on Windsor Place Conservation Area 
8.3 The building is approximately the same height as the ridge of Dumfries House and 

the top of the building will be visible from within the conservation area in the same 
way as the top of Dumfries House is visible. The impact of the top of the building in 
views from St. Andrew’s Crescent and the listed St Davids Church is acceptable. 

 
8.4 The choice of stone cladding and the vertical articulation of the principal elevations 

of the two ends of the building breaks up the mass and scale of the building and 
provides a successful termination to the view from St. Andrew’s Place. The scale 
of the building and choice of materials also sits comfortably alongside Dumfries 
House in views from Windsor Place, and the location of the main entrance and 
vertical circulation core adds interest to this important view.  

 
8.5 The predominantly glazed ground floor frontage provides an active frontage to the 

Lane, and the simple and classically proportioned upper storeys clad in stone 
significantly enhance the St. Andrew’s Lane frontage. 

 
8.6 The scale, composition, proportion, form and materials of the building preserves 

the character and appearance of the conservation area and together with the 
associated public realm improvements (see below) significantly enhances St. 
Andrew’s Lane. The design is acceptable. 

 
 Public Realm Improvements 
 
8.7 Taking into consideration the development’s impact on the public realm within the 

vicinity of the site, it is recommended that the applicant undertake the public realm 
works indicated on site plan PS00B. They are improvement works to adopted 

61
Page 71



highway land and are to be carried out by the developer under a S278 agreement 
and shall include:  
• Resurfacing of the footways with 400x400 silver grey exposed aggregate 

concrete slabs (consistent with public realm enhancement works completed 
at Newport Road and along Station Terrace). 

• Installation of dropped kerbs and 400x400 buff coloured tactile paving slabs 
at all crossing points. 

 
 Access and Parking 
 
8.8 There is no objection from transportation. The site is in a highly sustainable 

location and policy and SPG does not require on site resident car parking for the 
sui generis use of student accommodation. A cycle parking condition has been 
attached. 

 
8.9 A travel/parking/traffic/resident/letting management plan condition is attached 

covering arrangements for beginning and end of term and car ownership. 
 
8.10 A financial contribution is imposed towards cycle and pedestrian improvements, 

crossing facilities and bus public transport improvements in the vicinity of the 
development. 

 
 Loss of daylight to adjoining offices 
 
8.11 There is a 14m separation distance to the office windows of the recently built 3 

storey extension to the rear of 14 St Andrews Crescent. This extension is directly 
opposite the proposed six storey student block. The rear extension has parking at 
ground floor level so the windows most affected will be the first and second floor 
office windows – a total of 4 windows. Applying the BRE 25 degree method there 
will be a noticeable loss of daylighting to these offices. However given that the loss 
of daylighting relates to a commercial use and not a residential use, and the 
benefits of the overall scheme, the loss of daylight is considered to be acceptable.  

 
8.12 There is a 14m separation distance from the rear elevation of Dumfries House. As 

above there will be a reduction in daylighting to some of the lower office windows of 
Dumfries House as a consequence of the development. However given the 
advantages of the overall scheme and the fact that the loss of daylight relates to a 
commercial use and not a residential use this is considered to be acceptable. 

 
 Privacy/overlooking 
 
8.13 The closest neighbouring development to the west is the 3 storey rear extension at 

14 St. Andrew’s Crescent at a distance of approximately 14m. The Council’s 
privacy standards require a minimum separation distance of 21m between 
windows of habitable rooms and the office windows to protect the privacy of future 
occupiers. In this case the existing office windows directly overlook 12 student 
rooms (and vice versa of course). 

 
8.14 The guidance recognises there is flexibility to relax this 21m distance in tighter 

grain urban situations and there is precedence for relaxing the recommended 

62
Page 72



separation distance on recently consented student schemes. It should also be 
noted that habitable room windows of terraced streets in the inner city typically 
overlook each other at a separation distance of between 12 and 15m.  

 
8.15 In this case while it is acknowledged that the students will use their rooms 

throughout the day office use will be confined to office hours only.  
 
8.16 Given the context, the office nature of the existing use (which does not enjoy the 

same degree of protection in relation to privacy as residential use), and the 
precedent set by other student schemes in the city, it is considered that the 
scheme does not cause unacceptable harm to the residential amenity of the future 
occupiers of the 12 student rooms in question.  NB : The relationship of the 
proposals to the existing buildings is the same as 12/00165/DCI.  The impact of 
the development on daylighting of neighbouring occupiers and on the privacy of 
existing and future occupiers has therefore been considered and found to be 
acceptable in determining the previous application. 

  
8.17 To the south the proposals present a blank gable wall and glazed circulation core 

to Dumfries House. The proposals therefore raise no overlooking or privacy 
concerns.  

 
Noise 

 
8.18 Pollution Control request conditions to control noise from the railway and from road 

traffic. Standard road, railway and plant noise conditions have been added.  
 
 Other matters 
 
8.19 The future occupiers are provided with generous individual studio type rooms and 

have access to a range of communal facilities on the ground and mezzanine floors.  
 
8.20 No external amenity space is provided, there are however a number of parks within 

easy walking distance. The lack of on-site provision of open space is offset through 
a financial contribution to the improvement of existing open spaces in the vicinity, 
to be secured through legal agreement. 

 
8.21 In relation to the railway the site is at a distance of approx. 6m from the railway 

land. The railway is about 1m higher than the site and is separated from it by the 
raised access road and footpath leading to the NCP car park. Given the distance 
from the railway the conditions requested by Network Rail are not necessary. 

 
8.22 In relation to sustainable drainage there is no space on the site for incorporating 

soakaways. A standard drainage condition has been added. 
 

Representations 
 
8.23 The various objections to the application are addressed above. 
  

63
Page 73



 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The proposals provide purpose-built student accommodation in an appropriate 

location. The design responds well to its backland site and will be a welcome 
addition to St Andrews Lane. The public realm improvements will result in a much 
better experience for pedestrians and motorists using this route. The site is in a 
highly sustainable location and there is no policy requirement for parking. The 
proposals meet the Council’s policy and guidance and do not raise any land use, 
design, conservation area, transportation, or neighbour/future occupier amenity 
concerns.  The site benefits from a consent for a very similar scheme 
(12/00165/DCI). 

 
9.2 The granting of planning permission is recommended subject to conditions being 

imposed, and a legal agreement that secures a financial contribution towards 
public open space and transportation improvements, as follows: 
• £45,359 towards the design, improvement and/or maintenance of public 

open space within the locality of the development site. 
• £15,600 towards the provision of dropped tactile crossings on St. Andrew’s 

Lane and St. Andrew’s Place; and the provision of boarder kerbs at the two 
bus stops on St. Andrew’s Place in the vicinity of the development. 

 
 
 
 

 

64
Page 74



65
Page 75



SCALE 1:200

0 2 4 8

NCP Multi Storey
Car Park Access Road

GF FFL

Parapet

1st FFL

2nd FFL

3rd FFL

4th FFL

5th FFL

6th FFL

Mezzanine

1

2

3

4

5

3

6

STONE CLADDING
Colour: PORTLAND
Ref: DTSTLM02 by Domus 
Facade

WINDOWS
Aluminium Frames
Colour: Bronze
Finish: Anodised

ZINC CLADDING
Colour: Brown
Ref: PIGMENTO BRUN by 
VM Zinc

TERRACOTTA CLADDING
Colour: Brick Red
Ref: Creaton by T.I. Tiles 
International Ltd

BRICKWORK
Colour: Blue
Ref: Baggeridge Smooth 
Blue

COLUMN
Concrete

1

2

3

4

5

6

datescale drawn by

title

job no. drg no. rev

checked by

St Andrews Lane

CARDIFF

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

North

P399 PE104 A

1:200 @ A3 30/04/15 CD

rev note date

A Materials' reference added. 16.07.15

PLANNING

66
Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LATE REPRESENTATIONS SCHEDULE 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 12TH AUGUST 2015 
 
 

Page 77



PLANNING COMMITTEE –  12.08.2015 
 
PAGE NO.  1 APPLICATION NO. 14/01659/DCI 
ADDRESS :  97-103 NEWPORT ROAD, ROATH 
  
FROM: Head of Planning 
  
SUMMARY: Neighbours, representators and local members were notified 

of amended plans on 28.7.15.  
 
Representations objecting to the amended plans have been 
received from 1 and 1A Wordsworth Ave., Flat 7 
Stephenson Court, 10 Southey Ave and 34 Fairoak Road. 
The objections reiterate issues related to parking, traffic, 
neighbour amenity (daylighting) and scale.  
 
1A Wordsworth Ave. requested a visit from Planning to 
assess the impact on daylighting received by the gable 
windows of the property. 10 Southey Ave have requested 
the gating of the lane to the rear of nos. 10-14 Southey Ave. 
 
 

REMARKS: The issues raised are addressed in the Officer’s report. The 
planning officer has visited 1A Wordsworth Ave. to look at 
the potential impact of the development on the amenity of 
the occupiers of 1A. Gating of the lane to the rear of 10-14 
Southey Ave. is not a planning issue. 

 
 
PAGE NO.  1 APPLICATION NO. 14/01659/DCI 
ADDRESS :  97-103 NEWPORT ROAD, ROATH 
  
FROM: Head of Planning – impact of development on neighbours’ 

amenity. 
  
SUMMARY: The planning officer visited 1A Wordsworth Ave to assess 

the potential impact of the development on the levels of 
daylighting enjoyed by the occupiers.  
 
The development will be 3 storeys tall with a partially hipped 
pitched roof at a separation distance of 5.3m. I was not 
admitted to the property but I spoke to the owner who 
explained what rooms the windows serve.  
 
As far as could be ascertained from an external inspection 
and speaking with the occupier of the property the only 
window which is not ‘secondary’ is the ground floor dining 
room window.  
 
There are also a number of mature trees along the boundary 
which significantly overshadow the property - these will be 
removed to enable the development. It is likely that the 
impact of the development in terms of cutting out daylight 

Page 78



will be similar to the current situation with the trees. 
 
It should also be noted that 1A Wordsworth Ave is not itself 
a good neighbour because it has windows on the boundary 
and cannot therefore expect the full level of daylighting 
protection except in special circumstances. 
  
The impact of the development on the daylighting of 1A has 
been assessed in the report. The site visit has confirmed 
that the habitable room windows affected are secondary 
windows with the exception of the ground floor dining room.  
Having visited the site it is concluded that on balance the 
development will not cause unacceptable harm to the 
amenity of the occupiers of 1A Wordsworth Ave. 
 
The site visit also confirmed that the ground floor windows of 
the 3 storey element of Stephenson Court are single aspect. 
Those to the 4 storey Stephenson Court gable appear to be 
secondary. The agent has provided additional cross sections 
applying the BRE 25’ rule of thumb criterion. The site visit 
has confirmed that the development will not cause 
unacceptable harm to the amenity of the occupiers of 
Stephenson Court. 
 
 

REMARKS: None. 
 
PAGE NO.  1 APPLICATION NO. 14/01659/DCI 
ADDRESS :  97-103 NEWPORT ROAD, ROATH 
  
FROM: Head of Planning – additional privacy condition. 
  
SUMMARY: Add condition as follows: 

 
The 8no. gable windows adjacent to the boundary with the 
school grounds (see elevation BB on dwg. 205.01) shall be 
non-opening below a height of 1.8m above internal floor 
level and glazed with obscure glass and thereafter be so 
maintained. Reason: To ensure the privacy of adjoining 
occupiers is protected. 
 
 

REMARKS: The elevations show the windows as obscure glazed. The 
condition is added to clarify the extent of obscure glazing 
required and which part of the window can be openable. 

 
 

Page 79



 
PAGE NO.  1 APPLICATION NO. 14/01659/DCI 
ADDRESS :  97-103 NEWPORT ROAD, ROATH 
  
FROM: Head of Planning – report clarification. 
  
SUMMARY: The report states in para 2.3 that the lane to the rear serves 

the school. This is not the case. The lane serves the rear of 
Southey Street properties and the former doctors surgery 
only. Access to the school is from Southey Street. 
 

REMARKS: None. 
 
PAGE NO.  25 APPLICATION NO. 15/00867/MJR 
ADDRESS: 149 HEATHWOOD ROAD 
  
FROM: Neighbouring Objections 
  
SUMMARY: Subsequent to the completion of the relevant Committee 

report, and as a result of a re-consultation exercise, an 
additional 24 letters have been received from neighbouring 
occupiers. 
 
In general, these representations seek to reiterate 
comments made in objection to the original proposals, with 
the amendments now under consideration not being 
sufficient to address concerns relating to parking, traffic 
impact, scale, design, and character. 
 
However, it is also noted that there are additional comments 
relating to the lack of direct re-consultation to some previous 
representees, the timing of the re-consultation (not having 
regard for the ‘holiday period’), and the ambiguity of the 
amended description of development. 
 

REMARKS: The general thrust of these representations offers no 
significant change to the consideration of the amended 
application, and has no impact on the recommendation. The 
application is recommended for refusal. 
 
Whilst it is noted that some previous representees may not 
have received the Council’s direct re-consultation 
notifications, given the scale of the task it is considered that 
best efforts have been made to ensure that the re-
consultation process has been as thorough as possible. 
Notwithstanding this, it is also of note that as comments 
have subsequently been received from individuals who may 
not have been directly notified, there has been no significant 
harm caused as they have been able to voice their opinion. 
 
The timing of the re-consultation is not of the Council’s 
making. The exercise was undertaken once the intentions of 
the applicant in terms of the amended proposals had been 
determined. The Council cannot reasonably or justifiably 

Page 80



delay determination of a planning application to cater for 
individual personal circumstances that it has no knowledge 
of, or control over. 
 
The amended description is accurate in that it indicates the 
development proposed. There is no requirement on 
applicants to include every detail of a proposal in its 
description. Further details of the amended proposals are 
available to view via the Council’s website. 

 
PAGE NO.  25 APPLICATION NO. 15/00867/MJR 
ADDRESS: 149 HEATHWOOD ROAD 
  
FROM: Occupiers of 58 & 80 St Isan Rd and 155 Heathwood Rd 
  
SUMMARY: Objections are made in respect of the proposals as 

amended. 
 
The occupier of 58 St Isan Rd reiterates comments made in 
objection to the original proposals, with the amendments 
now under consideration not being sufficient to address 
concerns relating to parking, traffic impact, scale, design, 
and character. 
 
The occupiers of 80 St Isan Rd and 155 Heathwood Rd 
object to the proposals as amended on grounds that are 
reflective of those indicated above. 
 

REMARKS: The general thrust of these representations offers no 
significant change to the consideration of the amended 
application, and has no impact on the recommendation. The 
application is recommended for refusal. 
 

 
PAGE NO.  25 APPLICATION NO. 15/00867/MJR 
ADDRESS: 149 HEATHWOOD ROAD 
  
FROM: Councillor  Hudson (on behalf of neighbouring occupiers) 
  
SUMMARY: Cllr Hudson hand delivered  41 no. representations (on 

Tuesday 11th Aug 2015), that neighbouring occupiers had 
sent directly to her. 
 
Of those, 26 no. were representations that had also been 
submitted to the LPA. The remaining 13 no. had not been 
submitted to the LPA. 
 
The contents of the letters/emails that have not been 
previously seen by the LPA are representative of the 
comments indicated in the report to Planning Committee, 
raising concerns relating to parking, traffic impact, scale, 
design, and character. 
 

REMARKS: The general thrust of these representations offers no Page 81



significant change to the consideration of the amended 
application, and has no impact on the recommendation.  
 
The application is recommended for refusal. 
 

 
PAGE NO.  25 APPLICATION NO. 15/00867/MJR 
ADDRESS: 149 HEATHWOOD ROAD 
  
FROM: Councillor  Bowden 
  
SUMMARY: Councillor Bowden continues to oppose this planning 

application, as amended by the developer, and fully 
supports the officer’s reasons for refusal. 
 

REMARKS: Noted 
 
PAGE NO.  50 APPLICATION NO. 15/01303/MJR 
ADDRESS:  NEW DEVELOPMENT AT, ST ANDREW'S LANE, CITY 

CENTRE 
  
FROM: Pollution Control (Noise & Air) 
  
SUMMARY: Consultation response from Pollution Control dated 4.8.15: 

The Noise report submitted as additional information 
assesses the proposals against English policy and 
guidance. The PC response sets out performance criteria for 
the glazing and requests more details on the proposed 
ventilation system. 
 

REMARKS: To address Pollution Control concerns standard road traffic 
noise, railway noise, railway vibration and plant noise 
conditions are imposed. 

 
 

Page 82



Applications decided by Delegated Powers between 01/07/2015 and 31/07/2015 

Total Count of Applications: 289

ADAM

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01389/DCH 05/06/2015  35 TrueMR P FAHY 10/07/2015SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION REAR 

EXTENSION

72 RICHARDS TERRACE, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

1RX

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01467/MJR 12/06/2015  26 TrueFusion Cardiff 

Metropolitan Ltd

08/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 2 AND 

3 OF 14/02671/MJR

UNIVERSITY OF WALES 

INSTITUTE CARDIFF 

HOWARD GARDENS 

CAMPUS, HOWARD 

GARDENS, ADAMSDOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF24 0SP

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01516/MJR 17/06/2015  20 TrueUniversity of South 

Wales

07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 12 

(CONSTRUCTION METHOD 

STATEMENT AND SITE LOGISTICS 

PLAN) OF 15/00323/MJR

ATRIUM, ADAM STREET, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 2FN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01456/MJR 12/06/2015  21 TrueUniversity of South 

Wales

03/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 5 AND 

6 OF 15/00323/MJR (VARIATION OF 

13/00641/DCI)

ATRIUM, ADAM STREET, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 2FN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01457/MJR 12/06/2015  20 TrueUniversity of South 

Wales

02/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 11 OF 

15/00323/MJR (VARIATION OF 

13/00641/DCI)

ATRIUM, ADAM STREET, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 2FN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 6



15/01313/MNR 29/05/2015  49 TrueWong 17/07/2015RENEWAL OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 10/00610/C FOR 

CHANGE OF USE OF GROUND 

FLOOR TO A3 RESTAURANT

137-138 CLIFTON STREET, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 1LY

Permission 

be granted

15/01331/MNR 01/06/2015  46 TrueKutkut 17/07/2015FIRST FLOOR REAR EXTENSION AND 

CONVERSION TO FOUR FLATS.

262 NEWPORT ROAD, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 1RS

Permission 

be granted

15/01401/MNR 08/06/2015  44 TrueYoung 22/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EX BINGO HALL RIVA BINGO, AGATE 

STREET, ADAMSDOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF24 1PF

Prior 

Approval be 

granted

BUTE

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00433/DCH 12/05/2015  66 FalseWilton 17/07/2015Proposed single storey extension to 

rear, insertion of new windows to rear 

and new dormer and roof light to rear.

2 BUTE ESPLANADE, 

CARDIFF BAY, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5BD

Permission 

be granted

15/00640/DCH 24/04/2015  94 FalseDeans 27/07/2015INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL WORKS 6 WINDSOR ESPLANADE, 

CARDIFF BAY, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5BG

Permission 

be granted

15/01238/DCH 21/05/2015  69 FalseDeans 29/07/2015RELOCATION OF EXISTING BACK 

BEDROOM WINDOW FROM SIDE OF 

HOUSE TO ITS ORIGINAL POSITION 

TO THE REAR OF THE HOUSE

6 WINDSOR ESPLANADE, 

CARDIFF BAY, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5BG

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/02796/MJR Intelle Construction Ltd 01/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(ARCHITECTURAL DETAILING) AND 

24 (SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL 

MATERIALS) OF 07/02550/C

130-132 BUTE STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5LE

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 84



15/01226/MJR 21/05/2015  47 TrueViridis Real Estate 

Services Ltd

07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 22 

(SCHEME FOR THE INVESTIGATION 

AND RECORDING OF ANY 

ARCHAEOLOGICAL FEATURES) OF 

PLANNING APPLICATION 

13/00130/DCI

PLOT B C E & F, CAPITAL 

QUARTER, ELLEN 

STREET, CARDIFF.

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/00264/MJR 10/02/2015  156 FalseBill's Restaurants Ltd 16/07/2015INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS COMPRISING 

INTERNAL PARTITIONS, EXTERNAL 

DOORS IN MODERN EXTENSION, 

TIMBER LOUVRE TO REPLACE 

WINDOW, GROUND FLOOR FRONT 

WINDOWS AND ENTRANCE DOOR 

PAINTED IN DARK GREEN AND 

SIGNAGE.

PILOTAGE BUILDING, 

STUART STREET, 

CARDIFF BAY, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5BW

Permission 

be granted

15/01300/MJR 05/06/2015  46 TrueDavies 21/07/2015PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM 

OFFICES TO RESIDENTIAL

15 WEST BUTE STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5EP

Permission 

be granted

15/01474/MJR 12/06/2015  27 TrueMorganstone 09/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 6 

(CYCLE STORE) 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01475/MJR 12/06/2015  27 TrueMorganstone 09/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 8 

(DETAILS OF THE JUNCTION 

BETWEEN THE PROPOSED ACCESS 

ROAD AND THE HIGHWAY) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01471/MJR 12/06/2015  33 TrueMorganstone 15/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 3 

(SAMPLES OF THE EXTERNAL 

FINISHING MATERIALS) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01488/MJR 12/06/2015  33 TrueMorganstone 15/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 9 

(SCHEME OF CONSTRUCTION 

MANAGEMENT) OF 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01472/MJR 12/06/2015  21 TrueMorganstone 03/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(ARCHITECTURAL DETAILING OF 

THE PRINCIPAL ELEVATIONS) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 85



15/01473/MJR 12/06/2015  21 TrueMorganstone 03/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 

(BOUNDARY DETAILS) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01477/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueMorganstone 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 11 

(CONTAMINATION RISK ) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01485/MJR 12/06/2015  26 TrueMorganstone 08/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 33 

(FOUNDATION WORKS RISK 

ASSESSMENT, ISSUE 2) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01489/MJR 12/06/2015  26 TrueMorganstone Ltd. 08/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 26 

(SCHEME FOR ADDITIONAL 

COMPENSATORY TREE PLANTING) 

OF 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01481/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueMorganstone 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 22 

(STORAGE OF REFUSE 

CONTAINERS) OF 14/02077/MJR

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01482/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueMorganstone 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 23 

(LANDSCAPE WORKS, PLANTING 

PLAN) OF 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01483/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueMorganstone 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 25 

(ARBORICULTURAL METHOD 

STATEMENT TREE PROTECTION 

PLAN) OF 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01484/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueCardiff Community 

Housing Association 

and Morganstone Ltd.

07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 30 

(SURVEY OF NON-NATIVE SPECIES) 

OF 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01486/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueMorganstone 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 18 

(DRAINAGE) OF 14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 86



15/01514/MJR 19/06/2015  13 TrueViridis Properties 6 Ltd 02/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT FOR 

ALTERATIONS TO BUILDING HEIGHT, 

ELEVATIONAL LAYOUT, TREATMENT, 

CAR PARKING AND PEDESTRIAN, 

CYCLE ROUTE (PREVIOUSLY 

APPROVED UNDER 13/00130/DCI)

PLOTS B C E & F, CAPITAL 

QUARTER, ELLEN 

STREET, CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

15/01476/MJR 12/06/2015  27 TrueMorganstone 09/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 10 (GAS 

PROTECTIONS MEASURES) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

15/01479/MJR 12/06/2015  25 TrueMorganstone 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 13 

(FOUNDATION WORKS RISK 

ASSESSMENT REPORT) OF 

14/02077/DCI

LAND AT HAMADRYAD 

CENTRE, HAMADRYAD 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5UY

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01076/MNR 14/05/2015  49 TrueDepot Cardiff Ltd 02/07/2015CHANGE OF USE FOR THE EXISTING 

INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE (CLASS 

B2) TO A TEMPORARY USE FOR 

THREE YEARS AS A RESTAURANT 

(CLASS A3)

THE DEPOT, DUMBALLS 

ROAD, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5FE

Permission 

be granted

15/01204/MNR 03/06/2015  55 TrueJohnson 28/07/2015CHANGE OF USE FROM 

HAIRDRESSER TO 

RESTAURANT/CAFE (A3)

20 JAMES STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5EX

Permission 

be granted

CAER

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01250/MNR 05/06/2015  56 TrueRoach 31/07/2015PROPOSED CONVERSION AND 

EXTENSION OF DRIVE THROUGH 

RESTAURANT (MATILDA'S DINER) 

INTO TWO STOREY COMMERCIAL 

UNITS (USE CLASS A1, A2, A3 & B1)

253 COWBRIDGE ROAD 

WEST, CAERAU

Permission 

be granted

P
age 87



15/01327/MNR 05/06/2015  34 TrueFry 09/07/2015PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM 

OFFICES TO RESIDENTIAL

1A CLARKE STREET, 

CAERAU, CARDIFF, CF5 

5AL

Permission 

be granted

CANT

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01360/DCH 09/06/2015  42 TrueJohnson 21/07/2015PROPOSED REAR ROOF DORMER 

EXTENSION WITH ROOF LANTERN 

AND 2 NUMBER OF ROOF LIGHTS 

AND REAR JULIET BALCONY

7 PURBECK STREET, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1FR

Permission 

be granted

15/01426/DCH 10/06/2015  41 TrueWiersma 21/07/2015REAR INFILL EXTENSION 26 RADNOR ROAD, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1RB

Permission 

be granted

15/01127/DCH 12/05/2015  50 TrueWeston 01/07/2015PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION (WITHIN PERMITTED 

DEVELOPMENT CRITERIA)

287 LANSDOWNE ROAD, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1JR

Permission 

be granted

15/01064/DCH 15/05/2015  54 TrueKahn 08/07/2015FIRST FLOOR REAR AND SIDE 

EXTENSIONS WITH SECOND FLOOR 

LOFT CONVERSION AND 

ASSOCIATED REAR FLAT ROOF 

DORMER. APPLICATION TO INCLUDE 

FRONT PORCH GROUND FLOOR 

EXTENSION

3 DUNRAVEN ROAD, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8AN

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00898/MJR 16/04/2015  106 FalseAsbri Planning Limited 31/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 1 

(PHOTOGRAPHIC SURVEY) OF 

14/02798/MJR

SACRED HEART CHURCH, 

BROAD STREET, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8BY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 88



15/01041/MJR 01/05/2015  62 FalseCity of Cardiff Council 02/07/2015ERECTION OF A DEMOUNTABLE 

SCIENCE BLOCK.

FITZALAN HIGH SCHOOL, 

LAWRENNY AVENUE, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8QB

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01044/MNR 01/05/2015  76 FalseAMIN 16/07/2015GROUND FLOOR REAR EXTENSION 

TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL GROUND 

FLOOR FLAT (4 IN TOTAL IN HOUSE).

70 CLIVE ROAD, CANTON Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/01028/MNR 26/05/2015  58 FalseMARSHALL 23/07/2015CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS ON 

EXISTING USE OF GARAGE.

LANSDOWNE GARAGE, 

LANSDOWNE ROAD, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1JT

Permission 

be granted

15/01774/MNR 14/07/2015  15 TrueLidl UK GmbH 29/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT TO 

REMOVE CONDITIONS 21, 22 , 23, 24 

and 25 RELATING TO BREEAM, OF 

PERMISISON 13/02056/DCO

LAND FRONTING CARDIFF 

CITY STADIUM, LECKWITH 

ROAD, CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

CATH

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01051/DCH 11/05/2015  78 FalseScrimgeour 28/07/2015ENLARGEMENT OF SINGLE STOREY 

REAR EXTENSION

32 HIRWAIN STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4JH

Permission 

be granted

15/01215/DCH 20/05/2015  43 TrueMURPHY 02/07/2015GROUND FLOOR REAR EXTENSION 84 BRITHDIR STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4LF

Permission 

be granted

P
age 89



15/01231/DCH 21/05/2015  46 TrueWALKER 06/07/2015REAR GROUND FLOOR EXTENSION 

4000MM OR LESS DEPTH FROM 

ORIGINAL MAIN HOUSE AND ANNEX 

WALLS, AND DORMER SET BACK 

300MM FROM ORIGINAL MAIN 

HOUSE REAR WALL(THE PROPOSED 

NEW FOOT-PRINT WILL OCCUPY 

LESS THAN 50%OF THE GARDEN 

AREA)AND VELUX ROOF LIGHT TO 

FRONT NOT EXCEEDING 150MM 

ABOVE ROOF PLANE.

48 LLANTRISANT STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4JE

Permission 

be granted

15/01296/DCH 28/05/2015  50 True 17/07/2015GROUND & FIRST FLOOR REAR 

EXTENSION

173 RHYMNEY STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4DL

Permission 

be granted

15/01118/DCH 11/05/2015  67 FalseMurphy 17/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSIONS 3 HIRWAIN STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4JG

Permission 

be granted

15/00840/DCH 24/04/2015  81 FalseFogg 14/07/2015RENEWAL OF PLANNING 

PERMISSION 10/01004/C FOR THE 

ERECTION OF TWO GARAGES AT 23 

& 25 LLANTWIT STREET.

23 & 25  LLANTWIT 

STREET, CATHAYS, 

CARDIFF, CF24 4AJ

Permission 

be granted

15/01298/DCH 28/05/2015  35 TrueBeere 02/07/2015HIP TO GABLE & THE DORMER IS 

SET BACK 300mm IN EXCESS OF SET 

BACK REQUIRED AS PD RIGHTS AND 

THE ROOF IS LOWER THAN THE 

RIDGE EXTERNAL MATERIALS TO 

MATCH EXISTING AND VELUX ROOF 

LIGHT TO FRONT NOT EXCEEDING 

150MM ABOVE ROOF PLANE

26 FITZROY STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4BL

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01071/MJR 11/05/2015  57 FalseConnect International 

English Academy

07/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 OF 

11/01142/DCI TO ALLOW EXPANSION 

OF THE D1 USE TO INCLUDE 

EDUCATION

26-28 CHURCHILL WAY, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 2DY

Permission 

be granted

P
age 90



15/01152/MJR 13/05/2015  54 TrueWe Love Italy 06/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 OF 

14/02086/MJR TO ALLOW THE 

EXTENSION OF OPENING / TRADING 

HOURS FROM 9AM TO 9PM MONDAY 

- SATURDAY TO EXTENDED HOURS 

9AM TO 11PM MONDAY TO 

SATURDAY.

ITALY & MORE LIMITED, 

1-3 ROYAL ARCADE, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1AD

Permission 

be granted

15/00913/MJR 17/04/2015  101 FalseMANSFORD COLEZ 

MANAGING 

TRUSTEES NO1& NO2 

27/07/2015REMOVAL OF SOLID BLOCK WALLS 

AT BASEMENT LEVEL AND 

INSERTION OF STEELWORK TO 

REPLACE AS LOAD BEARING 

ELEMENT AT UNITS 1-5 AND 7-13 

CASTLE ARCADE(BASEMENT LEVEL)

1-5 AND 7-13 CASTLE 

ARCADE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1BU.

Permission 

be granted

15/01878/MJR 03/06/2015  55 TrueGlaister 28/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(SHOPFRONT DETAIL) OF 

15/00352/MJR

109 ST MARY STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1DX

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01106/MJR 02/06/2015  31 TrueHelical Bar Plc 03/07/2015CHANGE OF USE TO A3 37 ST MARY STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1AD

Permission 

be granted

15/01670/MJR 01/07/2015  23 TruePRINCIPALITY 24/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITONS 2 AND 3 

(REFUSE AND CYCLE FACILITIES) OF 

14/00547/DCI

30-32 CHURCHILL WAY, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 2DZ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01054/MNR 05/05/2015  58 FalsePiazza 02/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 

STORE/GARAGE AND ERECTION OF 

HOUSE

67 CATHAYS TERRACE, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4HT

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/00384/MNR 16/02/2015  137 FalseDraycott Construction 

Ltd

03/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 2 AND 

7 OF 14/02956/MNR

SITE ADJ 85 

MONTHERMER ROAD, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4QA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 91



15/00744/MNR 13/04/2015  98 FalseCardiff University 

Estates Department

20/07/2015MINOR STRUCTURAL MODIFICATION 

TO MASONRY WALL FORMING 

STAIRWELL AT 2ND FLOOR LEVEL. 

PROPOSED WORKS INCLUDE 

REMOVING A SECTION OF MASORY 

WALL TO THE STAIRWELL TO FORM 

AN OPENING INTO WHICH A 

BESPOKE EXHIBITION VITRINE IS TO 

BE INSERTED.

BUTE BUILDING, KING 

EDWARD VII AVENUE, 

CATHAYS PARK, CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

15/01181/MNR 22/05/2015  67 FalseNoteMachine UK Ltd 28/07/2015THE INSTALLATION OF AN ATM 2LET2, 93 WYEVERNE 

ROAD, CATHAYS, 

CARDIFF, CF24 4BG

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00104/MNR 20/05/2015  69 FalseNoteMachine UK Ltd 28/07/2015INTEGRAL ILLUMINATION AND 

SCREEN TO THE ATM FASCIA 

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED CASH 

SIGN ABOVE THE ATM FASCIA BLUE 

LED ILLUMINATION TO ATM 

SURROUND

2LET2, 93 WYEVERNE 

ROAD, CATHAYS, 

CARDIFF, CF24 4BG

Permission 

be granted

15/01284/MNR 18/06/2015  41 TrueMehmood 29/07/2015CONVERSION OF EXISTING GARAGE 

INTO A SELF CONTAINED STUDIO 

FLAT

125 LISVANE STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4LJ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

A/15/00106/MNR 09/06/2015  49 TrueTHE HOTEL 

COLLECTION

28/07/20154 SETS OF INTERNALLY 

ILLUMINATED TEXT ON RAILS - TO 

REPLACE EXISTING 1 SET OF NON 

ILLUMINATED TEXT - TO REPLACE 

EXISTING 1 SET OF INTERNALLY 

ILLUMINATED TEXT ON PANEL AND 

LIGHTLINE - TO REPLACE EXISTING 

2 NON ILLUMINATED FLAGS - TO 

REPLACE EXISTING

THE PARC HOTEL, PARK 

PLACE, CATHAYS PARK, 

CARDIFF, CF10 3UD

Permission 

be granted

15/01329/MNR 03/06/2015  55 TrueSimba Properties Ltd 28/07/2015MINOR ELEVATIONAL CHANGES TO 

APPROVED SCHEME 14/01153/DCI 

TO INCLUDE PROPOSED FRONT 

DORMER, REPOSITIONING OF 

EXISTING REAR DORMER AND 

WINDOW BELOW TO CORRECT 

DISCREPANCY OF FORMER 

APPROVED PLANS; AND 

ALTERATIONS TO REAR ORIEL 

WINDOW TO INCLUDE COVERAGE 

TO PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR 

BEDROOM

NATWEST, 26 PARK 

PLACE, CATHAYS PARK, 

CARDIFF, CF10 3QH

Permission 

be granted

P
age 92



15/01354/MNR 17/06/2015  41 TrueWinsor 28/07/2015ENLARGED REAR DORMER AND 2 

WINDOW LIGHTS AT FRONT

76 COLUM ROAD, 

CATHAYS PARK, CARDIFF, 

CF10 3EH

Permission 

be granted

15/01359/MNR 05/06/2015  53 TrueMiles Properties Ltd 28/07/2015USE OF PROPERTY AS 3 FLATS 123 CATHAYS TERRACE, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4HU

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00095/MNR 07/05/2015  63 FalseNando's Chickenland 

Ltd

09/07/2015REPLACEMENT SIGNAGE

1NO. ILLUMINATED PROJECTING 

SIGN 1NO. ILLUMINATED TEXT 

FASCIA SIGN

NANDO'S UNIT 5, THE OLD 

BREWERY QUARTER, ST 

MARY STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1FG

Permission 

be granted

15/01003/MNR 22/05/2015  42 TrueBestseller Retail Uk Ltd 03/07/2015NEW SHOP FRONT BLUE INC, 95 ST DAVID'S 

DEWI SANT, GRAND 

ARCADE, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2EL

Permission 

be granted

15/01077/MNR 12/05/2015  52 TrueNando's Chickenland 

Ltd

03/07/2015ALTERATIONS TO OUTDOOR 

SEATING AREA

NANDO'S UNIT 5, THE OLD 

BREWERY QUARTER, ST 

MARY STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1FG

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00100/MNR 26/05/2015  41 TruePREZZO PLC 06/07/20151SET OF FACE ILLUMINATED TEXT 

READING CHIMICHANGA FIXED TO 

EXISTING TIMBER STRUTTING 1 SET 

OF FACE ILLUMINATED TEXT 

READING TEX+MEX FIXED TO 

EXISTING TIMBER STRUTTING 1 SET 

OF VERTICAL TEXT FACE 

ILLUMINATED FIXED TO OAK POLES

CHIMICHANGA, 9 ST 

DAVID'S DEWI SANT, 

BRIDGE STREET ARCADE, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 2EF

Permission 

be granted

15/01134/MNR 18/05/2015  50 TruePatterson 07/07/20151 NO. 8 BEDROOM DWELLING ADJACENT 2 

SENGHENNYDD ROAD, 

CATHAYS

Permission 

be granted

15/01141/MNR 13/05/2015  55 TrueArtigiano Cardiff WS Ltd 07/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 3 OF 

15/00139/MNR TO EXTEND OPENING 

HOURS TO ALLOW MEMBERS OF 

THE PUBLIC ONTO THE PREMISES 

BETWEEN THE HOURS OF 07:00 AND 

02:30 ON ANY GIVEN DAY

16 WORKING STREET, 

CITY CENTRE

Permission 

be granted

P
age 93



15/01142/MNR 13/05/2015  55 TrueArtigiano Cardiff QS Ltd 07/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 3 OF 

15/00138/MNR TO EXTEND OPENING 

HOURS TO ALLOW MEMBERS OF 

THE PUBLIC ONTO THE PREMISES 

BETWEEN THE HOURS OF 07:00 AND 

02:30 ON ANY GIVEN DAY

115 QUEEN STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

2BH

Permission 

be granted

15/01039/MNR 08/05/2015  54 TrueRosehart Properties Ltd 01/07/2015CHANGE OF USE OF 2ND FLOOR 

'B1A' OFFICES TO 'D1' EDUCATIONAL 

USE (LANGUAGE SCHOOL).

OLIVER HOUSE, 16-17 

HIGH STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1AX

Permission 

be granted

15/01206/MNR 02/06/2015  44 TrueBrewdog Bars Ltd 16/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 

(OPENING HOURS) FOR EXTENSION 

OF OPERATING HOURS AS 

BELOW:"MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

SHALL ONLY BE ADMITED TO OR 

ALLOWED TO REMAIN ON THE 

PREMISES BETWEEN THE HOURS 

OF: MONDAY TO SUNDAY 09:00-01:00 

HRS; CHRISTMAS EVE, BOXING DAY, 

AND NEW YEAR'S EVE 09:00-02:00 

HRS." OF PLANNING APPLICATION 

14/00494/DCI

BREWDOG BARS LTD, 31 

WESTGATE STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1EH

Permission 

be granted

15/01292/MNR 04/06/2015  42 TrueBT Payphones 16/07/2015REPLACEMENT AND UPGRADE OF 

EXISTING PUBLIC TELEPHONE 

KIOSK WITH KIOSK COMBINING 

PUBLIC TELEPHONE SERVICE AND 

ATM SERVICE

OUTSIDE 60 QUEEN 

STREET, CITY CENTRE

Permission 

be granted

15/00973/MNR 18/05/2015  53 TrueHAIG 10/07/2015ALTERATIONS TO FORM THREE 

SELF CONTAINED FLATS.

55 CRWYS ROAD, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4NE

Permission 

be granted

15/00714/MNR 27/03/2015  111 FalseHelical Bar Plc 16/07/2015NEW SHOPFRONT TRAILFINDERS, 37 ST 

MARY STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1AD

Permission 

be granted

15/01326/MNR 10/06/2015  41 TrueArmour 21/07/2015REPLACEMENT AND UPGRADE OF 

EXISTING PUBLIC TELEPHONE 

KIOSK WITH KIOSK COMBINING 

PUBLIC TELEPHONE SERVICE AND 

ATM SERVICE

ADJACENT 1 KINGSWAY, 

GREYFRIARS ROAD, CITY 

CENTRE

Permission 

be granted

P
age 94



A/15/00113/MNR 01/07/2015  28 TrueBurningnight Services 

Ltd.

29/07/20151NO. INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED 

ALUMINIUM SHAPED PANEL 

OVERALL @ 3500 X 1369MM WITH A 

5MM OPAL 050 ACRYLIC PANEL FACE 

WITH A DIGITALLY PRINTED 

GRAPHIC APPLIED TO THE FACE. TO 

BE SUSPENDED FROM STEEL 

TUBING. 2NO. INTERNALLY 

ILLUMINATED ALUMINIUM SHAPED 

PANELS OVERALL @ 3500 X 1369MM 

WITH A 5MM OPAL 050 ACRYLIC 

PANEL WITH A DIGITALLY PRINTED 

GRAPHIC APPLIED TO THE FACE. TO 

BE FIXED TO THE WINDOW 

MULLIONS IN THE AREAS SHOWN.

MILLENNIUM PLAZA, 

WOOD STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1LA

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00121/MNR 26/06/2015  32 TrueCardiff University 

Estates Department

28/07/2015FIVE FASCIA SIGNS CARDIFF UNIVERSITY, 

CATHAYS CAMPUS, 

CARDIFF CF10 3AT

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00122/MNR 26/06/2015  32 TrueCardiff  University 28/07/2015FOUR FASCIA SIGNS CARDIFF UNIVERSITY, 

CAMPUS, CARDIFF CF10 

3AT

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00118/MNR 24/06/2015  30 TrueEdwards Coaches 24/07/2015REMOVE THE FASCIA SIGN 

'SPIRITED WINES' AND REPLACE 

WITH 'EDWARDS TRAVEL' SIMILAR 

ON THE PROJECTING SIGN

23 ST MARY STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1AA

Permission 

be granted

15/01243/MNR 29/05/2015  35 TrueCARDIFF UNIVERSITY 03/07/2015RESURFACING OF EXISTING CAR 

PARK. NEW CCTV CAMERAS 

ATTACHED TO EXISTING COLUMNS 

AS SHOWN, TYPE TO BE 

DETERMINED. COWLS WILL BE 

INSTALLED TO DETER VISION OF 

ADJACENT PROPERTIES ON 

CRANBROOK STREET. LIGHTING 

COLUMNS TO BE FITTED WITH NEW 

LED LUMINARIES, DESIGNED TO 

ENSURE NO LIGHT POLLUTION TO 

CRANBROOK STREET.

LAND AT CRANBROOK 

STREET, CATHAYS

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00097/MNR 01/06/2015  32 TruePHASE EIGHT 

FASHION & DESIGN 

LTD

03/07/2015INSTALLATION OF NEW 

ILLUMINATED SIGNAGE AND 

ILLUMINATED PROJECT SIGN TO 

QUEENS ST ELEVATION

PHASE EIGHT, CAPITOL 

ARCADE, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2HQ

Permission 

be granted

P
age 95



15/01328/MNR 03/06/2015  36 TrueSimba Properties Ltd 09/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 7 

(OPENING HOURS) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 14/02979/MNR TO 

OPERATE BETWEEN 08:30-20:00 

HOURS

NATWEST, 26 PARK 

PLACE, CATHAYS PARK, 

CARDIFF, CF10 3QH

Permission 

be granted

CRE

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01293/DCH 03/06/2015  48 TrueWilliams 21/07/2015PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR REAR 

EXTENSION AND EXTERNAL FACADE 

TREATMENT INCLUDING NEW 

GLAZED ENTRANCE PORCH.

BUENA VISTA, 

MICHAELSTON ROAD, ST 

FAGANS, CARDIFF, CF5 

6DW

Permission 

be granted

15/01132/DCH 12/05/2015  51 TrueKing 02/07/2015ERECTION OF REAR AND SIDE 

SINGLE STOREY EXTENSIONS AND 

REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING 

COTTAGE

THE COTTAGE, 

CROFFT-Y-GENAU ROAD, 

ST FAGANS, CARDIFF, 

CF5 6DU

Permission 

be granted

15/01133/DCH 12/05/2015  51 TrueKing 02/07/2015DEMOLITION OF REAR CATSLIDE 

EXTENSIONS AND ANCILLIARY 

OUTBUILDINGS.

THE COTTAGE, 

CROFFT-Y-GENAU ROAD, 

ST FAGANS, CARDIFF, 

CF5 6DU

Permission 

be granted

15/01397/DCH 08/06/2015  44 TrueBouadana 22/07/2015HIP TO GABLE END ROOF 

EXTENSION AND REAR DORMER

TREVANION, HEOL 

PANT-Y-GORED, 

CREIGIAU, CARDIFF, CF15 

9NF

Permission 

be granted

15/01727/DCH 07/07/2015  15 TrueTrustees of the St 

Fagans Estate

22/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(FINISHING COAT) OF 13/01087/DCH

2 GILFACH COTTAGES, 

CROFFT-Y-GENAU ROAD, 

ST FAGANS, CARDIFF, 

CF5 6DY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 96



15/01795/MJR 15/07/2015  8 TrueCharles Church East  

Wales

23/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT - 

REMOVAL OF CONDITIONS 17, 18 

AND 19 RELATING TO CODE FOR 

SUSTAINABLE HOMES

LAND OFF MICHAELSTON 

ROAD, ST FAGANS, 

CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00576/MNR 16/03/2015  130 FalseLivEco 24/07/2015SUBDIVIDE EXISTING FARMHOUSE 

INTO TWO SEPARATE SEMI 

DETACHED DWELLINGS

GREAT HOUSE FARM, 

MICHAELSTON ROAD, ST 

FAGANS, CARDIFF, CF5 

6DU

Permission 

be granted

15/01322/MNR 29/05/2015  60 FalseJRS Homes Ltd 28/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 20 

(TREE REPORT) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 14/02360/MNR

LAND AT CARDIFF ROAD, 

CREIGIAU

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01574/MNR 22/06/2015  39 TrueJRS Homes Ltd 31/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 2 

(FINISHED LEVELS) OF 14/02360/MNR

LAND AT CARDIFF ROAD, 

CREIGIAU, CARDIFF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

CYNC

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00967/DCH 22/04/2015  97 FalseThomas 28/07/2015GROUND FLOOR REAR EXTENSION 4 HUNTERS RIDGE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6HL

Permission 

be granted

15/01241/DCH 22/05/2015  67 FalseAli 28/07/2015SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION & 

TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION

91 LAKESIDE DRIVE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6DE

Permission 

be granted

P
age 97



15/01460/DCH 12/06/2015  48 TrueJones 30/07/2015TO CONSTRUCT A WOODEN SHED, 

OVERALL DIMENSIONS TO BE 

4880MM LENGTH,3040MM WIDTH 

AND 3000MM HEIGHT, TO BE USED 

FOR STORAGE OF MATERIALS, 

ESPECIALLY MOULDING THAT IS 3M 

IN LENGTH AND NEEDS TO BE 

STORED VERTICALLY.

253 CYNCOED ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6NZ

Permission 

be granted

15/01130/DCH 15/05/2015  48 TrueMrs M Jackson 02/07/2015TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO SIDE 

AND REAR

24 LLYSWEN ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6NH

Permission 

be granted

15/00806/DCH 02/04/2015  91 FalseHannan 02/07/2015SIDE EXTENSION TO FORM DOUBLE 

GARAGE TO SECURE REAR GARDEN

13-15 CLEARWATER WAY, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6DJ

Permission 

be granted

15/01364/DCH 10/06/2015  41 TrueBrown 21/07/2015ALTERATIONS AND EXTENSIONS 29 DUFFRYN AVENUE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6LE

Permission 

be granted

15/01490/DCH 17/06/2015  35 TrueWilliams 22/07/2015NEW SINGLE STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION AND NEW MONO PITCH 

ROOF TO REAR

63 LLANDENNIS AVENUE, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6JF

Permission 

be granted

15/01444/DCH 23/06/2015  35 TrueKhan 28/07/2015TWO STOREY SINGLE STOREY & 

FIRST FLOOR REAR EXTENSIONS 

AND GARAGE

EXTENSION AND ALTERATIONS

107 BEATTY AVENUE, 

ROATH PARK, CARDIFF, 

CF23 5QS

Permission 

be granted

15/01445/DCH 23/06/2015  35 TrueKhan 28/07/2015HIP TO GABLE ROOF EXTENSION 

AND REAR DORMER

107 BEATTY AVENUE, 

ROATH PARK, CARDIFF, 

CF23 5QS

Permission 

be granted

15/01462/DCH 15/06/2015  36 Truen/a 21/07/2015GARAGE CONVERSION WITH FRONT 

EXTENSIONS, SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION AND RAISED DECKING 

AREA TO REAR

41 BLACK OAK ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6QT

Permission 

be granted

15/01289/DCH 08/06/2015  32 TrueGreenberg 10/07/2015SIDE EXTENSION OVER EXISTING 

GROUND FLOOR ACCOMMODATION 

COMPRISING NEW BEDROOM AND 

RELOCATED BATHROOM

143 CYNCOED ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6AG

Permission 

be granted

15/01522/DCH 17/06/2015  35 TrueWedgewood 22/07/2015NEW HIP TO GABLE AND REAR 

FACING DORMER LOFT 

CONVERSION

70 LLANDENNIS AVENUE, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6JJ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

P
age 98



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01211/MNR 20/05/2015  56 TrueCity of Cardiff Council 15/07/2015REPLACEMENT OF CURTAIN 

WALLING TO THE FRONT 

(SOUTH-WEST FACING) ELEVATION 

OF THE MAIN SCHOOL BUILDING

CARDIFF HIGH SCHOOL, 

LLANDENNIS ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6WG

Permission 

be granted

15/01551/MNR 19/06/2015  35 TrueAppah 24/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(MATERIALS) OF 15/00408/MNR

14-16 HACKERFORD 

ROAD, CYNCOED, 

CARDIFF, CF23 6QY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

ELY

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00252/MNR 06/02/2015  153 FalseD'Arcangelo 09/07/2015PROPOSED NEW RESIDENTIAL 

DWELLING ADJACENT 15 GWENT 

ROAD, ELY, CARDIFF

PART OF LAND AT 15 

GWENT ROAD, ELY, 

CARDIFF, CF5 4PB

Permission 

be granted

15/01491/MNR 15/06/2015  37 TruePlumbley 22/07/2015PROPOSAL TO CONSTRUCT A TWO 

BEDROOM DETACHED RESIDENTIAL 

PROPERTY

341 GRAND AVENUE, ELY, 

CARDIFF, CF5 4RD

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/01391/MNR 16/06/2015  36 TrueENTERPRISE INNS 

PLC

22/07/2015EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO FORM 

NEW CHILDREN`S PLAY AREA, NEW 

FLOOR SURFACE, NEW SMOKING 

SHELTER, NEW ENTRANCE LOBBY, 

NEW DISABLED ACCESS RAMP AND 

ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING 

WINDOWS

THE MICHAELSTON, 105 

MICHAELSTON ROAD, 

ELY, CARDIFF, CF5 4SY

Permission 

be granted

15/01339/MNR 01/06/2015  39 TrueGriffiths 10/07/2015PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE 

APPLICATION TO PROVIDE 2NO 

BEDROOM FLATS IN PLACE OF 

EXISTING UN-OCCUPIED RETAIL 

UNITS WITH ALTERATIONS TO 

FRONT AND REAR

97-99 LLANOVER ROAD, 

ELY, CARDIFF, CF5 4TL

Permission 

be granted

P
age 99



FAIR

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00770/DCH 31/03/2015  99 FalseCrean 08/07/2015TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO SIDE 10 KEYSTON ROAD, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3NG

Permission 

be granted

15/01299/DCH 29/05/2015  54 TrueDriscoll 22/07/2015REAR EXTENSION TO PROVIDE 

ADDITIONAL BEDROOM AT 1ST. 

FLOOR LEVEL 

ABOVE EXISTING KITCHEN

47 FAIRWAYS CRESCENT, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3DZ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/02290/MJR 23/09/2014  293 FalseGreenwich 

Communities Ltd

13/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 10 

(EXTERNAL FINISHES) OF 

12/02186/DCO

LAND BETWEEN 53 AND 

81 GORSE PLACE, 

FAIRWATER

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01505/MNR 16/06/2015  36 TrueCrothers 22/07/2015REMOVAL OF CONDITIONS 5, 6 AND 

7 (CODE FOR SUSTAINABLE HOMES) 

OF 14/00135/DCO

2 MCCALE AVENUE, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3HY

Permission 

be granted

GABA

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 100



15/01186/DCH 26/05/2015  50 TrueAl-Allak 15/07/2015ERECTION OF A 6 FOOT HIGH FENCE 

TO THE FRONT AND SIDE OF THE 

PROPERTY

7 ST MARKS AVENUE, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

3NW

Permission 

be granted

15/01369/DCH 03/06/2015  36 TrueChaletzos 09/07/2015RETENTION OF EXISTING BUILDING 

FOR USE ANCILLIARY TO THE MAIN 

HOUSE

23 LLANTARNAM ROAD, 

MYNACHDY, CARDIFF, 

CF14 3EF

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01073/MNR 07/05/2015  62 FalseHEATH VETERINARY 

SURGERY

08/07/2015DEMOLISH REAR EXTENSION, 

REBUILD SINGLE STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION, ALTERATIONS TO FLAT 

OVER WITH DORMER EXTENSION 

AND PROVISION OF PARKING.

324-326 WHITCHURCH 

ROAD, GABALFA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 3NG

Permission 

be granted

15/00974/MNR 23/04/2015  70 FalseOGBONNIA 02/07/2015CONVERSION TO THREE FLATS 

WITH 2 STOREY EXTENSION AND 

REAR DORMER AND CONVERSION 

OF PART OF GROUND FLOOR TO 

LETTING AGENCY.

JAGS CATERING CO, 274 

NORTH ROAD, GABALFA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 3BL

Permission 

be granted

A/15/00109/MNR 04/06/2015  40 TrueCardiff Council 14/07/2015TO LOCATE TWO SINGLE SIDED 

DIGITAL DISPLAYS WITH 

ASSOCIATED LOGO BOXES 

MEASURING 14M X 3.5M ON EITHER 

SIDE OF THE GABALFA 

ROUNDABOUT TO FACE EAST AND 

WEST BOUND TRAFFIC ON 

EASTERN AVENUE (A48)

GABALFA ROUNDABOUT, 

EASTERN AVENUE (A48), 

CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

P
age 101



A/15/00107/MNR 05/06/2015  35 TrueCo-operative Food 

Group

10/07/2015SIGN 1) ADDITIONAL VINYL OPENING 

HOURS TEXT TO BE APPLIED TO 

EXISTING FASCIA. EXISTING FASCIA 

TO BE RE-ARRANGED TO POSITION 

THE CO-OPERATIVE FOOD ABOVE 

THE STORE ENTRANCE. EXISTING 

LIGHTING TO BE RE-LAMPED WITH 

LED LIGHTING. SIGN 2) EXISTING 

LIGHTING TO BE RE-LAMPED WITH 

LED LIGHTING. SIGN 3) ALUMINUM 

PROJECTION SIGN WITH ACRYLIC 

THE CO-OPERATIVE FOOD TEXT 

WITH VINYL FACE. INTERNALLY 

ILLUMINATED. SIGN 4) WALL 

MOUNTED REMEMBER YOUR BAGS 

SING. ALUMINIUM PANEL WITH 

APPLIED VINYL TEXT AND IMAGE.

CO-OPERATIVE RETAIL 

SERVICES, 25-27 

WHITCHURCH ROAD, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

3JN

Permission 

be granted

GRAN

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01024/DCH 06/05/2015  64 FalseNarbad 09/07/2015FIRST FLOOR SIDE EXTENSIONS 3 POWDERHAM DRIVE, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 8ND

Permission 

be granted

15/01192/DCH 12/06/2015  39 TrueWilliams 21/07/2015CERTIFICATE FOR LAWFUL 

DEVELOPMENT IN RESPECT TO THE 

CONVERSION OF THE ROOFSPACE 

INTO A HABITABLE ROOM AND REAR 

DORMER ROOF EXTENSION

23 MARDY STREET, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6QU

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01230/MNR 21/05/2015  49 TrueMR K SING 09/07/2015REDEVELOPMENT OF EXISTING 

COACH HOUSE INTO DWELLING 

UNIT. 2 BED 3 PERSON UNIT.

REAR OF 37 CORNWALL 

STREET, GRANGETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF11 6PN

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

P
age 102



15/00148/MNR 16/02/2015  143 FalseIqbal 09/07/2015CONVERSION TO THREE FLATS 

WITH REAR DORMER EXTENSION 

AND SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION

60 PAGET STREET, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 7JY

Permission 

be granted

15/00886/MNR 15/04/2015  91 FalseCardiff Council 15/07/2015RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION FOR 

THE RETENTION OF 2 DOUBLE 

DEMOUNTABLES UNTIL SEPT 2018

TAN YR EOS, VIRGIL 

STREET, LECKWITH, 

CARDIFF, CF11 8TF

Permission 

be granted

15/01565/MNR 23/06/2015  36 TrueBellway Homes 29/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITION 1 OF 

10/00811/C TO ALLOW THE 

DEVELOPMENT TO BE BEGUN 

BEFORE THE EXPIRATION OF FIVE 

YEARS FROM THE DATE OF THIS 

PLANNING PERMISSION

GROUND FLOOR, BLOCK 

E, PROSPECT PLACE, 

FERRY COURT, 

GRANGETOWN

Permission 

be granted

HEAT

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01366/DCH 03/06/2015  48 TrueGrey 21/07/2015A SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 142 MANOR WAY, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1RN

Permission 

be granted

15/01330/DCH 01/06/2015  46 TrueSeymour 17/07/2015REAR / SIDE GROUND FLOOR 

EXTENSION AND DEMOLITION OF 

GARAGE

36 KYLE CRESCENT, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1SW

Permission 

be granted

15/01021/DCH 11/05/2015  52 TrueBurton 02/07/2015SINGLE STOREY SIDE AND REAR 

EXTENSIONS

7 ST CADOC ROAD, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4ND

Permission 

be granted

15/01184/DCH 18/05/2015  44 TrueJones 01/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

MEASURING 3.3 M WIDE X 4.2 M 

LONG WITH FLAT ROOF. REAR OF 

EXTENSION WILL BE SQUARED OFF 

TO EXISTING ANNEXE.

45 ST BENEDICT 

CRESCENT, HEATH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4DP

Permission 

be granted

15/01058/DCH 08/05/2015  54 TrueDay 01/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 10 ST AIDAN CRESCENT, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4AU

Permission 

be granted

P
age 103



15/01450/DCH 11/06/2015  47 TruePritchard 28/07/2015SINGLE STOREY FRONT AND SIDE 

EXTENSION AND PART SINGLE PART 

TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION

105 PANTBACH ROAD, 

BIRCHGROVE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1TX

Permission 

be granted

15/01188/DCH 18/05/2015  71 FalseGale 28/07/2015CONSTRUCTION OF DANCE STUDIO 

AT THE REAR OF EXISTING GARAGE 

FOR PERSONAL USE

56 ST MALO ROAD, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4HN

Permission 

be granted

15/01575/DCH 22/06/2015  29 TrueLewis 21/07/2015REAR ELEVATION DORMER. 9 HEOL POWIS, 

BIRCHGROVE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4PG

Permission 

be granted

15/01212/DCH 03/06/2015  30 TrueBreed 03/07/2015SINGLE STOREY DOMESTIC 

EXTENSION

39 KYLE AVENUE, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1SR

Permission 

be granted

15/01370/DCH 11/06/2015  27 TrueLawson 08/07/2015LOFT CONVERSION AND DORMER 

EXTENSION CREATING A NEW 

BEDROOM AND EN-SUITE 

INCLUDING WITH EXTERNAL 

ALTERATION, MAKING IT A DORMER 

BUNGALOW WITH ACCOMMODATION 

AT THE FIRST FLOOR

4 GLAS IFOR, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1TA

Permission 

be granted

15/01348/DCH 01/06/2015  30 TrueGaffney 01/07/2015CERTIFICATE OF LAWFUL 

DEVELOPMENT FOR A SINGLE 

STOREY REAR EXTENSION

70 HEATHWAY, HEATH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4JW

Permission 

be granted

15/01580/DCH 25/06/2015  33 TrueHayes 28/07/2015EXTENSION TO THE SIDE AND REAR 

OF THE PROPERTY

50 TON-YR-YWEN 

AVENUE, HEATH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4PB

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01341/MJR 21/05/2015  50 TrueLidl UK GmbH 10/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 17  

(EXTERNAL MATERIALS) OF 

14/00971/DCO

LIDL, 170 MAES-Y-COED 

ROAD, HEATH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4HH

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 104



15/00382/MNR 16/02/2015  165 FalseLakeside Properties Ltd 31/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 2 

(MATERIALS), 3 (MEANS OF SITE 

ENCLOSURE), 5 (LANDSCAPING) 

AND 9 (PERMEABILITY TESTS) OF 

PLANNING APPLICATION 

13/00263/DCO

35 CRYSTAL WOOD 

ROAD, HEATH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4HU

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/00849/MNR 10/04/2015  109 FalseCardiff University 28/07/2015EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO 

PROVIDE STEPPED AND RAMPED 

ACCESS TO SATISFY BUILDING 

REGULATIONS

HEATH PARK OFFICES, 

KING GEORGE V DRIVE 

EAST, HEATH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4EP

Permission 

be granted

LISV

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01413/DCH 10/06/2015  41 TrueThomas 21/07/2015ERECTION OF SINGLE STOREY 

REAR EXTENSION

15 COTSWOLD AVENUE, 

LISVANE, CARDIFF, CF14 

0TA

Permission 

be granted

15/01157/DCH 14/05/2015  49 TrueBool 02/07/2015PROPOSED PART CONVERSION OF 

THE EXISTING GARAGE INTO LIVING 

ACCOMMODATION, WITH A GLAZED 

LINK TO THE EXISTING PROPERTY

PEN Y BRAES, LISVANE 

ROAD, LISVANE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 0SG

Permission 

be granted

15/01213/DCH 20/05/2015  49 TrueCharleson 08/07/2015SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO 

REAR

66 CLOS LLYSFAEN, 

LISVANE, CARDIFF, CF14 

0UP

Permission 

be granted

15/01323/DCH 22/06/2015  23 TrueDaly 15/07/2015CERTIFICATE OF LAWFUL 

DEVELOPMENT FOR A GROUND 

FLOOR SIDE EXTENSION

44 ROWAN WAY, LISVANE, 

CARDIFF, CF14 0TD

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01140/MNR 13/05/2015  49 TrueDring 01/07/2015NEW FOUR BEDROOM DETACHED 

DWELLING

7 CHURCHILL CLOSE, 

LISVANE, CARDIFF, CF14 

0EP

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

P
age 105



15/00442/MNR 16/03/2015  136 FalseShire Hall Properties Ltd 30/07/2015CHANGE THE USE OF THE LODGE 

FROM COMMERCIAL TO 

RESIDENTIAL INCLUDING 

ALTERATIONS AND EXTENSION, 

PROVIDE A NEW ACCESS TO THE 

ADOPTED HIGHWAY AND INCLUDE 

NEW CAR PARKING, BLOCK UP AN 

EXISTING ACCESS TO THE MAIN 

HOUSE PRIVATE DRIVE, PROVIDE A 

NEW DWELLING

TY GWYN, LISVANE 

ROAD, LISVANE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 0SG

Permission 

be granted

LLAN

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00520/DCH 16/03/2015  134 FalseCook 28/07/2015TWO STOREY SIDE AND FRONT 

EXTENSION AND SINGLE STOREY 

FRONT EXTENSIONS

BRYN Y GWYNT, 26 THE 

RISE, LLANISHEN, 

CARDIFF, CF14 0RD

Permission 

be granted

15/01102/DCH 26/05/2015  50 TruePorter 15/07/2015CERTIFICATE OF LAWFUL 

DEVELOPMENT IN RESPECT TO A 

NEW PORCH TO THE FRONT OF THE 

PROPERTY.

93 OAKRIDGE, 

THORNHILL, CARDIFF, 

CF14 9BX

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/01247/DCH 22/05/2015  54 TrueFOLEY 15/07/2015SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 21 TY GLAS AVENUE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5DX

Permission 

be granted

15/01259/DCH 28/05/2015  54 TrueHarvey 21/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE. 

CONSTRUCTION OF NEW GARAGE, 

NEW SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION AND NEW BAY WINDOW 

TO FRONT ELEVATION.

39 SOUTH RISE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 0RF

Permission 

be granted

15/01095/DCH 14/05/2015  50 TrueWOOD 03/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR/SIDE 

EXTENSION

3 WINDMILL CLOSE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 9BL

Permission 

be granted

15/01219/DCH 21/05/2015  41 TrueMayes 01/07/2015FIRST STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 

SUPPORTED BY BRICK COLUMNS

31 PENDRAGON CLOSE, 

THORNHILL, CARDIFF, 

CF14 9BD

Permission 

be granted

P
age 106



15/01412/DCH 11/06/2015  40 TrueDunscombe 21/07/2015CONSERVATORY EXTENSION TO 

REAR ELEVATION

24 DRURY CLOSE, 

THORNHILL, CARDIFF, 

CF14 9BJ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/02416/MJR 16/10/2014  272 FalseJones 15/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 4 

(DRAINAGE) AND 5 (MEANS OF SITE 

ENCLOSURE) OF 14/01533/DCO

168A FISHGUARD ROAD, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5PW

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

A/15/00108/MNR 05/06/2015  53 TrueMarks and Spencer 

PLC

28/07/2015EXISTING EXTERNAL SIGNAGE TO 

BE REMOVED AND REPLACED 

INCLUDING TWO NO. FASCIA SIGNS 

AND A TWO SIDED TOTEM. PLUS A 

NEW WINDOW PLAQUE TO BE FIXED 

TO EXISTING GLAZING.

MARKS &  SPENCER PLC 

UNIT 1, TY GLAS RETAIL 

PARK, PARC TY GLAS, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5DU

Permission 

be granted

15/01150/MNR 19/05/2015  59 FalseParsons Bakery 17/07/2015NEW TIMBER FRAMED SHOP FRONT 

TO BE INSTALLED TO CREATE 

SEPARATE ACCESS TO THE 

UPSTAIRS FLAT (40A)

40 STATION ROAD, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5LT

Permission 

be granted

15/01630/MNR 26/06/2015  6 TrueBrown.Land 02/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 19 

(EXTERNAL FINISHING MATERIALS) 

OF PLANNING APPLICATION 

13/02699/DCO

14 TOWY ROAD, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 0NS

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

LLDF

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 107



15/01179/DCH 21/05/2015  56 TrueDerrick 16/07/2015NEW TWO STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION AND SINGLE STOREY 

REAR EXTENSION

10 WHITEHALL ROAD, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2QE

Permission 

be granted

15/01093/DCH 15/05/2015  49 TrueWorton 03/07/2015TWO STOREY SIDE AND REAR 

EXTENSION

46 NICHOLSON WEBB 

CLOSE, DANESCOURT, 

CARDIFF, CF5 2RL

Permission 

be granted

15/00998/DCH 12/05/2015  51 TruePatel 02/07/2015RETAIN TWO STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION AS BUILT

17 WAUN GRON ROAD, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2JJ

Permission 

be granted

15/01273/DCH 09/06/2015  51 TrueLloyd 30/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE 

AND ERECTION OF A UTILITY ROOM 

TO THE DRIVE AND OVER PART OF 

THE GARAGE SITE, WITH A 

THROUGH ROOM TO ACT AS A 

GARDEN STORE/ POTTING SHED.

16 BISHOPS WALK, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2HD

Permission 

be granted

15/01029/DCH 30/04/2015  84 FalseMARCHANT 23/07/2015REVISED APPLICATION FOR A 

PROPOSED TWO STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION TO EXISTING 

DWELLING.

27 BLETHIN CLOSE, 

DANESCOURT, CARDIFF, 

CF5 2RR

Permission 

be granted

15/01116/DCH 11/05/2015  52 TrueRay 02/07/2015RETENTION OF EXISTING FRONT 

GATES AND BOUNDARY WALL

12 GILIAN ROAD, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2PZ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/01254/DCH 26/05/2015  37 TrueFord 02/07/2015SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 33 FAIRWATER GROVE 

EAST, LLANDAFF, 

CARDIFF, CF5 2JS

Permission 

be granted

15/01599/DCH 24/06/2015  37 TrueMullins 31/07/2015EXTENSION TO THE FRONT OF THE 

PROPERTY, PROTRUDING AS FAR 

AS THE EXISTING PORCH. GARAGE 

TO EXTEND A SHORT DISTANCE, 

FLAT GARAGE ROOF TO BECOME 

GABLED.

11 RADYR COURT RISE, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2QH

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 108



15/00329/MJR 26/02/2015  151 FalseChurchills Hotel 

Development Ltd

27/07/2015CONVERSION OF THE EXISTING 

GRADE II LISTED HOTEL INTO A PAIR 

OF SEMI-DETACHED HOUSES AND 

DEMOLISHING THE MODERN 

EXTENSIONS TO THE REAR, 

LEAVING THE BUILDING IN ITS 

ORIGINAL STATE.

CHURCHILLS HOTEL, 3 

LLANDAFF PLACE, 

CARDIFF ROAD, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2AE

Permission 

be granted

15/00882/MJR 09/04/2015  89 FalseCardiff Metropolitan 

University

07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 10 

(JAPANESE KNOTWEED) OF 

PLANNING PERMISSION NO. 

13/01871/DCO (CONSTRUCTION OF A 

105M BY 68M NATURAL TURF 

FOOTBALL PITCH AT CARDIFF 

METROPOLITAN UNIVERSITY 

LLANDAFF CAMPUS ON LAND 

FORMERLY USED AS PLAYING 

FIELDS)

UNIVERSITY OF WALES 

INSTITUTE CARDIFF 

LLANDAFF CAMPUS, 200 

WESTERN AVENUE, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2YB

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

A/15/00090/MNR 07/05/2015  82 FalseEnterprise Inns 28/07/2015ERECTION OF ILLUMINATE AND NON 

ILLUMINATED SIGNS TO THE 

EXTERIOR OF THE BUILDING

RADYR COURT, RACHEL 

CLOSE, DANESCOURT, 

CARDIFF, CF5 2SH

Permission 

be granted

15/01164/MNR 20/05/2015  43 TrueGirl's Day School Trust 02/07/2015THE REMODELLING OF AN EXISTING 

2 STOREY UNIFORM SHOP AND 

CARETAKER'S STORE TO FORM 2 

FLEXIBLE ROOMS OVER TWO 

FLOORS WITH A MULTI-USE SPACE 

LOCATED WITHIN THE EXISTING 

SINGLE STOREY ANNEX TO THE 

SOUTH. ASSOCIATED WCS AND 

STORAGE IS ALSO INCLUDED 

TOGETHER WITH AN EXTERNAL 

CANOPY TO FORM A PUSH CHAIR 

STORE.

HOWELLS SCHOOL, 

CARDIFF ROAD, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2YD

Permission 

be granted

LLDN

P
age 109



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01088/MNR 14/05/2015  49 TrueAxford 02/07/2015CHANGE OF USE FROM GULLEY TO 

GARDEN

28 ABERDORE ROAD, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

2SR

Permission 

be granted

LLRU

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01265/DCH 28/05/2015  54 TrueBartley 21/07/2015PROPOSED TWO STOREY KITCHEN 

AND BEDROOM REAR EXTENSION

3 PURCELL ROAD, 

LLANRUMNEY, CARDIFF, 

CF3 5RZ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/00439/DCO 26/02/2014  490 FalseWebber 01/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(DRAINAGE) AND 8 (FINISHING 

MATERIALS) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 09/01211/E

LAND ADJACENT TO 193 

BURNHAM AVENUE, 

LLANRUMNEY, CARDIFF, 

CF3 5PA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 110



15/00940/MJR 15/04/2015  92 FalseStride Treglown Limited 16/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 10 (SITE 

MANAGEMENT PLAN) OF PLANNING 

PERMISSION NO. 13/02142/DCO 

(REFURBISHMENT AND EXTENSION 

OF EASTERN LEISURE CENTRE. 

PROPOSALS INCLUDE EXTENSIVE 

REFURBISHMENT OF THE EXISTING 

FACILITY, HARD AND SOFT 

LANDSCAPING AND DEMOLITION OF 

THE EXISTING CARETAKERS 

HOUSE)

EASTERN LEISURE 

CENTRE, LLANRUMNEY 

AVENUE, LLANRUMNEY, 

CARDIFF, CF3 4DN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01280/MJR 27/05/2015  57 FalseCardiff Council 23/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 6 

(DRAINAGE PLAN) OF 13/02142/DCO

EASTERN LEISURE 

CENTRE, LLANRUMNEY 

AVENUE, LLANRUMNEY, 

CARDIFF, CF3 4DN

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

15/00941/MJR 15/04/2015  96 FalseStride Treglown Limited 20/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 12 (THE 

APPOINTMENT OF CARDIFF 

ARCHEOLOGICAL UNIT) OF 

PLANNING PERMISSION NO. 

13/02142/DCO (REFURBISHMENT 

AND EXTENSION OF EASTERN 

LEISURE CENTRE. PROPOSALS 

INCLUDE EXTENSIVE 

REFURBISHMENT OF THE EXISTING 

FACILITY, HARD AND SOFT 

LANDSCAPING AND DEMOLITION OF 

THE EXISTING CARETAKERS 

HOUSE)

EASTERN LEISURE 

CENTRE, LLANRUMNEY 

AVENUE, LLANRUMNEY, 

CARDIFF, CF3 4DN

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

PENT

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01261/DCH 26/05/2015  41 True 06/07/2015TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 16 FAIRVIEW COURT, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 7DY

Permission 

be granted

P
age 111



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01342/MJR 20/05/2015  50 TrueLidl UK GmbH 09/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 14  

(EXTERNAL MATERIALS) OF 

14/00064/DCO

FORMER J R INDUSTRIES, 

CAXTON PLACE, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 8XN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01877/MJR 20/07/2015  8 TrueLidl UK GmbH 28/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 8 

(CYCLE PARKING) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 14/00064/DCO

FORMER J R INDUSTRIES, 

CAXTON PLACE, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 8XN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01671/MJR 30/06/2015  24 TrueLidl UK GmbH 24/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 11 

(REFUSE CONTAINERS) OF 

PLANNING APPLICATION 

14/00064/DCO

FORMER J R INDUSTRIES, 

CAXTON PLACE, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 8XN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01730/MJR 02/07/2015  15 TrueLidl UK GmbH 17/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 (TREE 

PIT DETAILS) OF 14/00064/DCO

FORMER J R INDUSTRIES, 

CAXTON PLACE, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 8XN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01672/MJR 30/06/2015  16 TrueLidl UK GmbH 16/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 22 

(LITTER BINS) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 14/00064/DCO

FORMER J R INDUSTRIES, 

CAXTON PLACE, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 8XN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

PENY

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01138/DCH 12/05/2015  77 FalseTONY G HARRIS & 

SONS BUILDING 

CONTRACTOR LTD

28/07/20152 STOREY FRONT EXTENSION TO 

EXISTING GARAGE AND BEDROOM

8 GREENLAWNS, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

6AW

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/00829/DCH 08/04/2015  100 FalseEvans 17/07/2015PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION (KITCHEN/LIVING)

10 WESTVILLE ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5AG

Permission 

be granted

P
age 112



15/00980/DCH 01/05/2015  76 FalseShamsdin 16/07/2015PROPOSED SINGLE STORY REAR 

EXTENSION; ENLARGEMENT OF 

EXISTING KITCHEN AND CREATION 

OF ADDITION BATHROOM. 

RELOCATION OF EXISTING REAR 

GARDEN ACCESS GATE.

13 WESTVILLE ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5DE

Permission 

be granted

15/01334/DCH 01/06/2015  45 TrueKarseras 16/07/2015REAR SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION 

ALONG FULL WIDTH OF HOUSE

45 HAMPTON COURT 

ROAD, PENYLAN, 

CARDIFF, CF23 9DH

Permission 

be granted

15/01308/DCH 29/05/2015  41 TrueWalker 09/07/2015REAR/SIDE GROUND FLOOR 

EXTENSION

9 FFORDD CWELLYN, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5NB

Permission 

be granted

15/01147/DCH 13/05/2015  58 FalseWilliams 10/07/2015REPLACEMENT OF GROUND AND 

FIRST FLOOR BAY WINDOWS WITH 

SLIDING SASH, WOOD FRAME 

WINDOWS

3 CHURCH TERRACE, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF23 

5AW

Permission 

be granted

15/01788/DCH 13/07/2015  16 TrueWilliams 29/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 

(DETAILS OF THE HORN AND 

DECORATIVE TIMBER WORK) OF 

PLANNING APPLICATION 

14/01610/DCH

79 WESTVILLE ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5DF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

PLAS

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01026/DCH 06/05/2015  72 FalseHumphries 17/07/2015REPLACEMENT OF ALL WINDOWS 

TO THE FRONT AND REAR OF THE 

PROPERTY

3 WERFA STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF23 

5EW

Permission 

be granted

15/01295/DCH 05/06/2015  56 True 31/07/2015RENEW FRONT WINDOWS 75 AND 77 SHIRLEY 

ROAD, ROATH, CARDIFF, 

CF23 5HL

Permission 

be granted

15/00496/DCH 13/03/2015  111 FalseEdwards 02/07/2015LOFT CONVERSION WITH NEW 

DORMER

8 HENDY STREET, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF23 5EU

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

P
age 113



15/01353/DCH 01/06/2015  46 TrueShilawe 17/07/2015SECOND STOREY DORMER SIDE 

EXTENSION

COACH HOUSE, REAR OF 

61, GLENROY STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3JX

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01166/MJR 14/05/2015  48 TrueWILLIS 

CONSTRUCTION LTD

01/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 3 

(SAMPLES OF EXTERNAL 

MATERIALS) OF 14/02335/MJR

130 ALBANY ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3RU

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/00758/MJR 30/03/2015  93 FalseWILLIS 

CONSTRUCTION LTD

01/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 OF 

14/02335/MJR

130 ALBANY ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3RU

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00516/MNR 18/05/2015  60 FalseGhaffar 17/07/2015RETENTION OF CONVERSION TO 

TWO FLATS

REAR WORKSHOP, 209 

CITY ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3DP

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/01042/MNR 01/05/2015  62 FalseMOGHAL 02/07/2015CONVERSION OF UPPER FLOORS 

TO 11 BED HOUSE IN MULTIPLE 

OCCUPATION WITH SECOND FLOOR 

FRONT AND REAR EXTENSIONS.

22 CITY ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3DL

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/01534/MNR 17/06/2015  42 TrueAshtari 29/07/2015RETENTION OF CONVERSION TO 

THREE FLATS

12 GLENROY STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3LB

Permission 

be granted

15/01535/MNR 17/06/2015  43 TrueAli 30/07/2015CONVERSION TO 2 FLATS 64 DIANA STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

4TW

Permission 

be granted

15/00717/MNR 25/03/2015  118 FalseAmin 21/07/2015CONVERSION FROM 3 TO 4 FLATS 

WITH REAR 2 STOREY EXTENSION.

46 BEDFORD STREET, 

ROATH

Permission 

be granted

15/01023/MNR 06/05/2015  65 FalsePMG(Cardiff)Ltd 10/07/2015REAR EXTENSION TO EXISTING 

STUDENT FLATS

183 & 185 RICHMOND 

ROAD, ROATH, CARDIFF, 

CF24 3BT

Permission 

be granted

P
age 114



15/01251/MNR 26/05/2015  41 TrueParish 06/07/2015VARIATION OF CONDITIONS 2 

(AMENDED PLANS), 3 (REFUSE 

STORE) AND 4 (CYCLE PARKING) OF 

PLANNING APPLICATION 07/02993/C 

FOR CONVERSION OF PROPERTY 

TO SIX SELF CONTAINED 

APARTMENTS INCLUDING 

CONSTRUCTION OF SIDE AND REAR 

THREE STOREY EXTENSIONS

4 CONNAUGHT ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3PT

Permission 

be granted

15/00255/MNR 03/02/2015  148 FalseC/O WHP 01/07/2015UPGRADE TO AN EXISTING 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

INSTALLATION AND ASSOCIATED 

WORKS.

HUTCHISON (CF0016), 

CONVERTED CHURCH, 

BANGOR STREET, ROATH

Permission 

be granted

15/01577/MNR 23/06/2015  38 TrueHole 31/07/2015RETROSPECTIVE "CHANGE OF USE" 

TO HOUSE IN MULTIPLE 

OCCUPATION

141 ALBANY ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3NT

Permission 

be granted

15/01282/MNR 15/06/2015  25 TrueCardiff University 10/07/2015INSTALLATION OF 'BRISE SOLEIL' 

(SOLAR SHADING), COMPRISING OF 

COLOURED HORIZONTAL 

ALUMINIUM FINS, TO THE 

SOUTHERN ELEVATION OF QUEEN'S 

BUILDINGS: NORTH.

CARDIFF UNIVERSITY, 

QUEENS BUILDING 

NORTH, THE PARADE, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3AA

Permission 

be granted

15/01260/MNR 26/05/2015  36 TruePMG(Cardiff)Ltd 01/07/2015CONVERSION OF EXISTING 2 NO. 

TWO & FOUR BEDROOM FLATS INTO 

5 NO. ONE & TWO BEDROOM FLATS

122 RICHMOND ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3BW

Permission 

be granted

PON

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00015/DCH 08/01/2015  189 FalseHudman 16/07/2015FIRST FLOOR EXTENSION ABOVE 

EXISTING GARAGE

25 CLOS CWM DU, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8LE

Permission 

be granted

P
age 115



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/02682/MJR 14/11/2014  257 FalseCardiff Council 29/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 2(i) 

[Arboricultural Method Statement], 2(ii) [ 

Tree Protection Plan], 3 [ Landscaping], 

8 [Permeability] , 9 [Surface Water],11 

[Car Park],14 [Construction 

Management], 20 [Site Enclosure], 21 

[Acoustic Fencing], 22 [External 

Finishes],33 Ecology Mitigation] of 

13/02489/DCO

PONTPRENNAU 

COMMUNITY CENTRE, 

HEOL PONTPRENNAU, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8LL

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

15/01442/MJR 11/06/2015  48 TrueCardiff Gate Pradera 

Ltd

29/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION10 

(LIGHTING SCHEME) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 14/02720/MJR

CARDIFF GATE RETAIL 

PARK, DERING ROAD, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8NL

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01792/MJR 20/07/2015  3 TruePersimmon Homes 

Wales Ltd

23/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT - 

REMOVAL OF CONDITIONS 40, 41 

AND 42 RELATING TO CODE FOR 

SUSTAINABLE HOMES

LAND EAST OF CHURCH 

ROAD AND NORTH AND 

SOUTH OF, BRIDGE 

ROAD, OLD ST MELLONS

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01264/MNR 26/05/2015  63 FalseKhurana 28/07/2015DETACHED DWELLING WITH 

ATTACHED GARAGE

PART OF LAND AT CEFN 

EURWG, DRUIDSTONE 

ROAD, OLD ST MELLONS, 

CARDIFF, CF3 6XD

Permission 

be granted

15/01372/MNR 17/06/2015  35 TrueUKPH No.1 Limited 22/07/2015INSTALLATION OF 4NO. A/C 

CONDENSING UNITS TO THE REAR 

ELEVATION

UKPH NO 1 LTD UNIT B 

GROUND FLOOR 

RHYMNEY HOUSE, 

CARDIFF GATE BUSINESS 

PARK, 1-2 COPSE WALK, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8RB

Permission 

be granted

P
age 116



PYCH

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01545/DCH 18/06/2015  42 TrueTucker 30/07/2015TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION TO 

INCLUDE SINGLE STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION

13 MAES-Y-SARN, 

PENTYRCH, CARDIFF, 

CF15 9QQ

Permission 

be granted

15/00240/DCH 23/02/2015  157 FalseCraidd Architects 30/07/2015Part Single/Two storey extension on 

North side of existing house, including 

parking area within lower garden.

TYDDYN, GARTH HILL, 

GWAELOD-Y-GARTH, 

CARDIFF, CF15 9HS

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01208/MNR 19/05/2015  52 TrueTAYLOR 10/07/2015CHANGE OF USE FROM GARAGE TO 

2 BED DWELLING

AMPLEFORTH, 10A 

PENUEL ROAD, 

PENTYRCH, CARDIFF, 

CF15 9QJ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

15/00482/MNR 13/03/2015  111 FalsePentyrch Bowling Club 02/07/2015TO REPLACE WORN AND 

DETERIORATING PORTACABINS AT 

PENTYRCH BOWLING CLUB WITH A 

SINGLE STOREY, PERMANENT AND 

TIMBER-FRAME CLUBHOUSE

PENTYRCH BOWLING 

CLUB, PARC Y DWRLYN 

FIELDS, PENUEL ROAD, 

PENTYRCH, CARDIFF, 

CF15 9QJ

Permission 

be granted

RADY

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00989/DCH 14/05/2015  55 TrueWheeler 08/07/2015SINGLE GARAGE AND PARKING AND 

ASSOCIATED WORKS

CHAPEL COTTAGE, 4 

CHAPEL ROAD, 

MORGANSTOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8LL

Permission 

be granted

15/00818/DCH 07/04/2015  101 FalseSimson 17/07/2015PROPOSED REAR BALCONY, 

BASEMENT ALTERATIONS AND 

ENCLOSED ACCESS STAIR

9 FFORDD LAS, RADYR, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8EP

Permission 

be granted

P
age 117



15/01173/DCH 19/05/2015  64 FalseWhittle 22/07/2015GROUND FLOOR REAR EXTENSION. 

ROOF EXTENSION WITH DORMERS 

(INCLUDING JULIET BALCONIES)

9 TYMYNYDD CLOSE, 

RADYR, CARDIFF, CF15 

8AS

Permission 

be granted

15/01302/DCH 02/06/2015  51 TrueHind 23/07/20152 STOREY SIDE EXTENSION, 

INCLUDING GARAGE CONVERSION 

TO HABITABLE ROOM

127 GOETRE FAWR, 

RADYR, CARDIFF, CF15 

8ET

Permission 

be granted

15/01256/DCH 26/05/2015  38 TrueHughes 03/07/2015EXTENSION FOR KITCHEN 13 SPRINGFIELD 

GARDENS, 

MORGANSTOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8LP

Permission 

be granted

15/01324/DCH 17/06/2015  35 TrueGeorge 22/07/2015DEMOLITION OF A SMALL 

OUTHOUSE/STORE AND THE 

ERECTION OF A TWO STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION

12 HEOL SYR LEWIS, 

MORGANSTOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8LE

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00291/MNR 06/02/2015  146 FalseFRANCESCO 02/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EXISTING HOUSE 

AND REBUILD 2NO SEMI DETACHED 

HOUSES

PENTWYN, 18 

DAN-Y-BRYN AVENUE, 

RADYR, CARDIFF, CF15 

8DD

Permission 

be granted

RHIW

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01129/DCH 12/05/2015  50 TrueSherlock 01/07/2015RETENTION OF DORMER LOFT 

EXTENSION AS BUILT

12 HEOL-Y-NANT, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6BS

Permission 

be granted

15/01050/DCH 08/05/2015  54 TrueRichards 01/07/2015LOFT CONVERSION WITH REAR 

DORMER

30 WENALLT ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6SD

Permission 

be granted

P
age 118



15/00954/DCH 22/04/2015  77 FalseThomas 08/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

TO PROVIDE FAMILY ROOM

34 HEOL TY'N Y COED, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6RB

Permission 

be granted

15/01014/DCH 06/05/2015  64 FalseHill 09/07/2015Side and rear extensions to property 6 HEOL-Y-COED, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6HP

Permission 

be granted

15/01122/DCH 19/05/2015  45 TrueBurns 03/07/2015SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO 

REAR OF PROPERTY

11 WENALLT ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6SA

Permission 

be granted

15/01240/DCH 28/05/2015  50 TrueRees 17/07/2015TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION, 

GROUND FLOOR REAR SINGLE 

STOREY EXTENSION AND FRONT 

PORCH.

29 HEOL-Y-COED, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6HQ

Permission 

be granted

15/01376/DCH 04/06/2015  42 TrueCampbell 16/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

TO EXTEND KITCHEN AREA

167 PEN-Y-DRE, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6EN

Permission 

be granted

15/01202/DCH 27/05/2015  49 TrueBaber 15/07/2015BACK LEAN TO EXTENSION 

LOFT/DORMER

4 HEOL ERWIN, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6QP

Permission 

be granted

15/01253/DCH 26/05/2015  38 TrueEvans 03/07/2015LOFT CONVERSION TO INCLUDE HIP 

TO GABLE EXTENSION, INCREASING 

THE HEIGHT OF THE RIDGE, NEW 

DORMER TO REAR ELEVATION AND 

NEW VELUX WINDOWS

40 WAUN-FAWR ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4SJ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01190/MNR 05/06/2015  41 TrueDeputy Head 16/07/2015PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY INFILL 

EXTENSION TO THE REAR

LLANISHEN FACH 

PRIMARY SCHOOL, HEOL 

UCHAF, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 6SS

Permission 

be granted

RIVE

P
age 119



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00880/DCH 26/05/2015  56 TrueHobday 21/07/2015REPLACEMENT WINDOWS TO 

FRONT

19 PITMAN STREET, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9DJ

Permission 

be granted

15/01065/DCH 27/05/2015  55 TrueJones-Hughes 21/07/2015DEMOLITION OF BAY AND REBUILD 

AND REPLACEMENT WINDOWS TO 

THE FRONT OF THE PROPERTY

15 HAMILTON STREET, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9BP

Permission 

be granted

15/01381/DCH 04/06/2015  49 TrueMcCABE 23/07/2015NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT ON 

PLANNING APPLICATION 

14/02939/DCH - 3 LARGE 

ROOFLIGHTS INSTEAD OF 6 

SMALLER ONES

15 BERTHWIN STREET, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9JH

Permission 

be granted

15/01002/DCH 29/04/2015  90 FalseWhitney-Shaw 28/07/2015PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION TO REAR AND SINGLE 

STOREY EXTENSION TO SIDE.

51 PLASTURTON AVENUE, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9HL

Permission 

be granted

15/01214/DCH 20/05/2015  69 FalseOwen 28/07/2015REPLACE FRONT ELEVATION 

WINDOWS ON A LIKE FOR LIKE 

BASIS EXCEPT DOUBLE GLAZED

19 TALBOT STREET, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9BW

Permission 

be granted

15/01223/DCH 22/05/2015  67 FalseLucas 28/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 11 PLASTURTON 

GARDENS, PONTCANNA, 

CARDIFF, CF11 9HG

Permission 

be granted

15/01458/DCH 12/06/2015  40 TrueLowe 22/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 33 RAWDEN PLACE, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6LF

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00627/MNR 15/04/2015  104 FalseSPURRIER 28/07/2015CONVERSION OF 2NO COACH 

HOUSES AT THE REAR OF 37 AND 41 

SEVERN ROAD INTO 2NO 2 BED 

MEWS COTTAGES

REAR OF 37-41 SEVERN 

ROAD, RIVERSIDE, 

CARDIFF, CF11 9DZ

Permission 

be granted

P
age 120



15/00412/MNR 26/02/2015  140 FalseKhan 16/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 

GARAGES AND REDEVELOPMENT 

WITH SIX SELF-CONTAINED FLATS

REAR OF 9-13, WELLS 

STREET, RIVERSIDE, CF11 

6DW.

Permission 

be granted

15/01270/MNR 26/05/2015  52 TrueKhan 17/07/2015CERTIFICATE OF LAWFUL USE AS 2 

FLATS

1 DE BURGH STREET, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6LB

Permission 

be granted

15/01143/MNR 19/05/2015  45 TrueGUY 03/07/2015CHANGE OF USE OF GROUND 

FLOOR FROM OFFICES TO A DENTAL 

PRACTICE.

124 CATHEDRAL ROAD, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9LQ

Permission 

be granted

15/01740/MNR 09/07/2015  20 TrueFox 29/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 6, 7, 8, 

10, 11 AND 12 OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 15/00568/MNR

20 CATHEDRAL ROAD, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9LJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

A/15/00112/MNR 15/06/2015  31 TrueAshville Asset 

Management Limited 

C/O Concept Sign and 

16/07/20152 NO. SET OF BUILT UP FLAT FACED 

POWDER COATED LETTERS WITH 

TROUGH LIGHT TOP AND BOTTOM, 

AND 1 NO. SET OF FLAT FACED 

POWDER COATED LETTERS WITH 

NO TROUGH ILLUMINATION.

SUTHERLAND HOUSE, 

5-19 COWBRIDGE ROAD 

EAST, RIVERSIDE, 

CARDIFF, CF11 9BB

Permission 

be granted

RUMN

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/01792/DCO 24/07/2014  363 FalseHarry 22/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 6 

(LEVELS), 7 (DRAINAGE) AND 10 

(SITE ENCLOSURE) OF 11/00908/DCO

LAND ADJACENT TO 684 

NEWPORT ROAD, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

4FF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01827/MJR 14/07/2015  10 TrueRobinson 24/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 

(EXTERNAL FINISHING MATERIALS) 

OF PLANNING APPLICATION 

13/02654/DCO

PART OF LAND AT 1 

CASWELL ROAD, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

3LB

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

P
age 121



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/00738/MNR 21/05/2015  43 TrueDEN 03/07/2015ERECTION OF PROPOSED 2 STOREY 

DETACHED DWELLING

PART OF LAND AT 24 

MANORBIER CRESCENT, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

3ND

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

SPLO

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01277/MJR 27/05/2015  42 TrueKelda Organic Energy 

Ltd

08/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLAN) 

OF PLANNING PERMISSION NO. 

15/00591/MJR (CONSTRUCTION OF A 

2 MW ANAEROBIC DIGESTION 

FACILITY, LANDSCAPING AND 

ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE).

CARDIFF WASTE WATER 

TREATMENT WORKS, 

TIDE FIELDS ROAD, EAST 

MOORS, CARDIFF, CF14 

2RX

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01225/MJR 21/05/2015  41 TrueGreenwich 

Communities Ltd

01/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 8 

(ACOUSTIC GLAZING) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 13/01313/DCI

LAND TO THE SOUTH 

SIDE, MOORLAND ROAD, 

SPLOTT

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01660/MJR 30/06/2015  16 TrueCity of Cardiff Council 16/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 14 

(GAS MONITORING), 15 

(CONTAMINATION ASSESSMENT) 

AND 16 (REMEDIATION SCHEME) OF 

PLANNING APPLICATION 

15/00344/MJR

SPLOTT SWIMMING 

POOL, MUIRTON ROAD, 

TREMORFA, CARDIFF, 

CF24 2SJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01455/MJR 12/06/2015  26 TrueCity of Cardiff Council 08/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 5, 8, 9 

AND 13 OF 15/00344/MJR

SPLOTT SWIMMING 

POOL, MUIRTON ROAD, 

TREMORFA, CARDIFF, 

CF24 2SJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 122



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01252/MNR 26/05/2015  48 TrueZCC Garage 13/07/2015CHANGE OF USE FROM SUI 

GENERIS/B1 TO B2 (MOT AND 

MOTOR REPAIRS WORKSHOP)

85 SEAWALL ROAD, 

TREMORFA, CARDIFF, 

CF24 5TH

Permission 

be granted

15/00792/MNR 09/04/2015  96 FalseTHE MALTINGS LTD 14/07/2015PROPOSED INTERNAL ALTERATIONS 

TO 4TH FLOOR HOUSES 1 AND 2 

AND NEW HARDWOOD WINDOWS 

TO 4TH FLOOR EAST ELEVATION 

HOUSE 2, 4TH FLOOR WEST 

ELEVATION HOUSE 1, 4TH FLOOR 

NORTH ELEVATIONS HOUSE 1 AND 

2.

THE MALTINGS, EAST 

TYNDALL STREET, 

SPLOTT, CARDIFF, CF24 

5EA

Permission 

be granted

15/00793/MNR 09/04/2015  96 FalseTHE MALTINGS LTD 14/07/2015PROPOSAL INTERNAL ALTERATIONS 

TO 4TH FLOOR HOUSES 1+2 

INCLUDING TOILETS AND NEW 

HARDWOOD WINDOWS TO 4TH 

FLOOR EAST ELEVATION HOUSE 2 ; 

4TH FLOOR WEST ELEVATION 

HOUSE 1 AND 4TH FLOOR NORTH 

ELEVATION HOUSES 1 AND 2

THE MALTINGS, EAST 

TYNDALL STREET, 

SPLOTT, CARDIFF, CF24 

5EA

Permission 

be granted

15/01205/MNR 21/05/2015  50 TrueUK Steel Enterprise Ltd 10/07/2015PROPOSED REFURBISHMENT OF 

FORGESIDE HOUSE, INCLUDING 

UPGRADING THE EXTERNAL 

ELEVATIONS, PEDESTRIAN AREAS 

AROUND THE BUILDING AND 

GENERAL INTERNAL 

IMPROVEMENTS

FORGESIDE HOUSE, 

CARDIFF BAY BUSINESS 

CENTRE, FORGESIDE 

CLOSE, SPLOTT, 

CARDIFF, CF24 5FA

Permission 

be granted

15/01603/MNR 26/06/2015  25 TruePREMIER INN HOTELS 

LIMITED

21/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3, 4, 5 

AND 6 OF 15/00542/MNR

PREMIER INN CARDIFF 

CITY SOUTH, KEEN ROAD, 

SPLOTT, CARDIFF, CF24 

5JT

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

TROW

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

P
age 123



15/01160/DCH 19/05/2015  45 TrueLANE 03/07/2015TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION TO 

FORM CLOAKS,CUPBOARD AND 

DINING AREA WITH BEDROOM AND 

EN-SUITE OVER, WITH REAR 

LEAN-TO EXTENSION TO FORM SUN 

LOUNGE.

61 SANDERLING DRIVE, 

ST MELLONS, CARDIFF, 

CF3 0DH

Permission 

be granted

15/01439/DCH 11/06/2015  41 TrueThomas 22/07/2015GARAGE CONVERSION 238 HERITAGE PARK, ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

0DU

Permission 

be granted

15/01571/DCH 15/07/2015  2 TrueTram 17/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT TO 

INCREASE THE DEPTH OF THE REAR 

EXTENSION FORM 2.0M TO 2.5M TO 

AVOID A LATERAL DRAIN 

(PREVIOUSLY APPROVED UNDER 

15/00402/DCH)

52 MATTHYSENS WAY, ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

0PS

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01038/MJR 27/04/2015  71 FalsePentan Partnership 07/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 3 

(DEMOLITION) OF 14/00689/DCO

TROWBRIDGE HEALTH 

CENTRE, ABERGELE 

ROAD, TROWBRIDGE, 

CARDIFF, CF3 1YH

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

A/15/00101/MNR 11/05/2015  53 TrueAldi Stores Limited 03/07/20151NO. COMPANY IDENTIFIER SIGN, 

1NO. ROADSIDE ESTATES SIGN AND 

2NO. DIRECTIONAL SIGNS.

PROPOSED ALDI 

WAREHOUSE, CAPITAL 

BUSINESS PARK, 

WENTLOOG AVENUE, 

WENTLOOG

Permission 

be granted

P
age 124



A/15/00102/MNR 13/05/2015  57 FalseGeopost UK Ltd 09/07/20152 NO. BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS 

AND 2 NO. TOTEM ENTRANCE 

SIGNS.

DPD, WENTLOOG 

CORPORATE PARK, 

WENTLOOG ROAD, 

WENTLOOG, CARDIFF, 

CF3 2ER

Permission 

be granted

15/01059/MNR 11/05/2015  58 FalseConnor 08/07/2015DEMOLITION OF TWO AND THREE 

STOREY BUILDINGS TRADITIONAL 

CONSTRUCTION AND MODULAR 

BUILDINGS

CARDIFF AND VALE 

COLLEGE, TROWBRIDGE 

ROAD, TROWBRIDGE, 

CARDIFF, CF3 1QJ

Prior 

Approval be 

granted

15/01385/MNR 05/06/2015  28 TrueBlooms Properties 

Limited Partnership

03/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 11 

(CONTAMINATION) OF PLANNING 

APPLICATION 14/1838/DCO

BLOOMS OF 

BRESSINGHAM, 

NEWPORT ROAD, ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

2WJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

15/01025/MNR 02/07/2015  1 TrueLEE 03/07/2015CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS TO 

ESTABLISH RESIDENTIAL DWELLING.

WEST END HOUSE, 

HENDRE LANE, 

TROWBRIDGE, CARDIFF,

Permission 

be granted

15/01267/MNR 29/05/2015  35 TrueHenley 03/07/2015ERECT A 2.4M HIGH GALVANISED 

PALISADE FENCE WITH AUTOMATED 

GATES

RENOLD CLUTCHES & 

COUPLINGS, NEWLANDS 

ROAD, WENTLOOG, 

CARDIFF, CF3 2EU

Permission 

be granted

15/01434/MNR 12/06/2015  27 TrueBlooms Properties 

Limited Partnership

09/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT TO 

ALLOW ALTERATION TO SCALE AND 

SITING OF WATER TANK AND PUMP 

HOUSE TO SERVE THE GARDEN 

CENTRE DEVELOPMENT AND 

REMOVAL OF RAINWATER 

HARVESTING TANK AS PREVIOUSLY 

APPROVED UNDER 14/01838/DCO

BLOOMS OF 

BRESSINGHAM, 

NEWPORT ROAD, ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

2WJ

Permission 

be granted

WHI

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01170/DCH 15/05/2015  56 TrueWhyte 10/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR/SIDE 

EXTENSION AND INTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS

1 THE AVENUE, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2EG

Permission 

be granted

P
age 125



15/01128/DCH 14/05/2015  61 FalseDavies 14/07/2015REAR TWO STOREY EXTENSION. 19 CAE LEWIS, 

TONGWYNLAIS, CARDIFF, 

CF15 7LQ

Permission 

be granted

15/01358/DCH 05/06/2015  41 TruePathmanathan 16/07/2015PROVISION OF A SINGLE STOREY 

ORANGERY EXTENSION TO A 

DOUBLE STOREY RESIDENTIAL 

PROPERTY

43 WINGFIELD ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1NJ

Permission 

be granted

15/01169/DCH 26/05/2015  56 TrueWilliams 21/07/2015NEW EXTENSION AT FIRST FLOOR 

ABOVE EXISTING SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION AND INTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS TO LAYOUT

5 ELMGROVE ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2BW

Permission 

be granted

15/00995/DCH 27/04/2015  72 FalseHughes 08/07/2015PROPOSED GARDEN ROOM 28 HEOL GABRIEL, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1JT

Permission 

be granted

15/00855/DCH 22/04/2015  77 FalseRandell 08/07/2015DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 

OUTBUILDINGS AND 

CONSTRUCTION OF TWO STOREY 

REAR EXTENSION WITH FIRST 

FLOOR BALCONY, AND 

REPLACEMENT PORCH TO FRONT. .

31 HEOL BOOKER, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2DF

Permission 

be granted

15/01086/DCH 20/05/2015  50 TrueWOOD 09/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR /SIDE 

EXTENSION

46 PARK AVENUE, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 7AN

Permission 

be granted

15/01012/DCH 28/04/2015  72 FalseBruce 09/07/2015TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

GROUNDFLOOR DAY ROOM & 

KITCHEN FIRST FLOOR BEDROOM

17 HEOL PENLAN, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2BY

Permission 

be granted

15/01199/DCH 21/05/2015  43 TrueLincoln 03/07/2015CONSTRUCT A SINGLE STOREY 

ORANGERY EXTENSION TO THE 

BACK OF A BUNGALOW

2 HEOL STRADLING, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1PU

Permission 

be granted

15/01424/DCH 10/06/2015  41 TrueWEEKLEY 21/07/2015SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 3 CLOS TY CLYD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2HP

Permission 

be granted

15/01809/DCH 17/07/2015  12 TrueJackson 29/07/2015NON MATERIAL AMENDMENT TO 

OMIT ONE PAIR OF EXTERNAL 

DOORS AND ADD ONE WINDOW AND 

ONE SINGLE EXTERNAL DOOR.  ON 

THE ROOF OMIT PATENT GLAZING 

AND ADD VELUX ROOFLIGHTS

26 FELIN FACH, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1NZ

Permission 

be granted

P
age 126



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01255/MJR 22/05/2015  60 FalseCardiff Council 21/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 6, 11, 

12 AND 26 OF 11/02203/DCO

RADYR WEIR, RADYR, 

CARDIFF

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

15/01517/MJR 16/06/2015  27 TrueCardiff Council 13/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 5, 13, 

14 AND 15 OF 11/02203/DCO

RADYR WEIR, RADYR, 

CARDIFF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

15/01368/MNR 05/06/2015  55 TrueGreene King Plc 30/07/2015FORM CHILDRENS PLAY AREA IN 

EXISTING CAR PARK. REPLACE 

AREAS OF HARD LANDSCAPING AND 

RELOCATE CYCLE RACKS

THE THREE ELMS, 

MERTHYR ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1JE

Permission 

be granted

15/01880/MNR 27/07/2015  4 TrueHyder 31/07/2015DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 OF 

15/00189/MNR

GARAGE/STORE, 51 

MERTHYR ROAD, 

TONGWYNLAIS, CARDIFF, 

CF15 7LG

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	5 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL APPLICATIONS
	14-1659DCI
	15-867MJR
	15-1303MJR
	Front Sheets for Area Schedule.pdf
	Wednesday 12th August 2015  at Committee Room 4, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff (meeting starts at 2.30.p.m.)

	Front Sheets for Main Schedule.pdf
	AREA   PAGES

	Late Representations

	6 APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY DELEGATED POWERS



